SHOUGANG FUSHAN RESOURCES

@ GROUP LIMITED
HHELEEEERRAT

Stock Code B3 X 5% : 639



LOCATIONS OF THE GROUP’S
COKING COAL MINES
REEEEERE

Xingwu Coal Mine

L 4R AT

Liulin County

MR 55

Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine -

& R R

Zhaiyadi Coal Mine .
REREER

CORPORATE PROFILE A FEFN

SHOUGANG FUSHAN RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED HHEBELERERBBRAR
is one of the most sizable integrated coking coal corporationsin s A A IS ERE T EAEEME Y — o
CENTRAL-WESTERN CHINA.

Taking Shanxi Province as its major investment base, it KIUFAEEAETEREEM -

is principally engaged in MINING OF COKING COAL, Igﬁég%\ﬁ%ﬁﬁ 5 ﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬁié&%’
PRODUCTION AND SALES OF RAW AND CLEAN COKING E%ﬁ g
=]

COAL.

The Group has three premium operating coking coal mines and A& B IR A = BRI A A B D IR K& = FES R
three coal preparation plants.
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MAIN OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE

THE MAIN OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE OF
THE GROUP AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 IS AS
FOLLOWS:

(SEHK:639)

R=

—EF+-A=+—H ' XK
HZEE%%%%WT:

OFFSHORE
a5k

HONG KONG
gE

PRC
il

Jade Green
Investments
Holding Ltd.

Thechoice
Finance Ltd.

100%

Worldman
Industrial Ltd.

Gumpert
Industries Ltd.

100%

Fushan Energy
Group Ltd.
BLEREE
BRAR

100%

True Plus
Ltd.

13.82%

Mount Gibson
Iron Ltd.

(ASX: MGX)

100%

Benefit Rich Ltd.
BHEHRAH

J

N

100%

Thechoice
Finance (HK) Ltd.
HE(EE)
ARAA

100%

Worldman
Industrial (HK) Ltd.
SRE(HEB)
BRDF

100%

Gumpert

Industries (HK) Ltd.

RER(FE)
BRAF

100%

Shougang
Resources
(Hong Kong)

Ltd.
HHERER)
BRAF

36.41%

1 7.65%\

APAC
Resources Ltd.

TAERARAA
(SEHK:1104)

Shanxi Liulin

("Xingwu Coal Mine")
(Coking Coal Mine and
Coal Preparation Plant)
1L 7 A0 K R A A R
EREEDA
( [EARIFIR] )
(AR AR )

Xingwu Coal Co., Ltd.

Shanxi Liulin
Jinjiazhuang Coal

("Jm]lazhuar;g Coal Mine")
(Coking Coal Mine and
Coal Preparation Plant)

WL FE MM SR

RERRDT

([ERFEHE])

(RS 4R

("Zhaiyadi Coal Mine")
(Coking Coal Mine and
Coal Preparation Plant)
AR EE
RERRAR
(SRR )
(AR AR )

67.]7%\

Jinshan Energy
Group Ltd.
(Coal Preparation Plant
and Trading of Coal Products)
W& L EEIR
ARAA
CREARE R
RERES)

65%

Liulin Luenshan
Coking Co., Ltd.*

ARG LA

ARAT

*  The unofficial English translation is for identification purpose only.



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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MBRE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

Percentage
(HK$'000) 2018 2019 2020 change
(F7%7T) — N\ C— N ZB-EF BHo#E{t
Revenue W & 3,686,176 3,869,308 3,996,951 +3%
Gross profit EH 1,900,542 1,988,743 1,869,207 -6%
Gross profit margin EVES 52% 51% 47%
Profit for the year FEH A 1,151,928 1,176,141 1,187,283 +1%
Profit attributable to owners of ArrEEANTHAEAD
the Company (“Owners") FEAE 5= 1,100,488 1,140,413 1,080,041 -5%
Adjusted EBITDA' & FEEBITDA! 2,028,196 2,220,589 2,186,348 2%
Basic earnings per Share BRA ARG EREF
(HK cents) (B 20.76 21.51 20.62 -4%
Dividend per Share (HK cents) AR A IR AR B GBI 16.8 17.2 16.5
~ Interim (HK cents) — R ERCGEL) 8.3 8.5 7.5
~ Final (Proposed) (HK cents) - REFGEZ) (B 8.5 8.7 9.0
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
Percentage
(HK$'000) 2018 2019 2020 change
(F&m) —N\F —hWF Z—ZT-EF HILE{
Total assets BERE 21,251,042 21,472,710 21,433,646 -
of which: Ero
Cash and cash equivalents and RERRSFBY R
time deposits with original JR1F R ER R 8 = A
maturity over three months B2 EHTF 4,307,335 4,761,884 4,062,115 -15%
Unpledged bills receivables AR R IR 1,109,222 950,696 1,048,729 +10%
Total liabilities BERE (4,475,236) (4,426,398) (4,142,576) -6%
of which: Hep
Total borrowings BEBR - - - -
Total equity = BE 16,775,806 17,046,312 17,291,070 +1%
of which: EEE :
Equity attributable to Owners B AEILER 15,384,116 15,681,580 15,837,166 +1%
Net assets per Share attributable to BN IEF AFRA A
Owners (HK$) Win & EFE BT 2.90 2.96 3.13 +6%
Current ratio (times)? LB B 2 ()2 2.58 2.61 2.77 +6%
Gearing ratio? BB G &3 - - = -

Notes:

1. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as profit before income tax plus finance 1. Z}‘% EBITDAZ% 75'5
costs, change in fair value of derivative financial instruments, share of NS
(loss)/profit of an associate, depreciation, amortisation and written off
of property, plant and equipment.

Z M
2. Current ratio is computed from total current assets divided by total 2. /ﬁ@JJ:I:}meibﬁFi@Eﬁ?mibﬁ%%@@%ﬂ'ﬁ 9

current liabilities.

3. Gearing ratio is computed from total borrowings divided by total equity.

3. AXafERERNEEAERESRERE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (continued) B SR E E)

PROFIT & LOSS SUMMARY BaRE
Revenue Gross profit
g EH
HK$'000 130/ HK$'000
FEx 2 B ¥6%
4,000,000 2,000,000
3,000,000 1,500,000
2,000,000 1,000,000
1,000,000 500,000
0 0
2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020
Profit for the year Profit attributable to Owners
FEAF WA AEERT
HK$'000 1+1% HK$'000

Al

Fisn Fisn 450
1,176,141 1,187,283 5%
1,151,928 176, 1,140,413
1,200,000 Q 1,200,000 —{1,100,488 080,001

e R
900,000 900,000
600,000 600,000
300,000 300,000
0

0
2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020
HEALTHY FINANCIAL POSITION R B AR R
Net assets Gearing ratio & current ratio
EERE BXARLFERRENLSE
HK$'000 %
Fign 440 Current ratio
20,000,000 0 3.0 FEE R 3
_----0
16,775,806|  |'/Y%e014 o~ .. & ____ - ==
s e .
15,000,000 2.58 261
2.0 2
10,000,000 15
1.0 1
5,000,000 Gearing ratio
0.5 BERE MR
0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
0 0.0 0

2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020
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OPERATING MINES

XINGWU COAL MINE

e 6 km south of Liulin County and the mining right area extended
over 11.6 sg. km and spans 4.5 km east to west and 4.5 km
north to south

e Operation commenced in 1968

e Annual approved raw coking coal production capacity: 1.75
million tonnes

e  Operate a coal preparation plant with annual designed input
processing capacity of 1.2 million tonnes (put into operation in

October 2002)

e Mainly production of hard coking coal

B IRR

L4 S R

AR EZ AR R - FERE R 5L
MN6FHAE  RFEMAE4ASAE - BibiAE
4518

o R—ARNFRIHEE

o REFRERLERT 1758

. EE—EE AR BI208HEZHER(K S
T2+ ARE)

o IEAEWMEK
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OPERATING MINES (continued) LEREE®

JINJIAZHUANG COAL MINE ERERE

14 km south of Liulin County and the mining right area
extended over 6.08 sg. km and spans 6.8 km east to west and
3.4 km north to south

Operation commenced in 1996
Suspended normal production since the second half of
2017 because of undergoing construction. Resumed normal

production in the second half of 2019

Annual approved raw coking coal production capacity: 1.75
million tonnes

Operate a coal preparation plant with annual designed input
processing capacity of 3.0 million tonnes (put into operation in

June 2009)

Mainly production of semi-hard coking coal

R IMBEARI4RE - REEREDL
6.08F A2 - RAMHE6SRE » FdbiAEE
3408

R RAAF R EE
A=t FTEFRETTREREE -
KB NFTEFREREE

ZOEFREREEER - 1758M

g —BE AR R3008 M 2 R (7 =
ZETNFENARE)

TEAEFEER
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OPERATING MINES (continued)

ZHAIYADI COAL MINE

e 16 km southwest of Liulin County and the mining right area
extended over 13.9 sq. km and spans 5.5 km east to west and
5.0 km north to south

e Operation commenced in 1988

e Annual approved raw coking coal production capacity: 1.75
million tonnes

e  Operate a coal preparation plant with annual designed input
processing capacity of 2.1 million tonnes (put into operation in

the 4th quarter of 2010)

e Mainly production of semi-hard coking coal

EEREE®

R ERKR

o WAMFRBATEICAR  REREEHRL
139FF AR - REMAES.SAE - MiiAE
50R8

o R—ANNFRREE

o REFREBAERSN 17580

o B —EAEA2108ME 2 HEBR M =
T -TDEFNEERE)

o IEAENEER
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OPERATING MINES (continued)

COAL CHARACTERISTICS

e  Located within the Lishi-Liulin mining area of Hedong coalfield,
one of China’s key reserve areas for high-quality hard coking
coal.

e Regarded as “panda coal” because of its scarcity and high
economic value.

e The Group’s coking coal is of particularly good quality due to
its high calorific value and caking index but low ash and sulfur
content, characteristics that are highly desirable for coke and
steel making.

Major Clean Coking Coal Average

LEREE®

KR4S E

R RAEAZBENER  ZEATEEE
BEKzIEFEREZ — -

HRERBUEMSEEEE  KE/IRERHE
B o
AEBzERERMESLEEER  NLERX

0 K Mﬁffﬁ E{Et FE2FEARR

Basic  Specification

Quality Characteristic TERBRETYEERH HE 28
Moisture (%) KD (%) Ad 0.3-0.4
Ash (%) R (%) D 9.0-9.5
Sulfur Total (%) BETE(%) D 0.5-2.0
Volatile Matter (%) 1BEYESE(%) Daf 18.5-21.0
Fixed Carbon (%) & 7% (%) Ad 66.0-72.0
Calorific Value (Kcal./kg) BRE(TR /TR Gr.v.d 7,400-7,540
Caking Index (G) isF =kt {(C) 70-88

Source: Internal laboratory testing results.

BT NEERERFAER -



—TOTFFR ERBLEREESRA2T 0 11
. BA ] =
OPERATING MINES (continued) =B 2 ETE @)
RESOURCES AND RESERVES/OUTPUT ERENGE EE
Operating Mines
EEDZIEE
Xingwu Jinjiazhuang  Zhaiyadi Total
ik SxRHE EER e
Resources and Reserves ERENHE
In-Place Resources as of HE-_TE+F+-_A=1+—H
31 December 2007 (Mt) ZFEMERE (AEME) 63.23 64.18 78.34 205.75
Recoverable Reserves as of HE-_ZZ+F+-A=1+—H
31 December 2007 (Mt) ZARFE(EEm)
~ Proven reserves -BEHE 11.11 20.78 13.32 45.21
- Probable reserves -FEAREE 35.23 23.02 38.89 97.14
Total proven and probable BHE_ZTTALF+T-_A=T—H
recoverable reserves as of BEENTERES
31 December 2007 (Mt) (B &) 46.34 43.80 52.21 142.35
Less: Total raw coking coal output ~ Jif : —EZENFE-ZT-FF
in 2008 to 2020 (Mt) ZRERBESE (B8 (22.36) (17.07) (28.38) (67.81)
In-Place Resources as of BE_Z-_ZF+-A=+-—
31 December 2020 (Mt) (NB) ZE#ERE (EEH) (E{) 40.87 47.11 49.96 137.94
Recoverable Reserves as of BE-_ZE-_EH5+-R=+—
31 December 2020 (Mt) (NB) ZAR#E(EEmW) (&3 23.98 26.73 23.83 74.54

NB: Resources and reserves have taken into account the coal reserves of the i : BRENMMEH —XBUFELMEBEAOSH

Operating Mines prepared by John T. Boyd Company, an independent T.ERAIRIBIORCHE M E R E2007F 12731
mining and geological consultant, as of 31 December 2007, in Hit&ZER 2 EREAFERAN2008F1A1BE
accordance with the JORC Code, after deduction of the total raw coking 2020F 12 AV HEMMREEBESEMETE -

coal output for the period from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2020.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present to the shareholders
the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 and to report to the shareholders on the financial performance
and operation of the Group for the year under review.

The unexpected COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 brought a catastrophic
hit to the whole world. Our life and work style were forced to
change. The global economy suffered heavy losses accordingly.
Fortunately, China took decisive measures when the pandemic just
began to spread and effectively contained the spreading of the virus
on a larger scale, and thereafter China’s economy quickly rebounded
from the bottom. The annual GDP grew was 2.3%, exceeded one
hundred trillion RMB for the first time, and became the only country
among all the major economies to achieve positive growth.

The annual growth rate of national investment in fixed assets
increased by 2.9%, of which investment in infrastructure construction
increased by 0.9% YoY. In the post-pandemic period, new fiscal
policies have been continuously rollout to ensure economic growth,
various major construction investment plans were launched in many
cities. Despite the lagging impact of floods in the middle of 2020,
both annual traditional and new infrastructure grew together. The
growth rate of national real estate investment increased by 7.0%
YoY and continued to be the leader in promoting economic growth.
However, as China started to focus on regulating the real estate
sector in the middle of 2020, the land market showed signs of
cooling down. In addition, following the domestic economic recovery,
the automobile industry has begun to show vitality, especially for
alternative fuel vehicles in which the production and sales volume hit
a historic high level.

Although the pandemic abroad has had a significantly negative
impact on China’s steel exports in 2020, The quick recovery in
China’s economy has led to the quick rebound in domestic steel
industry demand after a steep decline in February. The annual
production and sales volume rose again. The annual output of crude
steel has exceeded 1.05 billion tonnes, with a YoY increase of 5.2%;
the annual output of pig iron was almost 890 million tonnes, which
increased by 4.3% YoY. For coking coal supply, according to the
statistic from sxcoal.com, the effective domestic supply of clean
coking coal in 2020 was 485 million tonnes, with a YoY increase of
1%. Import of coking coal firstly rose and then fell in 2020 due to
geopolitics and the pandemic. The total import volume of coking coal
was 72.56 million tonnes, with a YoY decrease of 2.8%. The overall
supply growth was almost flat. The annual coking coal price showed
a trend of low to high in 2020, which was also closely related to
the development of pandemic, re-opening of overseas steel mills
in September, and reduction of seaborne coal imports in October,
although the overall coking coal market price for the year was still
about 15% lower than the previous year.

Annual Report 2020

TRBES

BHASAIRR

BERREZFERSUBRREZASEERE_ZF
“EFT A=+ -HULEFEZFR - YRR
BRERAEEELEFENZERANLZEE

“E-TFRMERNFEH AR BRI TE
IR T KEEERITE - APIRETE - TET AR
BERE - 2REEEXEA - TR EERISH
P S BRBRBRETHE i - MR A b EE
THREEADENERE  PREEELARTEAE
RE - 2FEANEERERERERE23% A&
RRBPABRTARE - KARKREREHEBEHE
—EREERHER -

2EEFTEEREEFIER2.9%  HRERRE
BRRFERLLIER0.9%  HREBH  BIERK
RIFENS  ZHEHERBREZRKES)
BEX T _ZTFPHREAENTEAMNFRL
BE2EEREARMAERARSER - 2EFiT
ERERERLIERT 0%  EEK RESHLE

BRNFESR  BEEER_—_T_FTFERHHRET
A D WISRERRBTARETR - b

REER N BERBER P TEEENFRER
B LHERFMERIENEHEBSIELHR -

BERNEIINEBEYE S - F P BSOS
REXEBETE  BEEFRERBRNIRE B
NIEITEFE - AFRBRERARRE  20E
HEVBE 7 #HNEFESDH10.5EM -
B IERS 2% £H2FESHTS.ENE - AL
HRA3% - EEHREFT  BRIEBEPBRERERE
ER o —E-TFRARNBER A REES4.85(
Wi AL R1%  SUWEBOAREBEE R
EEENSAGR - 2F R3O REKT,256
BWE - AL TH2.8%  AstHEEERII T
Fo —ZE-_TFEE2FHBRIZ2LMEBES I
HZEERES  NLABIMNARMHEBETIRE
+AFBREEEEDRS BEMRRE - B2FmE
BEEEENESAT —FRIEATEL15% o
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)

At the beginning of the Lunar New Year holiday in 2020, the
outbreak of COVID-19 forced all industries to suspend their work
and production. Under the national policy for resumption to work
and production, our Group’s three mines in Liulin were the first
batch local enterprises to pass the inspection and resumed normal
production under the premise of comprehensive anti-epidemic
measures and we adjusted our production plan in response to the
new situation. In this extraordinary year, all employees joined forces
to overcome the difficulties. The Group has pleasure to report to
shareholders: For the year under review, the output of raw coking
coal was 4.95 million tonnes, with a YoY increase of 12%; the
production and sales volume of the self-produced clean coking coal
was 3.16 million tonnes and 3.10 million tonnes respectively, both
increased by 15% YoY. In addition, the volume of coal purchased for
processing from outsiders was 0.16million tonnes. The average selling
price (VAT included) of clean coking coal was RMB1,218/tonne, with
a YoY decrease of 13% which was in line with the change of the
market price. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's
revenue was approximately HK$4 billion, increased by 3% YoY; the
gross profit margin reached 47%. The Group’s net profit for the
year was HK$1.187 billion, increased by 1% YoY in which the profit
attributable to shareholders was HK$1.08 billion, a slight decrease
of 5% YoY. Our Group has worked hard to reach production targets
and implemented several measures to improve product quality and
efficiency. We have overcame the negative impact of the pandemic
and the decline in coking coal market prices and achieved our
operation goals. It is believed that the current healthy financial
position and sufficient funding will provide strong support for our
operations and investments in the foreseeable future.

At the moment, COVID-19 vaccination has started around the world.
People’s life is expected to return to normal gradually. The pace
of the V-shaped recovery of the world economy is more certain.
Central Government Economic Panel has set 2021 macroeconomics:
continuity, stability and sustainability. We believe that the real estate
and infrastructure industries will continue to grow steadily. In 2021,
the demand for steel will continue to grow also, especially in the
first half of 2021, demand for coking coal will remain prosperous;
domestic restrictions on coal imports will continue in the short to
medium term. Under the circumstance that domestic supply will not
increase significantly, the price of coking coal is expected to stay at
the high level.

FEBREE @)

T _TENEHBREFR  HEBAEENE
PHRFESETEYEIFEE  EREBRREIE
EBRFERT  AEBEYMA=EE2EHITHE
B TE BB RKEE  RNEER
FERABLENS - EETFAN—F 288
TRLES - ARER AEEZNMRERE
UBRER: DEFERN  BREEEESA495
B R ER12% EFFEJ@F%E“ J
3168 ME 3108 M8 - R EFR15% © B -

IINEIE S 168 zlx%?a%éu%%%%@ﬂ?

HEE(SIEER)1,218TARE mﬁ ﬂttTl?%
13% @ EHBEREHRS BE_ZT_TF+
“A=t+—BHILEE- K%lnmﬁ%%)\,ﬁa’vm
BT RER3%  2EEMNERELTYS - &
ESFFE11.87EB T RALER1% HHRE

MR ERFFE10.8B8 T+ R % - LEE E

TENZENERRGIERERE  RRTEEM
ERMSERTRNAETZE  BERTRERELE

BiF - HEBAREFBMAMAREEES R
B RARREE T MR ERM BRI -

BN EREERI(FEERSEERZEME
APERBERTMEFRRE - 2 FEHEVEE
BAKEETK - FREETHFERTA_FT =
—FLRERE  REEENE RBREMN  UES
o RPEEFEMNEETERESFRER
—To-FHETEOEREPIRERES &
RBRBE_FT——F  LHEFFREGHE
BRSO RS TSR BASE - &
BARETERERERNBERT  SREREH
PESMOEME o
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)

Looking forward to 2021, the Group will continue to further increase
the annual production volume on the premise of safe production,
and increase revenue and reduce expenditure in response to
market changes. The Group also clearly sees that the rising global
requirements for environmental protection. China’s “Double Carbon”
goal has further promoted us to speed up the development of smart
and green mining. Of course, COVID-19 vaccination rate and inflation
induced by US excessive quantitative easing etc. may still bring lots
of uncertainties to the full recovery of the economy. We will monitor
closely and adjust the production and operation plan accordingly and
flexibly.

I would like to express my sincere thanks to the management team
and all the staff for their hard work and contributions. As a token
of our appreciation for the continued support and kindness of our
shareholders, the Board has proposed a final dividend of HK 9 cents
per Share. Once more, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude
again to our shareholders, management team, employees and
business partners for their support. We are looking forward to create
fruitful returns for shareholders, society and all employees!

FEBREE @)

RE-_FT-_—FF AKEEDHELRZEENA
RTE-—FSRAFEEE  HEMSELHR

fm EENEREBEIERHERANELAS
B - BIZORGRE &) BRI E — S RERM

AESZEMEERRNSEMR - A BA
SITEREERERE 2ERFHIREETERE
HO|EMBRFHEEL2EABRTRKES THE
o BT IRMEE - EFAREELE
AHE BIREE -

EnEEEREEEE TMNENEHMER
FORFDREH - TR S IR R B AR A0 S5
MEE EFSEBARYBEERAAMMNIE
il ABRROBEHMBEBRER - EEABR -~ &
BITMEBRME MEB/BR HeMmzgEs
THERERFEREMNDR |




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The key operational data of our three premium operating coking
coal mines in Liulin County, Shanxi Province (Xingwu Coal Mine,
Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine and Zhaiyadi Coal Mine, collectively referred
to as the “Three Mines”) for the year under review together with
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that of the same period of 2019 (the “Last Year”) is summarised as

follows:

For the year ended

AEBEURILBAENINFE=ZEEENETER
B (RERE  SHRHRBNEEERR  8F
[ZRDHEEDBESFEEREBE—_T-NFRH
(TEFEDNETEZEEEENT

31 December Change
BE+-HA=t+—-HLEE 21
Quantity/
Unit 2020 2019 Amount Percentage
#BE
B Z=ZBZBF —T-NF *H ERils4
Production volume: EE:
. Mt
£ o
Raw coking coal R N 4.95 4.41 +0.54 +12%
. Mt
==t o
Clean coking coal FEERE = 3.23 2.75 +0.48 +17%
Sales volume: HE:
. Mt
£ - -
Raw coking coal JREHE A 0.08 0.12 0.04 33%
. . Mt
Clean coking coal TR = 0 3.26 2.70 +0.56 +21%
Average realised selling price  F¥EHEE
(inclusive of VAT): (ZEEH) -
. RMB/tonne
RE " - -319
Raw coking coal R NV 597 864 267 31%
Clean coking coal mE A 1,218 1,396 -178 -13%

AR 1
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group produced
approximately 4.95 million tonnes ("Mt”) (2019: approximately
4.41 Mt) of raw coking coal, representing a year-on-year (“YoY")
increase of 12% and also produced approximately 3.23 Mt (2019:
approximately 2.75 Mt), representing a YoY increase of 17%, as
a result of increase in production volume of raw coking coal by
approximately 0.54 Mt, together with the reduction of sales volume
of raw coking coal by approximately 0.04 Mt, and the purchase
of clean coking coal of approximately 0.07 Mt for washing from
outsiders. As mentioned in the Annual Report 2019 and in the
Interim Report 2020, due to the outbreak of COVID-19, all domestic
mines must pass the inspection upon resumption of production
after the Lunar New Year holidays in February 2020 resulting in the
temporary suspension of production. The Three Mines have taken the
lead in passing the inspection and resumed production in the mid of
February 2020. Although the production volume of the Group was
negatively affected in the first quarter of 2020, the lower coal seam
of Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine had resumed normal production since
August 2019 and the management had rescheduled the production
plan of all mines at once. Eventually, our raw coal production volume
was increased by 12% YoY.

In line with the increase in production volume of clean coking
coal, together with the additional purchase of clean coking coal of
approximately 0.09 Mt from outsiders for sales, the sales volume of
clean coking coal also increased sharply by 21% YoY even though
sales volume of raw coking coal dropped significantly by 33% YoY
during the year under review. This is in line with the Group'’s business
strategy to concentrate on clean coking coal sales. Sales of clean and
raw coking coal accounted for 99% and 1% of the Group’s turnover
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2020. They accounted
for 97% and 3% respectively for the Last Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

As a result of slowing down of the economic growth in the Mainland
China and COVID-19, the overall market prices of coking coal
fell in 2020, of which, the average market prices of clean coking
coal dropped by 9% to 14% YoY in 2020. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group's average realised selling price (inclusive
of value added tax “VAT") of raw coking coal declined by 31% YoY
to Renminbi (“RMB”) 597/tonne when compared with that of the
Last Year (2019: RMB864/tonne) and the Group’s average realised
selling price (inclusive of VAT) of clean coking coal declined by 13%
YoY to RMB1,218/tonne when compared with that of the Last
Year (2019: RMB1,396/tonne), which was in line with the average
market prices trend. The drop in average realised selling price of
our raw coking coal was greater than that of market price because
of the reduction in selling proportion of hard raw coking coal with
higher selling price during the year under review. In terms of its sales
volume, all raw coking coal sales were semi-hard raw coking coal for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: sales of hard and semi-
hard raw coking coal accounted for 85% and 15% of the total raw
coking coal sales volume respectively). In addition, sales of No.1 and
No.2 clean coking coal accounted for 33% and 67% (2019: 37%
and 63%) of the total clean coking coal sales volume respectively for
the year ended 31 December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a
turnover of approximately Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") 3,997 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$128 million or 3% YoY
as compared with that of approximately HK$3,869 million for the
Last Year. The increase in turnover was mainly driven by the increase
in sales volume of clean coking coal by 21% YoY even though the
positive impact of which has almost overridden by the decrease in
average realised selling prices of clean coking coal by 13% YoY and
the drop in average exchange rate of RMB to HK$ by approximately
1% YoY for the year under review.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total turnover to the
top five customers accounted for 83% (2019: 74%) of the Group’s
turnover. Of which, the total turnover to the largest customer
accounted for 36% (2019: 31%) of the Group's turnover.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, gross profit margin was
47% while 51% for the Last Year. Gross profit was decreased by
approximately HK$120 million or 6% YoY. The drop in gross profit
was attributable to the decrease in average realised selling prices
of raw and clean coking coal by 31% and 13% YoY respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2020 as explained above even
though sales volume of self-produced clean coking coal was
increased by approximately 15% YoY and our unit production costs
were significantly reduced by approximately 11% when compared
to the Last Year as mentioned below. In addition, suffered from
the depreciation of average exchange rate of RMB to HK$ by
approximately 1% YoY as the profit mainly derived from the Group’s
coal business in China, which RMB is its functional currency, was
reduced.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a net
profit of approximately HK$1,187 million representing increase of
1% YoY and profit attributable to the owners of the Company (the
“Owners”) of approximately HK$1,080 million representing decrease
of 5% YoY. During the year under review, although the fall in
market prices of coal had material negative impact on the Group’s
profit, and also (i) the reduction in interest income by approximately
HK$41 million YoY as a result of the drop in market interest rates,
and (ii) a reduction in dividend income generated from financial
assets by approximately HK$8 million YoY, as a result of the effort
from the team of the Group, the production volume of raw and
clean coking coal of the Group increased by 12% YoY and 17%
YoY respectively and the unit production costs were significantly
reduced by approximately 11% YoY under the effective cost controls.
Eventually, together with the positive effect on appreciation of RMB
with net foreign exchange gain of approximately HK$131 million, the
Group recorded net profit of approximately HK$ 1,187 million, slightly
increased by 1% YoY, during the year under review.

During the year under review, the Group recorded net foreign
exchange gain of approximately HK$131 million. Net foreign
exchange was recorded from loss of approximately HK$17 million for
the Last Year to net foreign exchange gain of approximately HK$131
million for the year under review as a result of the appreciation in
RMB to HK$ exchange rate by approximately 4.55% as at reporting
date on 31 December 2020 when compared with that as at 31
December 2019 (2019: depreciation in RMB to HK$ exchange rate as
at 31 December 2019 by approximately 2.65% when compared with
that as at 31 December 2018).

In addition, during the year under review, the Group had recognised
additional depreciation of approximately HK$76 million arising
from the use of an accelerated depreciation method on the related
underground mining structures of the upper coal seam of Xingwu
Coal Mine according to the plan of transferring the production from
upper to lower coal seam in 2023. Last Year, the Group had a one-
off non-cash write off of property, plant and equipment mainly in
relation to the carrying amount of underground mining structures
of the upper coal seam of Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine upon its closure
amounted to approximately HK$129 million.

During the year under review, basic earnings per share was HK20.62
cents (2019: HK21.51 cents).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

The Group recorded adjusted EBITDA of approximately HK$2,186
million (2019: approximately HK$2,221 million) and generated
a positive cash flow of approximately HK$837 million (2019:
approximately HK$1,922 million) from our operating activities during
the year under review.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group continues to maintain a
healthy financial position and has free bank balances and cash
of approximately HK$4,062 million (As at 31 December 2019:
approximately HK$4,762 million). The decrease in free bank balances
and cash is mainly due to the bought-back of 250,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company which had used approximately HK$505
million and the increase in pledged bank deposits for bills facilities
by approximately HK$100 million during the year under review.
The Group earned the return on cash resources amounting to
approximately HK$89 million (2019: approximately HK$128 million)
during the year under review.

The Group has reviewed its exposure and risks related to COVID-19
but it would not material impact the financial performance for
the year under review and financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020. The Group believed that current healthy financial
position and strong cash position had sufficient headroom to service
its operating activities and investments in the foreseeable future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cost of Sales

During the year under review, cost of sales was approximately
HK$2,128 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$247
million or 13% YoY, as compared with that of approximately
HK$1,881 million for the Last Year. The increase in cost of sales was
mainly due to the increase in actual usage volume of raw coking coal
for sales and purchase of approximately 0.16 Mt of clean coking coal
from outsiders amounting to approximately HK$184 million, even
though those were partially offset by the decrease in unit production
costs of 11% YoY, and the depreciation in average exchange rate of
RMB to HK$ by approximately 1%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cost of Sales (continued)

The unit production costs are summarised as follows:
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For the year ended

Unit: RMB/tonne
B AR¥E WA

31 December Change
BE+=-ZA=+—BHLEE =X(4
2020 2019 Amount  Percentage
—E-EF  ZEhF -] Aok
Production cost of raw coking coal [RE & A4 ERK A 313 352 -39 1%
Less: Depreciation and B HTE R EE
amortisation (76) (74) +2 +3%
Cash production cost of raw REFREREENTR
coking coal 237 278 -41 -15%
Less: Uncontrollable costs — JB - AR -
resources tax and levies BRI E (48) (57) -9 -16%
Total CEl 189 221 -32 -14%
Processing cost for clean coking ~ fFBEKENTE
coal 47 53 -6 -11%
of which, depreciation Hp - e (8) (11) -3 -27%
Included in cost of sales, amortisation of mining rights was BE_Z-_TE+ - A=+—HItFE B

approximately HK$227 million for the year ended 31 December 2020,
representing an increase of approximately HK$32 million or 16%

Eiﬁ%ﬁkzﬁmE’J%E%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ.zﬂman LIS
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YoY, as compared with that of approximately HK$195 million for the  16%  MEIBEFE R - FHIBEH HEEMEZ 245

Last Year. The increase in amortisation of mining rights was mainly
due to the increase in actual usage volume of raw coking coal for

sales and the increase in the proportion of production volume of raw
coking coal from Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine, which incurred higher unit
amortisation cost than the other two mines during the year under

review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cost of Sales (continued)

Nevertheless, the Group faced the rising concern in cost pressure,
among other things, because of the implementation and the
strengthen of various environmental protection policies and safety
standards. The unit production cost of raw coking coal dropped by
11% when compared with that for the Last Year, resulting from (i)
the continuing improvement in cost efficiencies such as strengthening
supply management together with the benefiting from the drop
in material market prices which led the material costs reduced; (ii)
the decrease in labour cost by continuing optimisation of human
resources and benefiting from the reduction of social insurances
under the central government relief policies as a result of the
outbreak of COVID-19; (iii) the decrease in resources tax, which is
calculated on prices, due to the drop in coal market prices; and (iv)
the increase in raw coking coal production volume by 12% YoY.

In addition, the unit processing cost of clean coking coal also
significantly decreased by 11% YoY as a result of the effective cost
control and the increase in clean coking coal production volume by
17% YoY.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

As a result of the reasons above, gross profit was approximately
HK$1,869 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$120 million or 6% YoY as compared
with that of approximately HK$1,989 million for the Last Year. Gross
profit margin was 47% for the year under review and 51% for the
Last Year.

Interest Income

During the year under review, interest income was approximately
HK$96 million, representing a sharp reduction by approximately
HK$41 million or 30% YoY as compared with approximately HK$137
million for the Last Year. The significant decrease in interest income
was the result of the decrease in market interest rates as well as the
drop in average cash balances due to the use of fund for share buy-
back for the year under review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Net

During the year under review, other income and gains/(losses),
net were approximately HK$219 million, representing a significant
increase of approximately HK$119 million as compared with
approximately HK$100 million for the Last Year. Excluding the impact
of net foreign exchange gain of approximately HK$131 million (2019:
net foreign exchange loss of approximately HK$17 million) during
the year under review, other income and gains/(losses), net was
decreased by approximately HK$29 million or 25% YoY, was mainly
attributable to the decrease in income from sales of coal related by-
products by approximately HK$20 million or 36% YoY as a result
of the drop in market prices of coal; and the decrease in dividend
income amounting to approximately HK$8 million or 14% YoY
generated from financial assets during the year under review.

The increase in net foreign exchange gain by approximately HK$148
million is attributable to the turnaround of net foreign exchange
loss of approximately HK$17 million for the Last Year to gain of
approximately HK$131 million for the year under review. The increase
was mainly the result of the appreciation in RMB to HK$ exchange
rate by approximately 4.55% as at 31 December 2020 when
compared with that as at 31 December 2019 (2019: depreciation in
RMB to HK$ exchange rate as at 31 December 2019 by approximately
2.65% when compared with that as at 31 December 2018). The
Group has monetary current assets denominated in RMB, which RMB
is not the functional currencies of those group entities, amounting to
RMB2.2 billion.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

During the year under review, selling and distribution expenses
were approximately HK$317 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$67 million or 27% YoY as compared with that
of approximately HK$250 million for the Last Year. Selling and
distribution expenses mainly included logistic costs such as the
trucking fees for short distance and freight costs by sea and trucks
for sales of clean coking coal, of which are usually re-charged to
customers. The increase was in line with the increase in sales volume
of clean coking coal during the year under review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

General and Administrative Expenses

During the year under review, general and administrative expenses
(included additional expenses for the purchase of anti-epidemic
materials) were approximately HK$182 million, which remained
similar level to that of the Last Year.

Other Operating Expenses

During the year under review, other operating expenses were
approximately HK$64 million, representing a sharp decrease of
approximately HK$82 million or 56% YoY as compared with
approximately HK$146 million for the same period of 2019. The
significant decrease in other operating expenses is mainly due to
no such one-off non-cash write off of net carrying amount of the
related underground mining structures of the upper coal seam of
Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine amounted to approximately HK$129 million
as Last Year. For undergoing the trial production of the lower coal
seam of Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine, the wellhead of the upper coal seam
was closed down at the same time. Thus, net carrying amount of the
related underground mining structures of the upper coal seam was
written off in the Last Year. For the year under review, according
to the plan of transferring the production from upper to lower coal
seam of Xingwu Coal Mine in 2023, the additional depreciation
arising from the accelerated depreciation on the related underground
mining structures of the upper coal seam starting from 2020
amounted to approximately HK$76 million, which was partially offset
by the reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables amounted to
approximately HK$23 million.

Finance Costs

During the year under review, finance costs were approximately
HK$1 million (2019: approximately HK$5 million). During the year
under review, finance costs amounted to approximately HK$1 million
(2019: approximately HK$1 million) was the interest expense on lease
liabilities recognised under the adoption of HKFRS 16. The remaining
balance for the Last Year were derived from the early redemption of
bills receivables of the Group for the short-term financing. During the
year under review, no borrowing costs (2019: nil) were capitalised in
the construction in progress.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Income Tax Expense

During the year under review, income tax expense amounted to
approximately HK$425 million (2019: approximately HK$457 million).
Income tax expense mainly includes the enterprise income tax
calculated at a tax rate of 25% for the Group’s major PRC subsidiaries
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") (“major
PRC Subsidiaries”) and the provision of withholding tax of 5% on
the dividend to be declared from the major PRC Subsidiaries in
accordance with the relevant tax regulations in the PRC.

Owner’s Attributable Profit
By reasons of the foregoing, the profit attributable to the Owner
during the year under review was approximately HK$1,080 million,

a decrease of approximately HK$60 million or 5% YoY, while
approximately HK$ 1,140 million for the Last Year.

Material Investments and Acquisitions

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had no
material investments and acquisitions.

Material Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had no
material disposals.

Charges on Assets
As at 31 December 2020, save for disclosed below, none of the

Group's assets was charged or subject to any encumbrance.

As at 31 December 2020, bank deposits of approximately HK$290
million and bills receivables of approximately HK$218 million were
used for securing bills facilities. As at 31 December 2020, bills
facilities of approximately HK$349 million has been utilised.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, there were no guarantees given by the
Group.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no borrowings. The gearing
ratio of the Group was 0% (As at 31 December 2019: 0%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

As at 31 December 2020, other than assets and liabilities
denominated in RMB and Australian Dollars (“AUD"), the Group
had no material exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. As at
31 December 2020, RMB and AUD exchange rate were appreciated
by approximately 4.55% and approximately 9.37% respectively,
when compared to that as at 31 December 2019. As the net
assets value of PRC business operations denominated in RMB
represented approximately 74% of the Group’s net assets value
as at 31 December 2020, the appreciation in RMB also led to an
exchange gain of approximately HK$484 million (other than the
foreign exchange difference recognised in profit or loss stated above)
recognised in the other comprehensive income upon translation of
its net assets in the financial statements of coal business operations
in the PRC for the year ended 31 December 2020. Besides,
the aggregate carrying amount of assets denominated in AUD
represented approximately 5% of the Group’s net assets value as at
31 December 2020. Thus, such fluctuation in AUD exchange rate is
not expected to have any material impact on the financial position of
the Group. The above exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates did
not have any material impact on the financial position of the Group.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s current ratio (total current
assets divided by total current liabilities) was approximately 2.77 times
and the Group’s cash and bank deposits amounted to approximately
HK$4,352 million, of which approximately HK$290 million was
deposited to secure bills facilities of approximately HK$148 million.
The Group continued to maintain a healthy net cash balance.

The Group has total bills receivables amounting to approximately
HK$1,383 million (of which approximately HK$116 million
represented endorsed bills receivables and approximately HK$218
million was used for securing bills facilities of approximately HK$200
million) as at 31 December 2020. The free bills receivables were
readily convertible into cash, but would be subject to finance cost
upon conversion before the maturity. Taking into account for the free
bills receivables of approximately HK$1,049 million, the Group's free
cash resources would have approximately HK$5,111 million as at 31
December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Capital Structure

Total equity and borrowings are classified as capital of the Group.
As at 31 December 2020, the share capital of the Company was
approximately HK$15,157 million, represented approximately 5,052
million shares in number. During the year under review, the Company
had bought-back 250,000,000 Shares at the offer price of HK$2.00
per Share. The Group had no borrowings as at 31 December 2020.

On 20 July 2020, the Board announced that a conditional cash offer
to buy-back at HK$2.00 per Share for cancellation up to 250,000,000
Shares, representing approximately 4.72% of the total issued shares
of the Company immediately before the completion of the Offer (the
"Offer”). On 28 September 2020, 250,000,000 Shares bought-back
by the Company were cancelled and the Offer was completed. As a
result, immediately after the completion, the total number of issued
Shares was reduced by 250,000,000 Shares from 5,301,837,842
Shares to 5,051,837,842 Shares and remained the same number
till 31 December 2020. The fund of approximately HK$505 million
for the Offer was satisfied by internal resources of the Company.
The Board considered that the Offer is in the best interest of the
shareholders of the Company as it would: (a) provide an opportunity
for the qualifying shareholders either to sell their shares at a
premium to the prevailing market prices of the shares and receive
cash or to increase their proportionate interests in the Company by
retaining their holdings of the shares and participating in the future
prospects of the Company; and (b) have the effect of increasing the
consolidated net asset value per Share and earnings per Share, thus
benefiting all shareholders. For the year ended 31 December 2020,
the consolidated net assets attributable to shareholder per Share
and earnings per Share are HK$3.135 and HK$0.2062 respectively
representing 1.72% and 1.23% higher than these would be
HK$3.082 and HK$0.2037 as if without the Offer. Details of the
Offer are referred to the offer document of the Company dated 19
August 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 4,764 PRC and Hong Kong
employees. The remuneration packages of the employees are subject
to annual review. The Group provides mandatory and voluntary
provident fund schemes for its employees in Hong Kong and the
state-sponsored retirement plan for its employees in the PRC. The
Group also provides training to employees in the PRC. The Group
has a share option scheme. During the year under review, no share
option was granted or exercised. As at 31 December 2020, no share
option was outstanding.

SAFETY PRODUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION

The Group has always been paying great attention to production
safety and environmental protection while achieving stable coal
production. Thus, the Group makes great efforts in promoting
safety management and strengthening measures for environmental
protection, aiming to build itself into a safety-oriented and
environmentally-friendly enterprise. The Group has complied with the
relevant environmental protection rules and regulations. The Group
fulfilled our responsibilities of energy saving, emission reduction and
environmental protection by strictly managing production procedures,
eliminating discharge of waste water and waste gas and controlling
vegetation damage, etc. in material aspects. All coal mines of the
Group have obtained necessary permission and approval from the
relevant Chinese regulators.

During the year under review, because of the outbreak of COVID-19,
all domestic mines must pass the inspection upon resumption of
production after the 2020 Lunar New Year holidays. Three Mines
have taken the lead in passing the inspection and have resumed to
production in the mid of February 2020. Except for the suspension
of production temporarily, all coal mines of the Group operated
smoothly.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange. Our establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2020 and
up to the date of this report, we have complied with the relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal business activities are engaged in coking coal
mining, production and sales of coking coal products in the PRC.
As the Group's coking coal products are mainly used for refining of
coke which is the second largest raw materials for steel, our major
customers are steelmakers. The Group exposed to a variety of key
risks including financial risks (including market risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk), market price risk and operational risks. Details of the
aforesaid financial risks and risk mitigation measures are elaborated
in note 3 “Financial Risk Management” to the consolidated financial
statements.

The market price of coking coal is highly depended on the demand of
the downstream steel industry and the supply of coking coal. During
the year under review, coking coal prices have dropped in the first
three quarters and then rebound slowly in the fourth quarter. The
overall market prices of coking coal were dropped in 2020, of which,
the average market prices of clean coking coal dropped by 9% to
14% YoY in 2020. If coal price was dropping, the Group’s results
would be affected directly.

Operational risks include the estimation of remaining coal reserves,
the renewal of mining rights and the mining works. The lives of our
coal mines are highly depended on the estimated remaining coal
reserves and the possibility to renew the mining rights. Engineering
estimates of the Group's coal reserves involved subjective judgements
by engineers that the inherent inaccuracy of technical estimation
exists. If the past estimates change significantly, the lives of our coal
mines would be shorter. In addition, the remaining license period
of the mining rights held by the Group range from around 12 to 22
years which are shorter than the estimated useful lives of the coal
mine estimated by the Group. If the Group is unable to renew the
license of the mining rights from the relevant authority continuously,
the respective mine may need to be closed down. Nevertheless,
according to our past experiences and with our competent
management team, we have renewed our mining rights at minimal
charges in the past years. Mining works would become difficult and
the environmental standards would be increased, resulting in rise in
mining costs in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group’s success also depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers, suppliers and
shareholders. Employees are regarded as the most important and
valuable assets of the Group. Details of employees are disclosed
above under “Employees”.

Customers

The Group's principal customers are steel manufacturers. For the
year ended 31 December 2020, the total turnover to the top five
customers accounted for 83% (2019: 74%) of the Group's turnover,
of which, the total turnover to the largest customer, Shougang
Group, accounted for 36% (2019: 31%) of the Group’s turnover.
We have maintained a long and good co-operation relationship with
these top five customers. We possess our competent sales team to
establish various means to strengthen the communications between
the customers and the Group.

Suppliers

The Group's principal suppliers are material vendors and contractors.
The Group will continue to derive cost effectiveness by tendering,
negotiating, improving the purchase system and developing new
suppliers. In the meantime, various means have been established to
maintain the quality of material and construction.

Shareholders

Shougang Group is the largest customer of the Group. To maximise
shareholders’ interest is one of the corporate goals of the Group.
The Group will continue to enhance production management, cost
control and strive to increase our production capability, resources and
reserves through acquisitions to improve the Group’s profitability in
order to create better value for our shareholders.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

China’s gross domestic product (“GDP”) grew 2.3% in 2020.
Although the growth rate hit a record low since China’s reform and
opening-up in 1978, China was the first of many countries to show a
strong momentum of recovery when the pandemic still raging around
the world and was the only major economy to achieve positive
economic growth. China’s GDP growth surpassed the 1.9% growth
prediction by the International Monetary Fund (“IMF”). GDP also
topped the one hundred trillion RMB for the first time, second only to
the United States.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FUTURE PROSPECTS (continued)

Although China’s economy experienced a GDP contraction of 6.8%
in the first quarter of 2020 due to pandemic disturbances at home
and abroad, the pandemic was effectively controlled in a short
time by the government under the efficient national-wide control
measures. China’s economy quickly recovered to normal. At the same
time, the government accelerated the implementation of a series
of monetary and fiscal stimulus, enhanced “Domestic Economic
Circulation” to promote further recovery in economic activities. The
growth rate of infrastructure, fixed assets, and real estate investments
gradually returned to positive growth in 2020. The cumulative annual
growth rates achieved 0.9%, 2.9% and 7.0% YoY respectively.
Benefited from various stimulus policies, China’s crude steel, pig iron
and steel production volume in 2020 increased by 5.2%, 4.3% and
7.7% YoY respectively, of which crude steel production volume even
exceeded one billion tonnes for the first time. The Group’s coking
coal business not only benefited from the blooming of downstream
steel industry demand but also benefited from the import disruption
due to COVID-19 and geopolitical issues. Hence, domestic coking
coal price showed a trend of low to high in 2020 although the overall
average prices in 2020 declined YoY.

Looking forward to 2021, China’s economy will continue to grow
in the post-pandemic recovery phase and benefit from the first
year's policy benefits of the 14th Five-Year Plan. With the further
effectiveness of “Domestic Economic Circulation”, domestic
consumption and manufacturing will lead to an overall economic
rebound. IMF forecasts that China’s GDP growth rate will reach
8% in 2021. During the Central Economic Work Conference at the
end of 2020, the Chinese government emphasised the continuality
and sustainability of economic policies. It is expected that the fiscal
stimulus implemented in 2020 will continue in 2021 in order to
achieve economic growth and promote employment. The growth
of various investments will also continue to maintain resilience.
China also announced the goal of increasing the penetration rate of
alternative fuel vehicles in the domestic market to 20% by 2025. To
a certain extent, it will raise the steel demand from the automobile
sector. All of these macro-economic factors will contribute to the
steady growth of steel demand in China. On the coking coal supply
side, it is expected that coking coal production volume will remain
the same YoY. Meanwhile, coking coal import in 2020 dropped 2.6%
YoY due to COVID-19 and geopolitical issues. It is expected that
import restriction in 2021 will continue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FUTURE PROSPECTS (continued)

To sum up, being upstream of the steel industry, the coking
coal sector is expected to continue to benefit from the Chinese
government’'s economic stimulus and import restriction. The domestic
coking coal prices are expected to remain relatively stable at a
relatively high level in 2021 compared to 2020, especially in the first
half of the year. However, with multiple factors intertwine with the
current COVID-19 pandemic, such as the vaccine inoculation rate
and its effectiveness and inflation rate, etc., there are still many
uncertainties in the global economic development and investment
sentiment in the coming year. Moreover, in September 2020, the
Chinese government pledged to reach a carbon emission peak in
2030 and to achieve carbon neutral before 2060 at the United
Nation General Assembly. In 2021, China will relax its import of scrap
steel and encourage the development of short-process steelmaking.
The impact of these two policies on the future demand for coking
coal products remains to be seen. Therefore, we remain cautiously
optimistic about the future trend of coking coal prices.

Our Group has maintained good record in environmental
protection and occupational safety for many years. We have
made numerous efforts to achieve certain good results in land
reclamation, underground mine water management, and smart
mining transformation etc. As the essence of advanced production
capacity enterprise, we will continue to strengthen production
safety, environmental friendly mining and governance, introducing
cutting-edge mining and coal blending technologies, promoting
smart mining gradually to ensure smooth production, cost control
and enhance production efficiency. In addition, the Group has long
been promoting sustainable development in our operations and
we will actively respond to the plan of the Chinese government
in transforming to a green and low-carbon economy. With the
Group's stable operation and financial position as well as strong
cash flow, we will continue to monitor the development of the
pandemic and economy to adjust our operating strategy timely. The
Group will continue to maintain stringent corporate governance,
persist in implementing the new development concept and try our
best to realise them in our operations and leverage our competitive
advantages to create greater value for society, our shareholders and
employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG"”) Report is
designed to allow shareholders, investors (including potential
investors) and the public to have a more comprehensive and
profound understanding of the work done on environment, social
and governance area of the Group. This report elaborates the
philosophy and practice in respect of social responsibility and the
achievements of the Group it has made in economic, environment
and social aspects. The Group primarily adopts the principles and
basis of “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules as its standards, with
an aim to establish a sound environmental, social and governance
structure. The Board believes that a sound environmental, social
and governance structure is vital for continued sustainability and
development of the Group’s activities. The Group is willing to take
more responsibilities for the society but with a view to balancing the
shareholders’ interests and the society’s benefits.

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The Group's principal activities are engaged in coking coal mining,
production and sales of coking coal products in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). This report mainly covers the operations of the
Group’s major subsidiaries in Liulin County, Shanxi Province, which
are engaged in operation of three premium coking coal mines and
the associated coal preparation plants for the production of raw and
clean coking coal.

REPORTING PERIOD

Reporting period is from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.

SCOPE OF THE CONTENT

This report focuses on the major aspects in environmental and
social issues of the Group. For governance section, please refer to
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 59 to 90 of this annual
report.

REPORTING GUIDELINE

This report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” set out in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

REPORTING FREQUENCY

This report publishes on a yearly basis.

MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE

The Group firmly believes that an effective environmental, social and
governance system will help achieving sustainable development and
sharing value of sustainability in the economic, environmental and
social dimensions with its stakeholders.

The Group has integrated its objective of sustainable development
into daily operation, through by enhancing resource efficiency,
reducing pollutant emission and resources consumption and
strengthening safe production measures as its fundamental
operational policies.

Going beyond the pursuit of economic benefits, the Group
has also proactively participated in charitable activities to make
contribution to the society, devoting itself in promoting the local
economic development and building a harmonious relationship
with community. The Group reviews its environmental, social and
governance system on a regular basis to ensure effective undertaking
of its social responsibility.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND RIE - HER
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued) BERRE

O E (8)

MANAGEMENT ACTIONS EEBITE

In the preparation of this report, the Group has adopted four stages  fE2EfE AN R4 HifE » 2S5 [ 836 1Y (@ & B 8 3R
approach on environmental, social and governance system, namely 3% * & R ERRFEITHB MO - ;&
identification and analysis, assessment and sorting, verification and & « 3R FARFT R ELMEEE - @BBLA E178) -
review, rectification and retrospect. By means of which, the Group ~ANEBRHEET LR&FIHI5EESHE -

has identified 15 key issues in its social responsibility.

ESG key issues assessment
BB - HERERTERBENML
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o
J

P Charitable Activities
DEEE

Community Engagement
HEBE

Procurement Procedures
RBERF

Product and Service Quality
ERERBEE

Pollution Prevention and Control
BRIAE

Energy Efficiency
BEIR R
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|

s1ap|oyae1s ay3 03 Ayljeliaie|n

- =X
. A+

Resources Utilisation

. om

Operating Status

4 — Operational Risks
BB

Corporate Governance
AERE

Remuneration and Benefits
FEHERE R

Laws and Regulations Compliance
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1 Occupational Health and Safety
BERERZ2

Career Development
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The success of the Group is underpinned by close communication

—TOTFEFH ERABRLEREEBRAF 37

RE -2k
ERHE @

K ENSH

REB MR 2 A RN E

BEFNE ZENER

and cooperation with its stakeholders. BBAMHRAE -
Stakeholders = Communication channel Issues concerned The Group’s responses
FHE BEEE BXRE EEm@rE
Investors General meetings Operating status Maintain lawful operation
REH RERARE AR A RRgE
Announcements Operational risks Formulate risk management strategies
nNE S 1l 7 [ e R 2 5%
Roadshows Corporate governance Enhance the transparency
7974 NEIER RAFEAHE
General receptions
AR
Employees Labour union Remuneration and benefits Establish a fair remuneration and
benefit mechanism
BT I e R R FE ST N S B 4 N A
Performance assessment Occupational health and safety  Improve the working environment
system and meetings
BUERRIENEZE BEREEZS W& TIERER
Career development Provide on-job training
FRER REEBEIKS
Government Government working Laws and regulation compliance Ensure lawful operation
conferences
B B TEE & HOESTH BRPERE
Information reporting Contribution to the society Paying taxes timely and lawfully
BT R HEERE R HOE AT
Maintain good relationship with local
community
MR AT = B R
Customers Product reporting Product quality Quality inspection before delivery
LSS EmlE EmmE o R ARl

Regular visits

EHERD

Service quality

R mE

Provide customised products and
services
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (continued)

Stakeholders Communication channel Issues concerned

R -HER
ERHE @

O ENSEE)

The Group’s responses

BHE BBEEE BErEE £EEE
Suppliers Annual tender announcement  Open, fair and justice procedures Ensure tender process open and
transparent
HrEm FERBERSE NFE - R RERRER BRERIZERENERE
Specific project announcement Sharing technological outcomes  Prioritise in introducing technology
of costs control and efficiency
enhancement
HEBEARNE BT R A 1R85 N[ ARG i
Conference of special
technological topics
HERME®
Community Town/village visits Environmental protection Implement the environmental
organisation protection policy
R AR T EEERED RERE MITRRBK
Community engagement Charity activities Promote the charity works
HERIES NGV MBI REmEE
Prioritise the employment Provide employment opportunities
S R EKS
THE ECONOMICAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF EEBHWKBEE

THE GROUP

The Group's principal business activities comprise coking coal mining,
production and sales of coking coal products in the PRC. Through
the Group’s major subsidiaries in Liulin County, Shanxi Province, it
operates three premium coking coal mines and their associated coal
preparation plants for the production of raw and clean coking coal.

During the reporting period, the production volume of raw and clean
coking coal of the Group were approximately 4.95 million tonnes and
approximately 3.23 million tonnes respectively, and the sales volume
of raw and clean coking coal were approximately 0.08 million tonnes
and approximately 3.26 million tonnes respectively. Turnover of the
Group was approximately HK$3,997 million.

The Group shared its economic benefits to stakeholders during the
reporting period, of which, 2019 final dividend and 2020 interim
dividend distributed to shareholders total amounting to approximately
HK$840 million, staff costs (including employee benefit expenses)
amounting to approximately HK$673 million and income tax paid of
approximately HK$561 million to the government.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

PRODUCT LIABILITY

The Group has been committed to maintaining sustainable supply,
stable quality and privacy of customers.

Through setting up safety and quality standards, the Group has
developed and formulated a comprehensive set of system and
method for safety and quality management. Its premium coking coal
mines under continuous production having been awarded “First
Class Certificate for Safety and Quality Standardisation” or “Second
Class Certificate for Safety and Quality Standardisation”. These
certifications enable production safety in the coal mines and keep
safety in a stable and improving level.

Quality of coking coal is the key to the Group's stable development
and also a warranty to the Group’s good reputation. The Group
has a quality and technology centre in place to strengthen
management of coal quality and coal preparation. By strengthening
the examination and management of coal quality and timely
transmission of information about product standards, the Group
uses such information to guide production, and also provide reliable
decision-making basis for sales of products. The “Measures of Coal
Products Quality Examination” has been continuously optimised by
the Group, in which both national and industrial standards have
been incorporated, and under the management of the coal quality
management department.

The “Administrative Measures for Confidentiality of Sales
Transactions” has been set up to prohibit release of sales related
information such as documents, contracts, and statistics by the
relevant staff. During the reporting period, the Group had neither
experienced any product recall due to safety and health issue, nor
received any material complaint regarding our products and services.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Reasonable procurement price, stable and timely supply, high quality
products and services and willingness to bear social responsibility are
the basic criterions for the Group to select qualified suppliers. The
" Administrative Measures for Procurement Management” has been
formulated by the Group so as to apply the same set of standards
when introducing new suppliers and conducting regular inspection
and review on the existing suppliers. Supplier who does not meet the
standards shall lose its eligibility to become a qualified supplier.

To ensure transparency of the Group’s procurement activities and
to enhance a corporate image of fair, open and justice, the Group’s
procurements are mainly carried out through tender which is under
the supervision of the Tender Committee.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group has placed high emphasis on professional conduct and
integrity of the employees. The “Staff Code of Conduct” and all
administrative rules have expressly specified the values, visions and
guidelines for maintaining honesty and corresponding operation
guidelines. The Group has specially laid down the “Administrative
Measures in respect of Prevention of Occupational Crimes” to
advocate anti-corruption and honesty, strengthen scrutiny of and
restrictions on authority, build up anti-corruption system and
capitalise on the effect of disciplinary restraints.

During the reporting period, the Group’s all department managers or
above had signed “Leading official being incorrupt when discharging
duties undertaking agreement”.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Production safety is the first priority of the Group. Through
establishing and operating a production safety entity, the Group has
regulated the production safety management system, and optimised
the systems with respect to production safety management,
technology management and assessment and evaluation. In line
with the belief of “Safety is the Best Blessing for Employees and
the Greatest Efficiency for the Enterprise”, the Group enhanced
the production safety standards. By strengthening the special
rectification of safety supervision, gas, flooding prevention, electrical
and mechanical transportation, roof management and reinforcing,
safety training and skills competition for all staff, the Group has
standardised and systematised the production safety management
which laid a solid foundation for production safety.

In accordance with the “Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China” and the “Safety Regulations in Coal Mine”, the
Group has firmly performed its responsibility to maintain safety in the
coal mines by strictly executing operational rules of safety and the
relevant systems and regulations, tracking inspections, conducting
stringent evaluation and implementing strict but fair reward and
punishment scheme. As a result, a standardised, normalised and
dynamic management model is formed. In accordance with the
independent safety management model of “Self-discipline at Position,
Safety production at Team, Self-governance at Regional Unit”, the
Group has strengthened regional unit and team formation, thus the
safety foundation is being implemented.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

HEALTH AND SAFETY (continued)

Pursuant to the rules in respect of prevention of occupational diseases
under the “Safety Regulations in Coal Mine”, the Group has set up a
function especially responsible for the prevention and management
of occupational disease in coal mines. With appropriate facilities and
measures, the employees have been well protected from occupational
diseases. The prevention and control of occupational diseases have
been safeguarded by mass surveillance.

During the reporting period, its coking coal mines under continuous
production having been awarded “First Class Certificate for Safety
and Quality Standardisation” or “Second Class Certificate for Safety
and Quality Standardisation” by the State Administration of Coal
Mine Safety.

During the reporting period, the Group had no work-related fatalities.

In response to the outbreak of the COVID-19, the Group established
a leading group for prevention and control work to take charge
of epidemic prevention and fully implemented the government’s
requirements. Checkpoint management was set up in the mining area
and office building before and after the Lunar New Year holidays.
The Group also regularly carried out ventilation, cleaning, disinfection
work, staff dining rotation and other measures. Employees were
required to submit report of movement records and conduct physical
examinations before resuming work.

In order to prevent imported cases and containing the spread of
the epidemic domestically, the Group continued to implement
the government'’s guidance on prevention and control to ensure
employees’ occupational health and stable production.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

THE ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY OF THE
GROUP

Environment protection is an important issue in the Group's
operation policies. The “Administrative Measures for Environmental
Protection Work” has been established by the Group to define the
responsibilities of departments and employees in all levels in respect
of coal mine resources, pollutants and use of resources and to serve
as guidelines for planning, prevention, governance and statistical
analysis of environmental protection activities. Reference is made
to the "Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China” ((F#E AR EMBEIIRBRE L)), the “Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China” ({/
2= ARKEMBAES5EBRK)), the “Water Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China” ((FPEE AR
MEIKS5FEA7%)), the “Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Environment Pollution Caused by
Solid Wastes” ({FR 2 A R AN [E 8B RE Y5 L IRFHIAE)), the
“Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China” ({#F
EARKMBELELFEE)) and the “Circular Economy Promotion
Law of the People’s Republic of China” ((fF#E AR £ R E R
E{R#EA)) when formulating the “Administrative Measures for the
Environmental Protection Work”. Meanwhile, online monitoring
systems have been installed over the emission ports as required by
the environmental protection department of the PRC for real-time
supervision of the execution of environmental protection policies by
the Group.

During the reporting period, there was no material breach of any
national environmental laws and regulations by the Group.

COAL MINE RESOURCES

By optimising the manpower arrangement, the Group has enhanced
mining efficiency and optimised coal mining and preparation, striving
to raise the mining recovery rate and washing yield of resources.
The Group has continued to achieve non-stop production in Xingwu
Coal Mine, Zhaiyadi Coal Mine and Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine upon
changing working face, which assured the accomplishment of annual
production volume. During the reporting period, a work face of
Zhaiyadi Coal Mine implemented remote automated mining. The
gradual application of which will achieve the long-term objective of
achieving efficiency through headcount reduction and improving the
safe working environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND i%{ﬁ CHER
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued) ERmE @

POLLUTANTS BT

In the operation of business, a range of pollutants are inevitably —AEBERFHE £ - T o] # 0 E 4+ T REL
generated by the Group. As a responsible corporation, the Group HIBESH - fEA—RBETHNLE  AEBERB
strives to mitigate the environment pollution from its operation to ~ FRSHRIE - RARERELE FHIRENS
the greatest extent through the implementation of pollution controls. % - R - AEEBRIBEERER - #1ES1EHE
At the same time, the Group has formulated emission and discharge M EIZRITBI T -

targets and action plans according to the actual circumstances.

1. Atmospheric Pollution Control and Carbon 1. KRISERBEARBRIEBRKRE I
Emission Reduction
In the past, the Group’s atmospheric pollutants are mainly AEEBTMARSEMEERERBFHRA
generated from its boiler system. During the reporting period, EENMERS - XAEBEREAGZEHA - B
the Group has completely replaced the boiler system through AR AT AR R ZE R R RE R
gas oxidation heat supply technique and air heat pump heat fiy - 2EEIRHIE RS

supply technique.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

POLLUTANTS (continued)

1.

Atmospheric Pollution Control and Carbon
Emission Reduction (continued)

The success of the gas oxidation cogeneration project
conducted in Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine and the gas oxidation heat
supply project conducted in Xingwu Coal Mine facilitated the
cooperation of Zhaiyadi Coal Mine with a qualified corporation.
During the reporting period, the gas oxidation power generation
device project in Zhaiyadi Coal Mine was developing to
achieve”Green Mining” and “Zero"” gas emission in Zhaiyadi
Coal Mine. All of the Group’s mines in operation can fully make
use of the gas emitted during mine operations to reduce carbon
emission.

During the reporting period, the Group continued to utilise the
heat supply technique of air heat pump to effectively reduce
emission of air pollutants.

Total emission of sulphur dioxide (kg)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

POLLUTANTS (continued)

2.

Water Pollution Control

The water pollution is caused by mine water and domestic
sewage. The Group has established mine water and domestic
sewage treatment systems and professional third parties are
engaged to enhance discharged water quality and ensure
discharged water fully fulfills discharge requirements. At the
same time, after upgrading and reconstruction of the sewage
treatment system, part of the treated sewage is being reused
in the course of production. During the reporting period,
the Group completed the construction of a new mine water
treatment facility in Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine. The system has
completed pilot run and is under normal operation, thus
enhancing Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine's mine water treatment
capability.
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Solid Waste Control

The Group's solid waste is mainly the mine tailings generated
from underground mining. The solid waste which cannot be
reused is stored at the designated site for pile up of the mine
tailings. Professional third-parties are engaged to carry out
land reclamation and greening work when appropriate so as
to improve the ecological environment. During the reporting
period, the Group built a new mine tailings site for Xingwu Coal
Mine to satisfy the need for pile up of the mine tailings.
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USE OF RESOURCES

The Group mainly uses power resources and water resources during
the course of business in order to achieve its operational objectives.

BREH

AEERARERE  T2ERAENERNKE
REDNEERR - FRA—RARENDEE A%

As a responsible enterprise, the Group optimises the use of resources BB ESERE  ZTAREELERNE
through energy saving and consumption minimisation. A e
1. Power Resources 1. EHER
The Group has enhanced the power consumption of equipment AEBBBRELH  AEFAMR @ ESE
through better organisation and arrangement, reasonable RENEE REFME - BLTRENRE
deployment, strengthening the repair, maintenance and BiER - AR BAARKEILEEERR
modification of the electrical and mechanical equipment. At the HRRENER - BUBH TEAEXEREAR -
same time, the consumption of electricity resources is further AEZHRMIERE  HEMERASHRHA
reduced by adjusting the sequence of operating procedures & E—HRREENERIER °
of transportation equipment at the mining site, removing the
lighting of the unmanned underground area and reasonably
shifting electricity use to off-peak hours and preventing the
lighting of the ground office from constantly powered on.
2. Water Resources 2. XKER

The Group carries out mine water and domestic sewage
treatment through the mine water and domestic sewage
treatment stations and reuses the treated waste water to
remove soot in underground mines, clean the equipment and
perform environment greening work as well as other purposes.

7 5% 8] 378 38 B /K Ba TR U A0 AR 05 K B B
uh o R KM AR5 AGETT R I I AR A
R ERIFTRE  BARE  RILRRE
R e

Fresh water consumption (ten thousand tonnes)
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USE OF RESOURCES (continued) BERFEA &)
Environmental responsibility performance
REBETEN
Index Unit 2020 2019
EEER By —ECEF —E-NEF
Air pollutants emission
RRFFHEH
Total emission of sulphur dioxide (kg) - 2,257
—E emE B E (F5)
Emission intensity of sulphur dioxide (mg/m?3) - 24
TR bR E (BT, ST HK)
Total emission of soot (kg) - 12,401
BEMRS (F5)
Emission intensity of soot (mg/m3) - 10
B EE (B3 MFK)
Total emission of gas (ten thousand m?3) 4,547 3,482
R E (B FXK)
Water pollution discharge
KI5 FBERK
Mine water discharge (ten thousand tonnes) 232 176
BHKEEE (EEMmE)
Emission intensity of chemical oxygen demand (ma/L) 12 12
tERaEHNEE (7= )
Solid waste discharge
[E] 88 BE W HE Ik
Volume of mine tailing removal (ten thousand tonnes) 174 140
PRt =2 (E3M8)
Resources consumption
BRERE
Recovery rate of coal mining area (%) 87% 87%
R R [ B ER 2R (%)
Comprehensive energy consumption against raw coking (kg standard coal/tonne)

coal production 5 4
REEEEFRE LR (FRIZEE 1E)
Electricity consumption (ten thousand kwh) 21,416 21,129
ENBEERE (BT EK)
Fresh water consumption (ten thousand tonnes) 51 54
FEKOBEREE (Bmg8)
Utilisation of pollution emissions
ek 3: 38 bl
Utilisation rate of gas (%) 43% 53%
FLHf ) AR =& (%)
Utilisation rate of mine water (%) 28% 40%
M H 7K FI A & (%)
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EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE GROUP

The Group attaches great emphasis on the people-oriented principle
in respect of employee responsibility and is determined to protect the
legal rights and interests of employees. The Group also cares about
the physical and mental health of employees and proactively supports
talent’s growth so as to facilitate the long-term development of
employees and enterprises.

20 20 Eﬁ ﬁ;é”ﬁ;’

EL 1T ] REEsnn

)

1. Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group has been strictly complied with the relevant
employment laws and regulations in Mainland China, including
the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” ({# % A
RHAFMBEILB)%)), the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China” ((FZEARKMBLEHE R L)), the
“Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China” ({1
= ARAMBELEREE)) and other applicable local laws
and regulations. Our human resources department has also
conducted constant reviews and revisions on internal policies
and regulations to ensure that the Group complies with the
latest laws and regulations promulgated or amendments thereto
at all time. The Group also assimilates into the corporate culture
of the enterprises located nearby and the social environment in
the country and implements an equal, fair and open candidate
screening system in order to prohibit any discrimination and
illegal employment situation.
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EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE GROUP
(continued)

2.

Remuneration Package

The Group makes general assessment on the remuneration
of the staff with reference to their roles and responsibilities,
performance, skills, working experience, working environment
and manpower market indicator, and provides appropriate
incentive to the high calibre talents and staff at key positions
which requires heavy responsibilities and high-level techniques.
The Group establishes a monthly skill-based salary incentive
system to award salary incentive to the staff who possesses
special skills and bears significant safety responsibility with
reference to their skills and safety management performance.
Different kinds of bonus rewards are also in place based on
different positions and job nature, including bonuses for exceed-
target production, production safety, energy saving and target
achievement, etc. The human resources department conducts
regular review on the remuneration and benefit policies, in
order to ensure that the remuneration level stays competitive
and attractive to retain talents. We maintain a complete and
effective performance assessment system which involves a
monthly assessment and an annual general assessment, and
distribution of performance-linked wages and annual bonuses
based on the Group's operating results and the assessment
result.

With respect to welfare, staff is entitled to pension insurance,
medical cover, unemployment insurance, work-related injury
insurance, maternity insurance and housing provident fund
(collectively 5 Insurances and 1 Pension”) as well as paid
leaves. Pregnant staff is entitled to maternity leave according to
the national regulation; staff at legal marriage age is entitled to
marriage leave and staff who encounters bereavement is entitled
to compassionate leave.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
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EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE GROUP
(continued)

3. Equal Opportunities and Anti-discrimination

Being an equal opportunities employer, the Group is committed
to creating a working environment with fairness, openness
and mutual trust. Adhering to a fair and justifiable attitude
toward all aspects from policies of candidate screening and
employment to staff recruitment, selection, training, promotion,
re-designation, termination or retirement, the Group opposes
to any consideration which involves discrimination not related
to work and prohibits all forms of workplace discrimination.
There is no child labour and forced labour, while employees of
the same position are remunerated on equal basis regardless
of their gender, thus the rights of female employees are well-
protected. Specific industrial regulations are stringently executed
that females will never engage in underground mine works.

4. Number of Employees

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 4,744
employees in the Mainland China.

Employee distribution by age in December 2020:

RE  HEK

B

ERHE @

rEENETIEHE@E

FERERRIKR

ERFERERE  RABHAERF - 2
MRBEEMTHERE HEA  BARR
b RRETHE  ER - FI - B H
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MERASETERRERIRITFIEZE - K&
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IR ERBEH T -

BEAH

BE-_ZT-ZETHE+-_A=+—0  K£EX
NEEB AE AL, 744N -

TR+ AEEFRYMH

Number of
Age group employees
FRED EBE A"
Aged 18-28 473
18-28fE %%
Aged 29-40 1,868
29-40/E 5%
Aged 41-49 1,194
41-49/F 5%
Aged 50-55 940
50-55&E5%
Aged 55 above 269
55/E 5 A =
Total 4,744

At
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EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE GROUP AEENEISEGE)

(continued)

4. Number of Employees (continued) 4,

Employee distribution by gender in December 2020:

EBEAB (R

—ToTFE+_AREMRNSM

Total
Underground Other number of
Gender positions positions employees
4 5l H TN Hemu BAH
Male 2,725 1,398 4,123
Es
Female - 621 621
z
Total 2,725 2,019 4,744
B
5. Trainings and Development Training 5. FIIRBEREI

The Group aims at forming a learning enterprise and
encourages the staff to enhance operational capability and
quality as well as grow with the Group so as to ensure the
sustainable development of the enterprise. The human resources
department is responsible for the trainings in management
level, the safety supervision unit is responsible for the trainings
for special skills while the training centres directly under the
respective mine-operating units assume the duties of providing
orientation trainings, on-the-job training and re-designation
trainings, resulting in the formation of the three-level training
system. During the reporting period, the Group organised 1,588
counts of all members safety training, including 327 counts
of special skills training and 84 counts of “Three Violations”
training respectively. To further strengthen our talent pool and
retain new personnel, since May 2019, the Group has continued
to launch study allowance and competency rewards to motivate
employees to take the initiative to study.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE GROUP

Maintaining harmonic relationship with the community is beneficial
to the business development of the Group. Before starting a project,
the Group has already engaged an independent third party to carry
out environmental impact assessments and has taken every feasible
measure to reduce the impact caused by the project to the nearby
communities and local residents.

Further, the Group actively maintains close communications with
communities and establishes dedicated departments to coordinate
with the local residents. During the reporting period, in order to
ensure smooth operation of the Group’s mining plan and constantly
provide employment opportunities to the community, the Group
has continued to engage in a relocation project in respect of a coal
mining subsidence area to help building new houses for the local
residents and improving their living quality.
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES

Mr. Ding Rucai, aged 56, had acted as a deputy general manager
of the Company since August 2014, then was appointed as the vice
chairman of the Board, an Executive Director and managing director
of the Company in September 2014 and was re-designated as the
Chairman from 29 January 2018. Mr. Ding is also the chairman of
each of the Executive Committee and the Nomination Committee, a
member of the Remuneration Committee, and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Ding is a senior engineer in professor grade. He graduated
from the School of Metallurgical and Ecological Engineering of the
University of Science and Technology Beijing with a doctoral degree
in ferrous metallurgy, he also studied senior business administration
in the University of Warwick, United Kingdom. Mr. Ding has extensive
experience in management of listed companies, mergers and
acquisitions, production management of steel and coal industries,
project construction management, trading of iron ore and coking
coal resources and shipping management.

Previously, Mr. Ding was an executive director and the deputy
managing director of Shougang Concord International Enterprises
Company Limited (now known as Shoucheng Holdings) (SEHK:697)
(from September 2014 to January 2018), a listed company in Hong
Kong.

Currently, Mr. Ding is a non-executive director of Mount Gibson Iron
Limited (ASX:MGX), a company listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange Limited. He also holds several senior positions in the group
companies of Shougang Group, including the positions as a director
and deputy managing director of Shougang Holding.

Mr. Fan Wenli, aged 41, was appointed Executive Director and
managing director of the Company in November 2019. He is also
a member of the Executive Committee and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Fan is a senior mining engineer and a certified safety engineer.
He graduated from Wuhan University of Technology with a bachelor’s
degree in mining resources engineering and then obtained a
master’s degree in mining engineering from University of Science and
Technology Beijing.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (continued)

Previously, Mr. Fan held various senior positions in Mining
Corporation of Shougang Group Co., Ltd. (“Shougang Mining”) and
had been responsible for mining production and operation safety for
a long time. Mr. Fan served as the deputy mine manager of the iron
ore production plants of Shougang Mining, namely Xingshan Iron
Mine (underground mine) and Shuichang Iron Mine (open-pit mine).
He also served as the deputy director and the director of production
division of Shougang Mining during which he facilitated the
commencement of production and the arrival at mine full production
capacity of Xingshan Iron Mine. Mr. Fan has extensive management
experience both in open-pit and underground mine.

Mr. Chen Zhaoqiang, aged 53, was appointed Executive Director
and deputy managing director of the Company in January 2010. He is
also a member of the Executive Committee and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Chen graduated from Jiaozuo Mining Institute with a bachelor
degree majoring in mining engineering and obtained a master degree
in management science from Huazhong University of Science &
Technology and a finance executive master of business administration
from Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance of Shanghai Jiao Tong
University. He has extensive experience in coal mining industry
including in the areas of production safety management for coal
mining, purchase and logistics management, mineral resources
development and coal trading.

Previously, Mr. Chen had engaged in many important posts in coal
mining enterprises, including in Pingdingshan Coal Co. Ltd., Henan
Pingbao Coal Co. Ltd., and Henan Company for Coal Seam Gas
Development & Application.

Mr. Liu Qingshan, aged 62, was appointed Executive Director in
November 2008 and also acted as the deputy managing director of
the Company in January 2010. He is also a member of the Executive
Committee and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Liu graduated from Shanxi University of Finance and Economics
Department of Accounting and obtained a master of business
administration from Capital University of Economics and Business. He
has extensive experience in the fields of accounting and finance in
the mining industry in China.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liu worked as chief financial officer in
Fortune Dragon Group Limited and in other sizable energy resources
companies in China.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (continued)

Mr. Wang Dongming, aged 46, was appointed Executive Director
in June 2020. He is also a member of the Executive Committee and a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Wang graduated from the University of Wales with a master
degree in business administration. He has extensive experience in
the fields of trading of mineral resources, investment and capital
operation, and has also been awarded the practicing certificates in
the asset management and securities categories by the Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute respectively.

Mr. Wang had been working in Shougang Group for years, during
which he served as the assistant general manager of Shougang
International Mineral Resources Corporation to handle various
overseas acquisition projects in relation to mineral resources. He had
also acted as the assistant general manager of the Company.

Currently, he is the general manager of the investment department at
Shougang Holding.

Ms. Chang Cun, aged 42, was appointed Non-executive Director of
the Company in July 2018.

Ms. Chang is a certified public accountant in China and a certified
internal auditor. She holds a bachelor degree in economics from
Beijing Institute of Business and a master degree in management
from Beijing Technology and Business University. Ms. Chang has
extensive experience in accounting, auditing, financial and insurance
businesses.

Previously, Ms. Chang held various positions in Funde Sino Life.

Currently, she is the director, deputy general manager and chief
auditor of Funde Insurance Holdings Co., Ltd, the director and chief
auditor of Funde Sino Life, the chief auditor of Sino Life AMC, and
also the chief supervisor of The National Trust Co., Ltd respectively.
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Mr. Shi Yubao, aged 67, was appointed Non-Executive Director and
member of the Remuneration Committee in September 2019.

Mr. Shi is a senior economist and a senior political affairs specialist.
He graduated from Chongging University with a master degree in
business administration. Mr. Shi has extensive experience in the fields
of corporate management, strategic planning and economic.

Previously, Mr. Shi held various senior positions in Chongging
Changan Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. including the chairman of its
board of directors, chairman of its labour union, general manager,
etc. In addition, he served as the factory director of the automobile
manufacturing plants of the Changan Automobile (Group) Company
Limited, the chairman of the board of directors of Chongging
Changan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and Changan Minsheng
APLL Logistics Co., Ltd., a company listed in Hong Kong, respectively,
and the chairman of supervisory committee of Chongging Changan
Automobile Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Shi also
served as the external director of Shougang Group. Mr. Shi was a
member of the 14th and 15th executive committee of China National
General Labour Union, a member of the 2nd and 3rd labour union
committee of Chongging General Labour Union and a member of
the expert group jury panel of Chongqing Enterprise Management
Excellence Evaluation Committee.

Mr. Kee Wah Sze, aged 73, was appointed Independent Non-
executive Director in April 1997 and is a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Kee is a Notary Public of Hong Kong and a China Appointed
Attesting Officer. He holds a master degree in Chinese and
comparative law from the City University of Hong Kong and a master
degree in law from the People’s University of China.

Currently, Mr. Kee is an independent non-executive director of Asia
Commercial Holdings Limited (SEHK:104) and a partner of Messrs.
Michael Cheuk, Wong & Kee. Mr. Kee has been a practicing solicitor
in Hong Kong specialised in both the commercial and conveyancing
fields for many years.
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Mr. Choi Wai Yin, aged 62, was appointed Independent Non-
executive Director in July 2004 and is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Choi holds a master degree of science in finance from the City
University of Hong Kong, a bachelor degree in business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a bachelor degree in
law from the Peking University. He has extensive experience in the
fields of finance and fund management.

Currently, he is a director and a responsible officer of Tap Capital
Limited, a company carrying the asset management business. Mr.
Choi is also an investment adviser registered under the SFO.

Mr. Japhet Sebastian Law, aged 69, was appointed Independent
Non-executive Director in September 2013 and is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Law graduated from the University of Texas at Austin with a
doctor of philosophy degree in mechanical/industrial engineering in
1976.

Previously, Mr. Law was an independent non-executive director of
Beijing Capital International Airport Company Limited (SEHK:694)
(from June 2008 to June 2020), a listed company in Hong Kong, and
was a professor of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He joined
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1986 and retired in August
2012. Before retirement, Mr. Law was a professor in the Department
of Decision Sciences and Managerial Economics. He was the
associate dean and subsequently the dean of the Faculty of Business
Administration of The Chinese University of Hong Kong from 1993
to 2002. Prior to returning to Hong Kong, Mr. Law was the director
of Operations Research at the Cullen College of Engineering and the
director of Graduate Studies in Industrial Engineering at the University
of Houston and was also involved with the U.S. Space Program in his
career with McDonnell Douglas and Ford Aerospace in the United
States. He acted as a consultant for various corporations in Hong
Kong and overseas. He had also served on the boards of profit, non-
profit and charitable organisations in Hong Kong and overseas. In
addition, Mr. Law had once served as a member of the Provisional
Regional Council of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government and various other committees, he was active in public
services.
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Currently, Mr. Law is an independent non-executive director of
each of Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited (SEHK:8271),
Tianjin Port Development Holdings Limited (SEHK:3382), Binhai
Investment Company Limited (SEHK:2886), Regal Hotels International
Holdings Limited (SEHK:78) and Tianjin Binhai Teda Logistics (Group)
Corporation Limited (SEHK:8348) respectively, and an independent
supervisor of Beijing Capital International Airport Company Limited
(SEHK:694), all of which are listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chen Jianxiong, aged 62, was appointed Independent Non-
executive Director in June 2020 and is a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee respectively.

Mr. Chen is a senior economist and a senior human resources
management specialist. He graduated from Hong Kong Baptist
University with a master of science degree in applied accounting and
finance.

Previously, Mr. Chen was an executive director of China Orient Asset
Management Co., Ltd and had held various senior positions there
including the vice president, the board secretary and the general
manager of human resources department. He also served sequentially
as the chairman of the board of directors of Bangxin Asset
Management Co., Ltd. and Orient Bangxin Finance Holding Co.,
Ltd. In addition, he had served as the head of deposits division and
head of personnel and education division of Bank of China Zhejiang
Branch. Mr. Chen has extensive experience in the fields of corporate
management, economic and finance, human resources and banking.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to safeguard the interests of all
shareholders and to enhance accountability and transparency.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the CG Code
during the year under review, save for the deviations from code
provision A.4.1 as follows:

Under code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election.

None of the existing Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors is appointed for a specific term, but according to
the Articles, every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every 3 years.

Since all Directors, including the Non-executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors, are also subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election by shareholders at annual general
meetings pursuant to the Articles, the Board therefore considers this
requirement is sufficient to meet the underlying objective of the said
code provision.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) of
the Listing Rules as a code of conduct of the Company for Directors’
securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions throughout the year under review.

Employees who are likely to possess inside information in relation to
the Company or its shares are required to prohibit from dealing in
Shares during the black-out period.

EEER®RE

ARBBNEFRFEREREARERF - i
ERRERNG  ReFEELERE -

ARRREEFERNEETEEERTROTE
R HEAT SFRIME X B A 4R 2 IRBERIBR SN

RIETAIRX EAAIE  HFRTEFZZTER

EEMLH]  WERESEE -

BRREFATESRBYIFRTEZREREME
B BREAR  BUEFEELEIFRER
-k

HRAEES(BRIFVTESRELFATE
R)HARBANRRRBFAES LiRERTRH
BREE EF2RURB/URTERAZEEZIE
STRERSCHIARREE AY

ETEFR 5 WERESA

ARFICHESETESFR S MERA LR RF
ERBRTAEFETESFRZHNRESTR([RE
SRAIDESEARGITRTA -

EAMBERELHEERNR  MEESEROE
FENCETRETARARARARESETE
FR BT RST R ERIRE -

TR EEE RN A QR HE KD E’JW%%EE’\J
BE  ATEREEHANEELARN



60 SHOUGANG FUSHAN RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

The Board currently comprises a total of 11 Directors, being 5
Executive Directors, 2 Non-executive Directors and 4 Independent
Non-executive Directors. The list of Directors is set out in the section
headed “Directors’ report” of this annual report. In addition, an
updated list of the Directors and their roles and functions is published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The Board is characterised by significant diversity and has a balance of
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. The Directors’ biographical information is set out in
the section headed “Directors’ Biographies” of this annual report.

The Directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. All Directors are required to disclose to the Company at
the time of their appointment and to provide the number and the
nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments with an indication of the time involved
annually.

Save for those as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
Biographies” of this annual report, the Board members have no other
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with
each other.

The Board includes a balanced composition of Executive and Non-
executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors)
so that there is a sufficient independent element on the Board, which
can effectively exercise independent judgement.

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) are of sufficient number and calibre for their views to carry
weight. The functions of Non-executive Directors include:

e bringing an independent judgement at Board meetings;

e  taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

° serving on Board committees if invited; and

e scrutinising the Company’s performance and monitoring
performance reporting.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition (continued)

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) have made a positive contribution to the development
of the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments. They give the Board and the
committees on which they serve the benefit of their skills, expertise,
varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular attendance
and active participation.

Composition of the Board is disclosed, and the Independent
Non-executive Directors are identified, in all corporate
communications to shareholders.

Board Diversity

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 28 August 2013 which sets out its approach to achieve
diversity on the Board with a view to achieving a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The Company will also take into account factors based on its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Director Nomination Policy

The Company adopted a director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) on 12 December 2018 which sets out the criteria
and process in the nomination and appointment of directors of the
Company, in order to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company,
and ensure the Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board
level.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Director Nomination Policy (continued)

According to the selection criteria of the Director Nomination
Policy, the Nomination Committee will carry out evaluation on
candidates by considering their character, professional qualifications,
skills, experience, independence (in case of Independent Non-
executive Directors), gender and time commitment and then make
recommendation to the Board based on the nomination procedure.
The Nomination Committee will also review the Director Nomination
Policy from time to time and recommend proposed amendments to
the Board when necessary to satisfy the business needs and to ensure
its compliance with the regulatory requirements and maintain good
corporate governance practices.

Role and Function of the Board and the Management

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and
performance monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-day
operations of the Company to the Executive Committee and the
management within the control and authority framework set
by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Further details of these committees
are set out in this report.

Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly and holds at least 4 Board meetings a
year. Additional meetings will be arranged, if and when required. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through electronic means
of communication in accordance with the Articles.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meetings (continued)

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in drawing up the
agenda of each Board meeting. Draft agenda of each regular Board
meeting will be sent to all Directors for review before the agenda is
issued and all Directors may request for inclusion of other matters
in the agenda. The Chairman will take into account the matters
proposed by the Directors and where appropriate, approve the
inclusion of such matters in the agenda of the Board meeting.
Generally, at least 14-day notice of a regular Board meeting is given
and the Company aims at giving reasonable notice for all other
Board meetings. The Company also aims at sending the agenda and
the accompanying board papers, which are prepared in a form and
quality sufficient to enable the Board to make informed decisions
on matters placed before it, to all Directors at least 3 days before
the intended date of a Board meeting. Where queries are raised by
Directors, prompt and full responses will be given if possible.

There has been procedure in place to enable Directors to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to, upon reasonable
request, provide separate independent professional advice to
Directors to assist them perform their duties to the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of Board
meetings and Board committee meetings, draft and final versions
of which would be sent to Directors for comments and records
respectively, within a reasonable time after each meeting. Minutes
are recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting
views (if any) expressed. Minutes of Board meetings and Board
committees meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are
open for inspection by any Director/committee member.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meetings (continued)

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter (including material transaction with connected persons)
which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will
be dealt with by a physical Board meeting, rather than a written
resolution. Independent Non-executive Directors who, and whose
close associates, have no material interest in the transaction should
be present at that Board meeting.

Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, a Director shall not vote on any
Board resolution approving any contract or arrangement or any other
proposal in which he or any of his close associates (or associates
where the transaction or arrangement is a connected transaction
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) has a material interest nor
shall he be counted in the quorum present at the meeting.

Attendance Records

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors
have made active contribution to the affairs of the Group. Subject to
the requirements under the Listing Rules, the Board considered and
approved, among other things, various projects contemplated by the
Group in the form of physical meetings and written resolutions, and
reviewed and approved the interim results and annual results of the
Group by way of physical meetings.
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Attendance Records (continued) i o 8% (48
Records of the Directors’ attendances at the Board meetings, i%bﬂfq —EFNESEEE  BEXZEEg
Audit Committee meetings, Nomination Committee meetings, and - RELZEeeRkTHNEZEEeeR 2L ERL

ﬁzmﬂ? :

Remuneration Committee meetings in 2020 are as follows:

Number of meeting(s) attended/eligible to attend
HESBERY SEREESRRE

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Directors Board Committee Committee Committee
5= EEg EREES REEEE FHEES
Executive Directors
HITES
Ding Rucai (Chairman) 4/4 N/A N3 F 3/3 1/1
TRA(EE)
Fan Wenli 4/4 N/A A~ A N/A T iE A N/A N3
SEXH
So Kwok Hoo"ote/ 11 N/A A~ A N/A N iE A N/A N3
BRI =
Chen Zhaogiang 4/4 N/A A~ A N/A i A N/A N3
R JK 58
Liu Qingshan 4/4 N/A A~ A N/A i A N/A N3
2F W
Wang Dongmingete” 3/3 N/A i A N/A N iE A N/A i A
E%Eﬁﬁﬂ
Non-executive Directors
FHITES
Chang Cun 4/4 N/A i A N/A i A N/A i A
%15
Shi Yubao 4/4 N/A i F N/A T3 I7Al
RHEE
Independent Non-executive Directors
BAFHTES
Kee Wah Sze 4/4 2/2 3/3 171
wmELT
Choi Wai Yin 4/4 2/2 3/3 171
2REE
Chan Pat Lamete 11 171 171 0/0
BeR AR et
Japhet Sebastian Law 4/4 2/2 3/3 11
7B
Chen Jianxionghoe 3/3 N/A A~ A 1/1 0/0

BREE 1
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Attendance Records (continued)

Note I The Board had convened 1 meeting during the period prior to the

retirement of Mr. So Kwok Hoo as the Executive Director on 21
May 2020.

Note II: The Board had convened 3 meetings during the period after Mr.

Wang Dongming became the Executive Director on 30 June 2020.

Note lll:  The Board, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee

and the Remuneration Committee had convened 1 meeting, 1
meeting, 1 meeting and 0 meeting respectively during the period
before the retirement of Mr. Chan Pat Lam as the Independent
Non-executive Director, the member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee on 21 May
2020.

Note IV:  The Board, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration

Committee had convened 3 meetings, 1 meeting and 0 meeting
respectively during the period after Mr. Chen Jianxiong became
the Independent Non-executive Director and the member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 30
June 2020.

Access to Information

The Board is supplied with sufficient explanation and information
by the management to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of financial and other information put before it for
approval. The management provides all Board members with monthly
updates which give a balanced and understandable assessment of
the Company’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient
details to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties. Where any Director requires more information than
is volunteered by the management, each Director has the right to
separately and independently access to the Company’s management
to make further enquiries if necessary.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will give
adequate consideration to the Director Nomination Policy and Board
Diversity Policy, will review the profiles of the candidates, and will
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and nomination of Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Appointment and Re-election of Directors (continued)

According to the Articles, any Director so appointed by the Board
shall hold office, in the case of filling a casual vacancy, only until the
next following general meeting of the Company or, in the case of
an addition to their number, until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company, who shall then be eligible for re-election
at such general meeting. Every Director is subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every 3 years. At each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation.

None of the existing Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors is appointed for a specific term, but they are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders
at annual general meeting pursuant to the Articles. Accordingly,
though deviated from code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, the
Board considers that such requirements are sufficient to meet the
underlying objective of the said code provision.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has appointed 4 Independent Non-executive Directors
and at least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise, complied
with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The number of Independent Non-executive Directors represents more
than one-third of the Board, complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation regarding the independence of
himself and his immediate family members pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, the Company considers that all of the Independent
Non-executive Directors are independent.

Pursuant to code provision A. 4.3 of the CG Code, any re-election
of an independent non-executive director who has served the board
for more than 9 years, his further appointment should be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders. During
the year under review, no Independent Executive Director serving
the Board more than 9 years was re-elected in the AGM 2020. In
the AGM 2021, Mr. Choi Wai Yin, an Independent Non-executive
Director serving the board for more than 9 years, will be re-elected in
accordance with the code provision.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Currently, no Independent Non-executive Director held 7 (or more)
listed company directorships. Each Independent Non-executive
Director has indicated that he is able to devote sufficient time to the
Board’s affairs to fulfil his responsibilities, and has confirmed that he
does not hold any cross directorship or other significant links with
other directors through involvement in other companies.

Insurance for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability

Appropriate insurance cover on directors’ and officers’ liabilities has
been in force to protect the Directors and officers from their risk
exposure arising from the businesses of the Group.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every newly appointed Director will be given an introduction of
regulatory requirements. Directors are continually updated on the
latest development of the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practice. Directors are also encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company Secretary facilitates induction
and professional development of Directors and the Company is
responsible for arranging and funding suitable training for the
Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) B2

Directors’ Training and Professional Development EERIIREERR(E

(Continued)

All Directors have provided to the Company their records of training FIEEZEZEDAARRIEERSNOEEENES
received during the year under review, a summary of which is as  EFIMEEE - 20T -

follows:

Continuous professional development

Directors Type (Note I) Subject (Note Il)
=3 BEGH) AR (GHI)
Ding Rucai A 1
T4 B 1,2,3,4
Fan Wenli A 1
SBCH B 1,2,3,4
So Kwok Hoo (retired on 21 May 2020) A 1
HRER(R-ZZEZTFAA=-T—HRMD B 1
Chen Zhaogiang A 1
PRIk B 1,2,3,4
Liu Qingshan A 1
21510 B 1,2,3,4
Wang Dongming (be appointed on 30 June 2020) A 1
FRPARZZEZZEFA=THEZMT) B 1,2,3,4
Chang Cun A 1
B B 1,3
Shi Yubao A 1
REE B 1,3
Kee Wah Sze A 1
e B 1,3
Choi Wai Yin A 1
2=EE B 1,3
Chan Pat Lam (retired on 21 May 2020) A 1
BT EF A A+ —HRME) B 1
Japhet Sebastian Law A 1
7B X £ B 1,3
Chen Jianxiong (be appointed on 30 June 2020) A 1

RN _T_TFXA=+THEEE) B 1,3
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Training and Professional Development
(continued)

Continuous professional development (continued)

Note I:

A:  Attending seminars, conferences, forums, in-house briefings or in-house
training

B:  Reading newspapers, journals and updates
Note II:

1. Laws, rules and regulations

2:  Finance, accounting or taxation

3: Management

4:  Businesses relating to the Group

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

The roles of chairman and managing director are separate and
exercised by different individuals to reinforce their independence and
accountability. Mr. Ding Rucai is the Chairman and Mr. Fan Wenli
is the managing director of the Company. The Chairman provides
leadership for the Board and ensures that the Board works effectively
and performs its responsibilities. The managing director of the
Company has overall chief executive responsibility for the Group’s
business development and day-to-day management generally. The
division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the managing
director of the Company is clearly established and set out in writing.
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(continued)

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR
(continued)

The responsibilities of the Chairman include, amongst other things:

e taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established;

e ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings, and ensuring that Directors receive, in a
timely manner, adequate information which must be accurate,
clear, complete and reliable;

e encouraging all Directors to make a full and active contribution
to the Board's affairs and taking the lead to ensure that the
Board acts in the best interest of the Company;

e encouraging Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allowing sufficient time for discussion of issues and
ensuring that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus;

e ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communications with shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

e promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of Non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between Executive and Non-
executive Directors.

During the year, the Chairman held meeting with the Independent
Non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the following committees to oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in the
execution of the Board’s responsibilities. All committees have their
own terms of reference. All resolutions passed by the committees will
be reported to the Board at the Board meeting where appropriate.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established in May 2009 with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authorities and
duties.

The Executive Committee has been conferred with the general
powers of the Board (except those matters specifically reserved for
the Board) to manage and oversee the operations of the Group and
has been assigned with the responsibilities to perform the corporate
governance duties as follows:

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Group’s employees
and Directors;

e  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

e to conform to any requirement, direction, regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in
the constitution of the Company or imposed by legislation.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Executive Committee (continued)

As per the list below, the Executive Committee comprises all Executive
Directors with the Chairman as the chairman of the committee.

Committee chairman Ding Rucai
Member Fan Wenli
Member So Kwok Hoo (retired on
21 May 2020)
Member Chen Zhaogiang
Member Liu Qingshan
Member Wang Dongming (be appointed on

30 June 2020)

During the year under review, 1 meeting for the purpose of
performing the corporate governance duties was held by the
Executive Committee, all members at the time (namely Ding Rucai,
Fan Wenli, So Kwok Hoo, Chen Zhaogiang and Liu Qingshan)
attended that meeting. The major works performed by the Executive
Committee during the year under review included, amongst other
things, the following:

e reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company;

e managed and overseeing the daily operation of the Group; and
e  performed corporate governance duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in October 1999 with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authorities and
duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are posted on
the website of the Company.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, amongst other
things:

e overseeing the relationship with the Company’s auditor;
e reviewing the interim and annual financial statements;

e reviewing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems; and

e reviewing the arrangements that employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference and the authority to obtain outside
legal or other independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expense, to perform its responsibilities if it considers necessary. It is
given access to and assistance from the employees and reasonable
resources to perform its duties properly.

As per the list below, the chairman and all members of the Audit
Committee are Independent Non-executive Directors. None of the
members of the Audit Committee are former partners of the auditor
of the Company.

Committee chairman Choi Wai Yin

Member Kee Wah Sze

Member Chan Pat Lam (retired on
21 May 2020)

Member Japhet Sebastian Law

The major works performed by the Audit Committee during the year
under review included, amongst other things, the following:

° reviewed the final results and annual financial statements of the
Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2019;

. reviewed the interim results and interim financial statements of
the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2020;

e reviewed the reports on the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group prepared by the internal audit
department;

e met with the auditor of the Company in the absence of
management, to discuss matters relating to its audit fees, any
issues arising from the audit and any other matters the auditor
may wish to raise; and

e made recommendation to the Board regarding the re-
appointment of Company’s auditor.

During the year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in May 2009 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its
authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are posted on the website of the Company.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

e reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

e identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board;

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors;

e assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors; and

e reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate; and
reviewing the measurable objectives that have been set for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and reviewing the
progress on achieving the objectives.

Where vacancies exist at the Board, candidates are proposed and
put forward to the Nomination Committee for consideration. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee made in accordance
to the Director Nomination Policy will then be tendered to the Board
for approval. In considering the nomination of a new Director,
the Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to
the Board Diversity Policy and take into account the qualification,
ability, working experience, leadership and professional ethics of the
candidates. In determining the independence of Directors, the Board
follows the requirements set out in the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee has explicit authority to seek any
necessary information from the employees within its scope of
duties and the authority to obtain outside independent professional
advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities if it
considers necessary.

As per the list below, the chairman of the Nomination Committee
is the Chairman and the Independent Non-executive Directors
constitute the majority of the Nomination Committee.

Committee chairman Ding Rucai
Member Kee Wah Sze
Member Choi Wai Yin
Member Chan Pat Lam (retired on
21 May 2020)
Member Japhet Sebastian Law
Member Chen Jianxiong (be appointed on

30 June 2020)

The major works performed by the Nomination Committee during
the year under review included, amongst other things, the following:

e assessed the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors;

e considered and making recommendations to the Board on the
re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting;

e  reviewed the existing Board Diversity Policy; and
° made recommendation to the Board in accordance to the

Director Nomination Policy for the appointments of Mr. Wang
Dongming and Mr. Chen Jianxiong as the Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in September 2005
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its
authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are posted on the website of the Company.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

e making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Group;

e reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Company’s goals and objectives;

e determining, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of Non-executive Directors;

e reviewing and approving compensation payable to Executive
Directors and senior management and compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct; and

e ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman and/or
the managing director of the Company about their remuneration
proposals for other Executive Directors. It has explicit authority to seek
any necessary information from the employees within its scope of
duties and the authority to obtain outside independent professional
advice, at the Company'’s expense, to perform its responsibilities if it
considers necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The remuneration policies for the Company as well as the Directors
are market alignment and reward for performance. The Company
reviews the remuneration package annually taking into consideration
of the market practice, competitive market position and individual
performance.

As per the list below, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
is an Independent Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-
executive Directors constitute the majority of the Remuneration
Committee.

Committee chairman Japhet Sebastian Law

Member Ding Rucai
Member Shi Yubao
Member Kee Wah Sze
Member Choi Wai Yin
Member Chan Pat Lam (retired on
21 May 2020)
Member Chen Jianxiong (be appointed on

30 June 2020)

The major works performed by the Remuneration Committee during
the year under review included, amongst other things, the following:

e reviewed the performance and the remuneration packages of
the Directors; and

e made recommendations to the Board on the terms of the
service contract or engagement letter, and the remuneration of
Mr. Wang Dongming and Mr. Chen Jianxiong.

Details of remuneration paid to the Directors and senior management
for the year under review are set out in note 14 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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(continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible
for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the managing
director of the Company on corporate governance and the
implementation of the CG Code. The Company Secretary is an
employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Group's affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the managing
director of the Company. All Directors also have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that board
procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations, are
followed. The selection, appointment and dismissal of the Company
Secretary are subject to the Board approval.

The Company Secretary has confirmed that she has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal Control

The Group adopted and implemented the Group's internal control
system by making reference to the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisation of the Treadway Commission (“COSQO") Internal
Control — Integrated Framework. The Group’s internal control system
is to achieve operations, reporting, and compliance objectives,
implemented within the Group's entities, divisions, operating units
and functions, through various internal control components in the
areas of control environment, risk assessment, control activities,
information and communication and monitoring activities. The
Group's internal control system comprises 17 principles on effective
internal controls as illustrated as follows:
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Control Environment

VR BEMEE

ZEEIRR

1. Demonstrates commitment to integrity and ethical values
RIRE HE B R E A A

2. Exercises oversight responsibility
BITEECEGE

3. Establishes structure, authority, and responsibility

PR RO EAKE

Operations, Reporting and 4. Demonstrates commitment to competence
Compliance Objectives BORBEERBERBEZAT
EREE EXRR 5. Enforces accountability
BRNERE AR BTS2 BEERER
Risk Assessment
[ B T
6. Specifies suitable objectives
REBBMBIZ
7. Identifies and analyses risk
WRER DR
8. Assesses fraud risk
ATk 52 B L
9. Identifies and analyses significant change
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control (continued)
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AEPEEIEEE - 17HERAEP

Internal Control Components — 17 Principles on Effective Internal Controls
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Control Activities
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Selects and develops control activities

Selects and develops general controls over technology
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Deploys through policies and procedures

Operations, Reporting and

tion

ERESYS TS

Conducts ongoing and/or separate evaluations

Compliance Objectives Information and Communica
(continued) AMsEEE
EREE ERR 13.  Uses relevant information
SRNE R ERAERREM
14.  Communicates internally
WERE R
15.  Communicates externally
HNERE R
Monitoring Activities
EE
16.
R & S B RIETHE
17.

Evaluates and communicates deficiencies

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control system
and for reviewing its appropriateness and effectiveness. The Audit
Committee is authorised to assist the Board to conduct relevant
review. The Group’s internal control system manages, but not
eliminates, risks against the achievement of the Group’s objectives,
and provides a reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control (continued)

Based on the defined objectives, the management of the Group
identifies and evaluates significant risks, and subsequently selects,
adopts and implements appropriate internal control procedures.
Through continuous monitoring, the management of the Group
maintains an effective internal control system. The internal audit
department of the Group conducts testing on the internal control
system, reports deficiencies, recommends remedy solutions to the
management and follows up implementation of recommendations.

The Audit Committee monitors, assesses and reviews the findings of
the internal control systems from the management and the internal
audit department of the Group on an ongoing basis, and regularly
report to the Board.

The Group sets up an internal audit department which directly reports
to the Audit Committee. The staffs of the internal audit department
comprised of qualified and experienced professional. Based on
the risk-based internal audit plan, the internal audit department is
authorised unrestrictedly to conduct independent assessment on the
Group'’s business, risk management and internal control system.

The management of the Group provided a confirmation to the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the internal control system this
year, including the effectiveness of the issuer’s processes for financial
reporting and “Listing Rules” compliance, and considers the system is
effective and adequate. The Audit Committee reviewed and reported
the results to the Board.

The Audit Committee reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions
this year and satisfied the adequacy of the arrangement.

Risk Management

The structure of the Group’s risk management system based on: 1)
Risk Governance Structure; and 2) Risk Management Procedures.
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(continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Risk Governance Structure

The Group's risk governance structure is based on a “Three Lines of
Defense” model, with oversight by the Board on an ongoing basis
and is reviewed by the Audit Committee and subsequently reported
to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk management system.

Under the “Three Lines of Defense” model, major risk management
functions and measures in each line is as follows:

B

&

TRE
)

&

—~

[ Bex B B % PR B EE 4 (48)

R EARE
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2nd Line of Defense:
Risk Management Function Risk Monitoring Function

EEMS - EREERE EEBR - EMEEERE

1st Line of Defense:

3rd Line of Defense:
Independent Assurance Function

FoERR  BUREHE

1) Identify and evaluate risks, 1)
adopt measures to manage risks
BRI R ET G R - BREUE HELA
EIRE R

2) Self-assessment on the
effectiveness of the measures, 2)
adjust timely to mitigate risks
BERBEEROKI - EHRH
BEBEE

HEMETTE

Monitor design appropriateness | 1)
and implementation of risk
management procedures
EERRERIRTHNRAEE
Promote delivery of risk
management information
R R EIREMNEE

Independent assessment

on the appropriateness

and effectiveness of risk
management system
HEREBRGNSELNE
MM EITE LB

Risk Management Procedures

The Group adopted and implemented a risk management policy and
procedures that is appropriate to the Group by making reference
to the Committee of Sponsoring Organisation of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO") Enterprise Risk Management Framework.

The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the Group's
risk appetite regarding the nature and magnitude and constructs a
risk management procedures allowing a tone at the top and bottom
up reporting.

Top-Down Approach

The Board, through the management of the Group, communicates to
entities, divisions, operating units and subsidiaries regarding potential
effects on inherent risks and emerging risks, and defines standards on
the Group’s risk appetite and risk tolerance level.

BElEREREF

NEELHRCOSO (the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission)H2 K]
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Bottom Up Approach

Based on the guidance from the Board and incorporation of annual
operating plan, the Group's entities, divisions, operating units and
subsidiaries identify potential risks that affect the achievement of
objectives. Every potential risk is evaluated based on the impact and
likelihood. Appropriate risk responses, such as accepting, avoiding,
transferring and controlling, are used to manage the risks based on
the assessment results and the risk appetite and risk tolerance level
defined by the Board.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management system
and for reviewing its appropriateness and effectiveness. The Audit
Committee is authorised to assist the Board to conduct relevant
review. The Group’s risk management system manages, but not
eliminates, risks against the achievement of the Group’s objectives,
and provides a reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The management monitors the design and implementation of the
risk management procedures on an ongoing basis. The internal audit
department assesses the effectiveness of the risk management system
independently. The Audit Committee monitors, assesses and reviews
the findings of risk management systems from the management and
the internal audit department of the Group on an ongoing basis, and
regularly report to the Board.

The management of the Group provided a confirmation to the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management system this
year, and considers the system is effective and adequate. The Audit
Committee reviewed and reported the review to the Board.
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(continued)

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company adopted an inside information disclosure policy (the
“Inside Information Disclosure Policy”) on 21 December 2015 which
sets out the procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside
information with a view to preventing uneven, inadvertent or selective
dissemination of inside information and ensuring shareholders and
the public are provided with full, accurate and timely information
about the activities and the financial condition of the Group. The
Inside Information Disclosure Policy covers the following:

e setting out the processes for identifying, assessing and escalating
potential inside information to the Board;

e setting out the responsibilities of officers in preserving the
confidentiality of inside information, escalating upwards any
such potential information and cascading down the message
and responsibilities to relevant staff; and

e identifying who are the Company’s authorised spokespersons
and their responsibilities for communications with stakeholders
of the Company.

In addition, the Company has communicated to all relevant staff
regarding the implementation of the Inside Information Disclosure
Policy.

The Board considers that the Company’s existing measures are
effective and appropriate compliance mechanisms to safeguard the
Company and its officers in discharging their disclosure obligations in
respect of inside information.

The Inside Information Disclosure Policy is posted on the website of
the Company.
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(continued)

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the auditor of the
Company is set out as follows:
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HK$'000
Services rendered FriR AR % BT
Statutory audit services for 2020 R CTEEEAEETRS 1,600
Non-statutory audit services: IEETEF IR -
Review on interim financial report R BRE 350
Other services (Note) H b B 7% (B9 77) 217
2,167
Note: Included non-statutory audit service fee on buy-back of shares  ffit - BRERERREEFIBEBERNEEZIBET
amounted to HK$97,000, which was debited in the retained earnings. FEiTAR7 E97,0008 7T ©
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL EERMERENELE
STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial EZ#&ERMMEETHFEAEBMIERE - UF

statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group on a going concern basis and in presenting the
annual and interim reports and other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules, the Directors aim to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects.

The statement of the auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
about its reporting responsibilities on the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 109 to 117 of this annual report.
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(continued)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board formalised and adopted a dividend policy for the Company
which took effect from 12 December 2018 and it aims to allow the
shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves for the future growth of the Group.

The Company intends to distribute not less than 40% of its net profit
attributable to the shareholders (not less than dividend payout ratio
of 40%) in each financial year as dividends. However, the Board will
take into account certain factors of the Group when considering
the declaration or recommendation of dividends, which includes the
actual and expected financial performance, retained earnings and
distributable reserves, liquidity position, general economic conditions,
business cycle of the Group’s businesses and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the businesses or financial
performance and position of the Group, and other factors that the
Board may consider relevant.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

On 22 March 2012, the Board adopted a shareholders’
Communication Policy reflecting the current practices of the Company
for communication with its shareholders. Such policy aims at ensuring
the shareholders of the Company are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company, in order to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in
an informed manner, and to allow shareholders to engage actively
with the Company. The Board would review the policy regularly.

To foster effective communications with the shareholders,
the Company provides extensive information in its annual
and interim reports and announcements. All shareholders’
communications are also available on the Company’s website at
www.shougang-resources.com.hk.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman
of the board should attend the annual general meeting and invite
the chairman of other committees to attend. The annual general
meeting of the Company provides a useful forum for shareholders to
exchange views with the Board. All Directors will make an effort to
attend, external auditor will also be available at the annual general
meeting to address shareholders’ queries. In case of any general
meeting to approve a connected transaction or any other transaction
that is subject to independent shareholders’ approval, members of
the independent Board committee will also make an effort to attend
to address shareholders’ queries.

ZoTEFH ERBLEREEBRAFT 87

B

&

TRE
)

—~

IR B BUR

EEERARBEAFFTREANR-_FT—N\F+
“AT-HEARZBEERE  EEERRNSEF
AREENE - RAREE R AREAEAEER
BRERZH -

AR B BB B EFE D R40%H BER B A
AN (R BBERESDRA0%) DRSS - HE
ZENERERXEFZREREE - HEEEAN
SEZHERE  BRERMEHVBEREA  RE
wm A R A E D IREE  RBESHR - BELE
MR REBEXEBHEERY - AIREHAKEE
BRI B RETIMRER T ENEMERINERIA
REZFSMRER/BENEMBER -

ERRNEE

RZE—Z—F=ZAZ+=H EFERAER
BR 7K X A 3R B B AR SROB AR 2 AR A0 IR R B AR
R - ZBREEBRRARABRRYEFRE2
H - HRARRSEROARFEN - —THEER
RAIEMBERTITREES » S EBER
RAIBARRREERN - EF S LTI AR
5 o

o

RIEEERRZEANBRER  ARAREF
HPHBERLAELREEZEEN - AEKR
RBAERBARARR@UERME - BuA

www.shougang-resources.com.hk °

BREREATAITARXFE 216 EF €
ITFEERHERRBFAS  UHFEMEZESR
EREFE - ARRNBERBFRE RARIEHE
EXEeXREANERYE 2BEFHEEA
BEmzELE - INEERBEI T ERRBFEAEE
BERROER - EERERER S HEMEM
ARBUBRRIEZRGHNRRAE L BYE
EZEEXENTERETMELEEZRRNE
A o



88

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)

PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the Company, attended the
AGM 2020 and GM 2020 (Sep), while the Directors’ attendances are

provided as follows:

SHOUGANG FUSHAN RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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AGM 2020 GM 2020 (Sep)
—E-TF ZE-ZF(hA)
Directors 2= BRREBFRE N
Executive Directors HITES
Ding Rucai (Chairman of the Board, the Executive TxA (EEE - - PTEED v v
Committee and the Nomination Committee) LMIRRZESEF)
Fan Wenli SBICF X X
So Kwok HooMete! ﬁlﬁi’ X N/A 3 A
Chen Zhaogiang BRIk X X
Liu Qingshan B X X
Wang Dongmingete F 2R N/A i A v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Chang Cun B X X
Shi Yubao BHEE X v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYEHTES
Kee Wah Sze R v v
Choi Wai Yin (Chairman of the Audit Committee) EHEB(BREZESTF) v v
Chan Pat LamPete! BoR AR AR X N/A 7~ F
Japhet Sebastian Law (Chairman of the BNE(FHEESTR) v v
Remuneration Committee)
Chen Jianxiongoe FeR g 1At N/A 7~ A X

Note I:
the conclusion of the AGM 2020.

Note IlI:

Mr. Wang Dongming and Mr. Chen Jianxiong had not been

Mr. So Kwok Hoo and Mr. Chan Pat Lam retired as Directors after 7%/ -

Fra /i

appointed as the Directors when the AGM 2020 was held.

HEZAELEMREAMELECR T _ZFKRE
BFERE/EREEEEERI -

T FERRBFERGRITZR

TRAL

ERRBEEENAEREIRES -



—TOTFEFH HABRLERKEERQT 89

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(continued)

All notices of general meetings dispatched by the Company to
its shareholders for meetings held will be sent for annual general
meeting at least 20 clear business days before the meeting and at
least 10 clear business days for all other general meetings, if any.
Separate resolutions will be proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
Directors, and all resolutions put to the vote of a general meeting
will be taken by way of a poll. At the general meetings, the chairman
of the meetings will explain the procedures for conducting a poll
and answer questions from shareholders on voting by poll, if any.
The results of the poll will be published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively. During the year, the general
meeting of the Company was held in accordance to the aforesaid
arrangement.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convene a General Meeting

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of
all shareholders of the Company having a right to vote at general
meetings can request the Directors to call a general meeting pursuant
to Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance. The request must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at the meeting. Such request must
be authenticated by the shareholder(s) making it and sent to the
Company in hard copy form or in electronic form for the attention of
the Company Secretary.
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(continued)

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)
Put Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights
of all shareholders of the Company or at least 50 shareholders
who have a relevant right to vote at a general meeting can request
the Company to circulate to the shareholders of the Company a
statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to a matter
mentioned in a proposed resolution or other business to be dealt
with at that meeting pursuant to Section 580 of the Companies
Ordinance. The expenses shall be borne by the shareholder(s) making
the request unless the meeting concerned is an annual general
meeting and the statement is received by the Company in time for
sending with the notice of the meeting. The request must identify
the statement to be circulated, and must be authenticated by the
shareholder(s) making it and sent to the Company in hard copy form
or in electronic form for the attention of the Company Secretary at
least 7 days before the meeting to which it relates.

Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of
all shareholders of the Company or at least 50 shareholders who have
a right to vote on the resolution at an annual general meeting can
request the Company to give to the shareholders of the Company
notice of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies
Ordinance. The request must identify the resolution of which notice is
to be given, and must be authenticated by the shareholder(s) making
it and sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form
for the attention of the Company Secretary no later than 6 weeks
before the annual general meeting to which the requests relate, or if
later, the time at which notice of the meeting is given.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Specific enquiries or suggestions by shareholders can be sent in
writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the registered
office of the Company or by email to the Company. In addition,
shareholders can contact Tricor Tengis Limited, the share registrar of
the Company, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings
and entitlement to dividend. Relevant contact details are set out on
page 3 of this annual report.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Articles during the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year under
review.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associate are set out in
notes 37 and 20 to the audited consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year under review and the financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 are set out in the
audited consolidated financial statements on pages 118 to 220 of
this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a policy on the payment of dividends, which is set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report .

Subject to shareholders’ approval of the proposed final dividend at
the AGM 2021, the dividend payout out ratio for the year under
review is approximately 80%.

DIVIDEND

The Board has proposed a final dividend of HK9 cents per Share
for the year under review (2019: HK8.7 cents per Share), payable
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company at the close of business on Monday, 12 July 2021.
The proposed final dividend (HK9 cents per Share) together with the
interim dividend (HK7.5 cents per Share) paid in 2020 will make a
total dividend of HK16.5 cents per Share for the year under review
(2019: HK17.2 cents per Share).

Subject to shareholders’ approval of the proposed final dividend
at the AGM 2021 to be held on Wednesday, 30 June 2021, the
final dividend is expected to be paid on Thursday, 29 July 2021. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 12 July 2021 for registration.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
25 June 2021 to Wednesday, 30 June 2021 (both days inclusive) to
determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM 2021.
During such period, no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM 2021,
all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong,
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 24 June 2021 for registration.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year under review is set out
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 14 and pages 15 to 33 of
this annual report respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last 5 financial years is set out on page 221 of this
annual report.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no borrowings.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the year
under review are set out in note 33 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year under
review amounted to approximately HK$4,556,000.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ding Rucai

Fan Wenli

So Kwok Hoo (retired on 21 May 2020)

Chen Zhaogiang

Liu Qingshan

Wang Dongming (be appointed on 30 June 2020)

Non-Executive Directors
Chang Cun
Shi Yubao

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Kee Wah Sze

Choi Wai Yin

Chan Pat Lam (retired on 21 May 2020)

Japhet Sebastian Law

Chen Jianxiong (be appointed on 30 June 2020)

In accordance with article 102(A) of the Articles, Mr. Ding Rucai,
Mr. Kee Wah Sze, Mr. Choi Wai Yin and Mr. Japhet Sebastian Law,
will retire at the AGM 2021 by rotation, whereas in accordance with
article 93 of the Articles, Mr. Wang Dongming, whose appointment
as the Executive Director took effect on 30 June 2020 and Mr. Chen
Jianxiong, whose appointment as the Independent Non-executive
Director took effect on 30 June 2020, shall hold office until the AGM
2021.

Mr. Kee Wah Sze, who has been an Independent Non-executive
Director since 1997, has indicated his intention not to offer himself
for re-election and will retire at the conclusion of the AGM 2021, as
he wishes to devote more time to pursue his other personal business
and arrangements. All the other retiring Directors, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM 2021. The re-election of
these retiring Directors will be individually voted on by shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year under review and up to the date of this report,
directors of the subsidiaries of the Company include Ding Rucai,
Fan Wenli, Chen Zhaogiang, Liu Qingshan, Wang Dongming, Gao
Xingang, Gao Xiangdong, Kang Jizhong, Song Kaiyong, Fu Jinghua,
Chen Hui, Liang Weiming, Xue Kang, Zhang Yanjun, Mu Sannu,
Zhang Xiaojun, Tian Fengfa, Yang Jiyou, Kang Jianping, Song
Yangping, So Kwok Hoo* and Zhang Zhiwen*.

. As of the date of this report, that person had ceased to be the director
of the subsidiary of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

As permitted by the Articles, every Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officer’s
liability coverage for the directors and officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within 1 year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Directors who held office at 31 December 2020 had the
following interests in the Shares as at that day as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant

to the Model Code of the Listing Rules:
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Interests as to %

of the total

number of

Shares in

Number of issue as at

Name of Director Capacity in which interests were held Shares held 31.12.2020

MG

R=F=%F

+=A=+—H
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EEHA BERERZH5H ARRBER WY zEDHE

Chen Zhaogiang Beneficial owner 2,006,800 0.039%
5 EmEA A

Kee Wah Sze Beneficial owner 700,000 0.013%
e EmiEA A

Ding Rucai Beneficial owner 120,000 0.002%
T EmEA A

Choi Wai Yin Beneficial owner 120,000 0.002%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Long Positions in the Shares (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Company’s Directors, chief executives or their respective associates
had any other personal, family, corporate and other interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary of its parent
company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts that is significant in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary of its parent
company was a party and in which a Director or his/her connected
entities had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, at any
time during the year under review or subsisted at the end of the year
under review.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year under review, none of the Directors had any interests
in a business which competes or may compete with the business of
the Group or has any other conflict of interest with the Group which
would be required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2020, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the following companies
and persons had interests of 5% or more in the Shares and/or
underlying Shares which fell to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares/Underlying Shares

Capacity in which

Number of Shares/
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Interests as to

% of the total
number of Shares
in issue as at

Name of shareholder interests were held underlying Shares 31 December 2020 Note
L
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BRRERB A BEEDZE0 HEARROEE BY 2B Hiat
Shougang Group Interests of controlled corporations 1,667,108,490 33.00% /
EEES:] RPEE 2w
Funde Sino Life Beneficial owner 1,590,100,000 31.47% Il
EREmAE EnlAA
Jiang Jinzhi (“Mr. Jiang”) Interests of controlled corporations 282,702,904 5.60% mn
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO
(continued)

Long Positions in the Shares/Underlying Shares
(continued)

Notes:

The data shown in the table is based on the disclosure form dated
27 November 2020 (being the latest disclosure form filed up to 31
December 2020). Shougang Group was interested in the Shares held
by its associated companies, namely; (i) Shougang Holding (a company
wholly-owned by Shougang Group, holding 15,492,000 Shares); (i) King
Rich Group Limited (a company wholly-owned by Shougang Holding,
holding 167,244,000 Shares); (iii) Prime Success Investments Limited
(a company wholly owned by Shougang Holding, holding 20,410,000
Shares), (iv) Shoucheng Holdings (a company held as to 36.75%
interests by Shougang Group indirectly, holding 954,000 Shares); (iv)
Fair Gain Investments Limited (a company wholly-owned by Shoucheng
Holdings, holding 149,089,993 Shares); (v) Fine Power Group Limited (a
company wholly-owned by Shoucheng Holdings, holding 663,918,497
Shares); and (vii) Ultimate Capital Limited (a company wholly-owned
by Excel Bond Investments Limited, which in turn was wholly owned by
Shoucheng Holdings, holding 650,000,000 Shares).

The data shown in the table is based on the disclosure form dated
28 September 2020 (being the latest disclosure form filed up to 31
December 2020).

The data shown in the table is based on the disclosure form dated
28 September 2020 (being the latest disclosure form filed up to 31
December 2020).

Per the information provided by Mr. Jiang, as of 31 December 2020, Mr.
Jiang was interested in 279,743,623 Shares (5.54% of the total issued
Shares) held by the companies deemed under control by him, namely,
(i) Golden China Master Fund (a company deemed under control
by Greenwoods Asset Management Limited, holding 114,500,441
Shares); (i) Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund (a company deemed
under control by Greenwoods Asset Management Limited, holding
115,636,291 Shares). Thus, Greenwoods Asset Management Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Greenwoods Asset Management Holdings
Limited which was held as to 84.5% interests by Unique Element Corp.
which in turn was wholly-owned by Mr. Jiang, is deemed to hold a
total of 230,136,732 Shares; and (iii) Shanghai Greenwoods Asset
Management Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xizang Jingning
Corporate Management Company Limited which was held as to 84.5%
interests by Mr. Jiang, holding 49,606,891 Shares) as a private fund
manager.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO
(continued)

Long Positions in the Shares/Underlying Shares
(continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company
has not been notified of any other person (other than the Directors
and chief executives of the Company) who had an interest or short
position in the Shares and/or underlying Shares which fell to be
disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no contracts of
significance have been entered into between the Company (or any
of its subsidiaries) and the controlling shareholder (or any of its
subsidiaries) during the year under review.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there is a sufficiency of
public float of the Company’s securities as required under the Listing
Rules as at the date of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 25 May 2012, the shareholders of the Company adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme™).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant share options to selected participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries and/or any entity in which
any member of the Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested
Entities”). The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective from
29 May 2012, being the date on which the Listing Committee of the
Stock Exchange granting its approval to the listing of, and permission
to deal in, the Shares which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, and ending
on 25 May 2022, being the tenth anniversary of the date on which
the Share Option Scheme was adopted by the shareholders of the
Company (both dates inclusive).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion,
offer full-time or part-time employees, executives, officers or directors
(including executive and non-executive directors) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or any of the Invested Entities, and any advisors,
consultants, agents, suppliers, customers and distributors, who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to
the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries and/or any of the Invested
Entities, share options to subscribe for Shares.

No share option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption. The maximum number of Shares available for issue
upon exercise of all share options which may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 530,183,784, representing 10.5% of the
Shares in issue as at the date of this annual report. The total number
of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon the exercise of
share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding share options) to each grantee in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
number of Shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant
of share options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the issue
of a circular by the Company and shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an Independent Non-executive Director, or to any of
their associates, which would result in the Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of the
offer of such grant (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
Shares in issue on the date of the grant; and (b) having an aggregate
value of in excess of HK$5,000,000 (based on the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of each grant), such further grant of options shall be
subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and shareholders’
approval in a general meeting on a poll at which the grantee, his/
her associates and all core connected persons of the Company shall
abstain from voting in favour of the resolution concerning the grant
of such options, and/or such other requirements prescribed under the
Listing Rules from time to time. A connected person of the Company
will be permitted to vote against the grant only if his intention to do
so has been stated in the circular. Any grant of share options to a
Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or to any of their associates, is required to be approved by the
Independent Non-executive Directors (excluding the Independent
Non-executive Director who is the grantee of the options).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The period during which a share option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no share
option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has been granted
under the Share Option Scheme. There is no requirement that a
share option must be held for any minimum period before it can be
exercised but the Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any
such minimum period at the time of offer of any share options.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be determined
by the Board at its absolute discretion and shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
guotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of share
options; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of share options; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of offer of share options. Each
of the grantees is required to pay HK$1.00 as a consideration for
his acceptance of the grant of share options in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme. The offer of share options must be accepted
within 30 days from the date of the offer.

Share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme do
not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at general
meetings.

No share option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2020, there was
no share option outstanding under the Share Option Scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year under review or
subsisted at the end of the year under review.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

On 20 July 2020, the Board announced that a conditional cash offer
(the "Offer”) be made by Octal Capital Limited on behalf of the
Company, subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions, to buy-
back for cancellation up to 250,000,000 Shares at the offer price
of HK$2.00 per Share, involving applications of whitewash waivers.
Details of the Offer was set out in the offer document dated 19
August 2020.

The Offer became unconditional on 3 September 2020, and was
fully accepted on 17 September 2020. On 28 September 2020,
HK$500,000,000 (excluding related expenses) in aggregate, funded
by internal resources of the Group, was paid by the Company in
cash, following which those 250,000,000 Shares bought-back by the
Company were cancelled on the same day.

Saved as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year under review.

DISTRIBUTION RESERVES

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had approximately
HK$1,064,195,000 reserves available for distribution as calculated in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Companies Ordinance,
of which approximately HK$454,665,000 has been proposed as a
final dividend for the year under review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the percentage of revenue from sales of
goods of the Group attributable to the largest customer and the five
largest customers in aggregate are 36% and 83% respectively.

For the year under review, the percentage of purchases of the Group
attributable to the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers in
aggregate are 45% and 60% respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder
(which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
number of Company'’s issued shares) had an interest in the five major
suppliers or customers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) EEEHRE®

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND BFERERXIREERS
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(a) Continuing Connected Transactions (a) HERAERS

During the year under review, the continuing connected AR A E B EE AN ISTERER
transactions recorded are summarised as follows: IS

0]

Date and Name of the agreement: 3 July 2019 Master Sale Agreement

thaE B HA K —NELA=ZRIFEELGE

Nature of the transaction: Supply coal products (including the coal by-product produced in the coking

RHMEE - coal washing process) to connected party

mMEAEATHERRER(BEEERBETELNREREIER)
Parties of the transaction: (@) The Company and/or its subsidiaries (the “Seller”)
RPETHIBTT - ARER/HEMBRR(HES D

(b) Shanxi International Energy Group Hongguang Power Generation
Co., Ltd. and/or its subsidiaries (the “Purchaser”)

IR R EEEABERRARAL LEMNBAR(EES )

Relationship: When the agreement was entered into, the Purchaser was owned as to
BAR - 49% by a substantial shareholder of the Company’s subsidiaries, being
a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the Purchaser was an
associate of a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.13(3) of
the Listing Rules and thus also a connected person of the Company. The
transactions entered into between the Seller and the Purchaser under the
Master Sale Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

Frl AR - AR 73’37—5ﬁ%’\ﬁE’JIEHQ%($”ﬂE§LJ\i)%ﬁE§
B 249% 84 - Bt - IRIB EMARRIE14A130Q)K - BESJIAR
BENLTZBEA TR ARFIBEAL - ﬁﬁ%ﬁéﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ%
ERBAER TR SBR EMRAB T AR ANFERERS




104 SHOUGANG FUSHAN RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) EEEHRE®

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND BRERERXZREERS (E)
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Continuing Connected Transactions (continued) (a) HFEBEXRS (&)

(1) (continued) (&)

Description and purpose
of the transaction:

R K B &

The Group had explored the Purchaser as a customer in the first quarter of
2019 and started supplying coal products to the Purchaser in its ordinary
and usual course of business. Both parties have been satisfied with all
completed orders including the prices, quality, delivery and payment
terms, and have intention to continue the sale transactions in the long
run. As the expected annual transaction amount would soon exceed 1%
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1)(b) of the Listing Rules, on 3 July 2019, the
Company and the Purchaser entered into the Master Sale Agreement to
set the annual caps and to regulate the continuing connected transactions
between the Seller and the Purchaser in compliance with the Listing Rules.
AEER-_Z-NFEZESHIBEITRARTPR  YRHBENERFR
R—REBEBBRETANBEAHERKER - EHHREMBETK
BETE - BIEER - B2  INFNRER - REERBFELETHE
X5 ARTEFFER SR R EmRAIE14A.76(1)(0)EFTEA
PWI%RAR RZT—NFELA=ZH ARFHEBEEHFER EMHEA
ZRERIHERERBBARTFE LR REEHE T BBEE HET
ZIEBRER S o

Details of the continuing connected transactions contemplated under the
Master Sale Agreement have been disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 3 July 2019.

HEERBER T HEREXINFBRERNBEHRAE-—NFLHZ=H
AR B A ENERE -

Term:

EABR:

3 July 2019 to 31 December 2021 (both days inclusive)
TE-NFLtAZHEZEZ—F+-A=+—HEREEEMA)

Annual Cap:
FELR :

For the period from 3 July to 31 December 2019: RMB60,000,000
ZE-NFtA=ZHE+TZA=1+—H1HH : AK#%60,000,0007T

For the year under review: RMB100,000,000
EIEFER : AK%100,000,0007T

For the year ending 31 December 2021: RMB120,000,000
HEZZE-_—F+_A=+—HIFE : AR¥120,000,0007T

The amount of connected transactions for
the year under review under
this agreement:
HZEBETEREFEANBRERS 2
B

RMB46,660,000 (equivalent to HK$52,492,000)
AR ¥46,660,0007T (FHE 72 52,492,0007% 7T)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) EEEHRE®

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND BRERERXZREERS (E)
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Continuing Connected Transactions (continued) (a) HEREERS (&)

(n

Date and Name of the agreement:

ELEEIVELEE

16 September 2019 Master Sale Agreement
—E-NFAATRNAHEERTH

Nature of the transaction:
RS

Supply coal products to connected party

AR E A T HBRIREm

Parties of the transaction:

(@ The Company and/or its subsidiaries (the “Seller”)

RPETRETT ARRR/SEMBRAR(HESD
(b) Shanxi Fulong Coal Chemical Co., Ltd. and/or its subsidiaries and/or
the fellow subsidiaries of its holding company (the “Purchaser”)
IWFERERCARAR R KEMBRAR R HEERARZAER
ME R(EERD
Relationship: When the agreement was entered into, the Purchaser was a fellow
1R subsidiary of the holding company of a substantial shareholder of the

Company'’s subsidiaries, being a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Purchaser was an associate of a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules and thus also a
connected person of the Company. The transactions entered into between
the Seller and the Purchaser under the Master Sale Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.
BilHh=ER  BEARAARETHEBRAANEERR (KR AIMEAL)
ZEBRARORZMBAR - Bt - RIEEHRRAE14A1300)E - BE
ADRRBEBEALZBEA BT AERARBEAL - HEHHEE
BEFRHEEERGRE T UNR HEK ETARRIET AR FS R ER
HRG e
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND BRERERXZREERS (E)
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Continuing Connected Transactions (continued) (a) HFEBEXRS (&)

(I) (continued)(4&)

Description and purpose
of the transaction:
R ek B &9

The Group had been supplying coal products to the Purchaser in its ordinary
and usual course of business since July 2019. Both parties were satisfied
with all completed orders including the prices, quality, delivery and 100%
deposit payment terms, and have intention to continue the sale transactions
in the long run. As the expected annual transaction amount would soon
exceed 1% threshold under Rule 14A.76(1)(b) of the Listing Rules, on 16
September 2019, the Company and the Purchaser entered into the Master
Sale Agreement to set the annual caps and to regulate the continuing
connected transactions between the Seller and the Purchaser in compliance
with the Listing Rules.
AEBR-_Z-NFLtARBRERER—REBERTABEHHE
BRER SHHAREMASTKNGTE  BREER E8 KNHHM
100% AR RGR - BERRPBEETHER S - ARNENFERS®
AT A BeRE AR RIE 14A76()(D)IRFTEA R 1% AR - R-T—NF
NATRE RARFIEEEHER EMRB 2R EET L IHEER T Z A
REFE FRREEHEFEBEFMETIRERERS -

Details of the continuing connected transactions contemplated under the
Master Sale Agreement have been disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 16 September 2019.

HEERGRE THEFRERINFBERBRR_Z—AFNLATR
AHARRREAVERKEE

Term:

HARR :

16 September 2019 to 31 December 2021 (both days inclusive).
“E-NFNANA+ABEE-—F+-_A=+—HEREHEMA)

Annual Cap:
FEER :

For the period from 16 September to 31 December 2019: RMB60,000,000
ZE-NFNATABEF+ZA=+—HIHRE : AR¥60,000,0007T

For the year under review: RMB50,000,000
EEFER : AKRY50,000,000T

For the year ending 31 December 2021: RMB30,000,000
BE-_ZT-—F+-A=1+—HILFE : AR#¥30,000,0007T

The amount of connected transactions
for the year under review
under this agreement:
WHRETOREFEANBHEERSHZ

TR

RMB11,732,000 (equivalent to HK$13,198,000)
AR ®11,732,0007T (#8E 713,198,000 7T)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Connected Transactions

Saved as disclosed above, the Group has no connected
transaction that was subject to the disclosure requirements
under the Listing Rules during the year under review.

ANNUAL REVIEW ON CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers has issued an unqualified
letter containing findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in the paragraph
above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Independent
Non-executive Directors reviewed the continuing connected
transactions in the paragraph above and confirmed that the
transactions were entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Group as a whole.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of other related party transactions, which were exempt from
any disclosure and shareholders’ approval requirements, or do not
constitute connected or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, are set out in note 40 to the
audited consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's corporate governance practices are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 59 to 90 of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Company'’s compliance with the relevant provisions set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide in Appendix
27 of the Listing Rules for the year under review are set out in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 34 to 52
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited (“BDO") resigned as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 1 August 2018 as the Board and the Audit Committee
considered, in order to comply with good corporate governance
practice and enhance the independence of the auditor, it was
appropriate for the Company to change the auditor as BDO had
been the auditor of the Company for a number of years. The Board,
with the recommendation from the Audit Committee, resolved to
appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 1 August 2018 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of BDO.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change of the Company’s
auditors in any of the preceding three years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, the current auditor of the Company, will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution will be submitted
to the AGM 2021 to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Ding Rucai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

i
pwec

To the Members of Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Shougang Fushan Resources
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 118 to 220, which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020;

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

B B

i Jo Rk K 18
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' PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

; AR AR T AT FTHF BT » Ao PR A 220

L% : +852 2280 8888 + {H L : +852 2810 9888 * www.pwehk.com
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(continued)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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(continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter identified in our audit is impairment assessments of

goodwill, mining rights and property, plant and equipment:

Key Audit Matter

HAREEITER

(&)

ERFTEEER

BAEFATRBNEREFETEASAE KR
BUARIE - BFE &R EHRERFS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWEFT AR ERREETEE

Impairment assessments of goodwill, mining rights and property, plant and equipment

BE - REEARYE - BERRENRENG

Refer to Notes 15, 18 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements
SRR E M EHRERMFE15 - 1819

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has goodwill,
mining rights and property, plant and equipment of
HK$1,257 million, HK$7,459 million and HK$3,489
million respectively, that were originated from the
acquisitions of Shanxi Liulin Xingwu Coal Co., Limited
("Xingwu"), Shanxi Liulin Jinjiazhuang Coal Co., Limited
("Jinjiazhuang”) and Shanxi Liulin Zhaiyadi Coal Co.,
Limited (“Zhaiyadi”) in 2008. These companies are
engaged in coking coal mining, production and sales of
coking coal products in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

RZZEZZF+-_A=+—H > EBEXEHEXER
—ERN\FRBLANEERBEEREELQR ([HE
) UEIMKEREREERAR(SRKED) RILA
MIMNREEREBRAR(RERE)NEE - FRBEEL
KW - BB RREDRR/12.578ETT - 745988 T
K34.891B BT - ZERAINFEARKAMBE(THE])
REEXEKFAR  EREREERHFE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessments of goodwill, mining rights and property, plant
and equipment included:
BAMEEEBHEE  RKBEEARYE  BERREBN
BB R L PTERE FF 235 -

—  We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of recoverable
amount of each of the CGU and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias.

- HEMTHTEEREYSEReELSUNTROE
B A S AT BIE - WilRERMEFTRE
MOREMEMERRREEBINEHRYE - T8
BN EBRRNTE -

- We evaluated the composition of management’s
future cash flow forecasts used in their value-in-use
calculations, and the process by which they were
prepared. We found that the cash flow forecasts
prepared by management were subject to review by
the directors of the Company and were consistent
with the budgets approved by the Company’s board
of directors.

- BAFETEEEEHEREESETEANRRK
REMETBROE - UREFEELTEAABIE
BAERERERENReRERANSE BERFE
EEH - WHE SRFEFSHENTAE - -

— We involved our internal valuation experts in
assessing the appropriateness and consistency of
the methodologies used, and key assumptions and
estimates applied.

- BAERMARGEZERFTGARIENERS LM
—HM - ARFATEAM SRR MR o
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(continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter

BEETER

BY GRS
()

ERFTEEER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN BTN AEERAREETSE

Impairment assessments of goodwill, mining rights and property, plant and equipment (continued)

BE - REELURYE - BE R RENRETGE)

For the purpose of impairment assessments,
management grouped the relevant assets of Xingwu,
Jinjiazhuang and Zhaiyadi at the lowest levels for which
there are three separately identifiable cash inflows that
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or group of assets (cash-generating-unit (“CGU")).
Management determined the recoverable amounts of
each CGU using the value-in-use method, which involved
significant judgement in determining the assumptions
used in the calculations. The key assumptions include
long-term coal prices and discount rates.
SRRENEMNS  BERERSEE  SRERFEED
HAEEINRKEKT  HPE=RAEFHAMNNE
ERA - MELESARBOBYUNEMBEENEER
MEeEFLEN(ReEAEN]D)NRERA &
BEREREBEELZEESARSEABUNAINE
B A EEETEAEMARIKEELERAE - @
REXPERPREREBRBEE -

Based on the results of the impairment assessments, no
impairment on goodwill, mining rights and property,
plant and equipment was considered necessary as at 31
December 2020.

BREBERETHNER  BFR_Z_TF+_HA=+
—AHREE REEARYE  BELREFRER
(=

We evaluated the reasonableness of management’s
key assumptions made in the forecasts. For coal
prices, we compared the long-term coal prices used in
the forecasts against the market prices, and assessed
the rate of annual increment by reference to industry
forecasts and market trends. For the discount rate,
we benchmarked the rate used in the forecast against
our research of the discount rates used by comparable
companies in the industry.

BATEEEERRBAANMELEEIERRERS
B o gHRERERME - B BRIEE KR EK K
ERETEELER  Y2RITERIETSBE -
AHEFEIELL R - R X - HAHBRIEA
B R BB IR ITAR B LR A R TR XN
MRAEREITEELLR -
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(continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter

BEETER

(&)

ERFTEEER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN BTN AEERAREETSE

Impairment assessments of goodwill, mining rights and property, plant and equipment (continued)

BE - REELURYE - BE R RENRETGE)

We focused on this area due to the significance of the
balances and the estimation of recoverable amount is
subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty. Thus,
inherent risk in relation to the impairment assessments
is considered significant due to the subjectivity of
significant assumptions.
BMEIZEERRRERNEZN - BT &5
MEFXESEGATHEENTE - it ARE
ABRBHOEHM - ERENHEENESRRRERA
EERH -

= We compared the current year actual results with the
amounts included in the prior year cash flow forecast
to consider the quality of management’s forecasting,
and we checked that management had considered
the current year actual results in the preparation of
this year's forecasts. We questioned of management
to understand the reasons for the deviation of the
actual results for the current year from the prior year's
forecast, corroborating management’s explanations
with our knowledge on the market and the Group’s
performance in the current year. We also checked that
these relevant factors had been taken into account
in this year’s forecasts. We also considered whether
the judgements made in selecting the assumptions
and data would give rise to indicators of possible
management bias.

- HEMBTFEERRER - FERSRERAHR
BENSRETTER  UZEEEBENTRAUEZ
B BMUBRETERBERSZERTAFENER
FBERAUNGRREAFENTER - RMAFERE TR
REEERFBER TFERBALRBRENRRE - &
BEEBBHBRMEMSNTHE EXERAFE
MRIRB IR - HFTRE T AFENTRAHZ
BERTZEHERE - HMEZETHEEERR
MEBBERMEN AT EREERAIRERERRERE
HIEHR ©

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that
the risk assessment of the impairment assessments of
goodwill, mining rights and property, plant and equipment
remained appropriate and the methodology of significant
assumptions used by management in the impairment
assessments were supportable by the available evidence.
BREBEFMMTHREF > BRPARAEE  KBEEARDE -
BB LR B REMENRRTEDAEE - YHEER
BERETEPEANEZRRNTEABIRBER
B ST
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(continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

BB R &
()

H& R

BERFERAHHEMENAREMR HMWENE
O BERARFRTAEENMBER  BETEE
A BEmR LB E R RE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

(continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BY GRS
()

BREMHEA RS M BRRAREN
BfE

BANERRA BTN TRV BRREER
B FEAREFFRERMEBNEAHERR
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(continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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(continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hin Gay, Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

GEREBRHMEEHKER

BE_F_FFF+_A=1—HIFE

2020 2019
—E-EHE —NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Hat FHETT FET
Revenue from contracts with customers KEZEF &AW 5 3,996,951 3,869,308
Cost of sales 5 E R (2,127,744) (1,880,565)
Gross profit EF 1,869,207 1,988,743
Interest income B A 96,294 136,755
Other income and gains/(losses), net Hi A Rz (E18)
HEE 6 219,229 99,575
Selling and distribution expenses HE MR (316,586) (250,051)
General and administrative expenses —mRMITHRER (181,914) (182,291)
Other operating expenses H @ 7 (64,495) (146,476)
Finance costs B 7 X AR 8 (1,250) (4,912)
Change in fair value of derivative PTEMBIAZANTFE
financial instruments 2 g (7.676) (8,555)
Share of (loss)/profit of an associate fEh—REEE A A
(B518) % 7 (195) 27
Profit before income tax BR P 15 B¢ A& R 9 1,612,614 1,632,815
Income tax expense Fristi & A 10 (425,331) (456,674)
Profit for the year FERR 1,187,283 1,176,141
Other comprehensive income FEHMEEEE
for the year
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently E&AIgtEFH D IEEBEH
to profit or loss: BH
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBIBIRKREE
financial statements of foreign 2 [EH ZRE
operations 484,198 (329,530)
ltem that will not be reclassified to BATEHHEEEEN
profit or loss: HH :
Net fair value (loss)/gain on financial Mg EER AV EF AHAM
assets measured at fair value through el /NS ]
other comprehensive income (E518), W a5 358 (1,439) 350,978
Total comprehensive income for the year & E 2 S EEE 1,670,042 1,197,589
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued) ez K

Hitt2H K ER@

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE
2020 2019
—EZEF —NE
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
Kt THET FAET
Profit for the year attributable to: T ATEEEEGER :
Owners of the Company PN/ ZS DN 1,080,041 1,140,413
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR 107,242 35,728
Profit for the year FERR 1,187,283 1,176,141
Total comprehensive income for RTATEEEEZEREZ
the year attributable to: FEEC
Owners of the Company RARHEBA 1,500,734 1,198,776
Non-controlling interests e P e 169,308 (1,187)
Total comprehensive income FEXHRGEHAEHE
for the year 1,670,042 1,197,589
Earnings per share BREF
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) - ERREECEM) 12 20.62 21.51
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2020

Annual Report 2020

SEMBRRR

R-ZFE-FF+=-A=+—H

2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k23 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BEREE 15 3,863,758 3,691,435
Land use rights T b A 16 63,365 60,772
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 21,915 26,076
Mining rights g 18 7,458,999 7,356,663
Goodwill EES 19 1,277,415 1,222,775
Interest in an associate 1) NG P 20 11,918 11,590
Financial assets measured at fair value BAFEFAEMEE S
through other comprehensive income ZHEEE 21 1,082,464 1,083,903
Deposits, prepayments and other e - BN FUR RH A EK
receivables A 22 710,182 539,020
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTGHERE 32 42,131 55,322
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 14,532,147 14,047,556
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 23 131,170 123,530
Trade receivables EWE 5 BR1E 24 666,382 490,613
Bills receivables R EE 24 1,382,762 1,306,706
Deposits, prepayments and other e~ BRFIEREA
receivables FE W IR 22 368,772 319,316
Other financial asset HtysEE 25 = 232,500
Pledged bank deposits EHEIPRITIFR 26 290,298 190,605
Time deposits with original maturity over — RIFZ BB =17 =
three months TEBFER 27 656,500 1,049,501
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeFEY 27 3,405,615 3,712,383
Total current assets REEEAE 6,901,499 7,425,154
Total assets BEEHE 21,433,646 21,472,710
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bills payables EE ZRERENSER 28 592,618 652,566
Lease liabilities HERE 17 5,721 7,119
Other financial liability HEmosasE 29 186,300 178,200
Other payables and accruals E b FIE N ERT B A 30 1,375,271 1,501,517
Derivative financial instruments PTEBET A - 5,117
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  FE BB A 7] LA i
of subsidiaries FKIE 37 52,778 98,158
Tax payables FER TR 275,507 403,277
Total current liabilities REBAEAE 2,488,195 2,845,954
Net current assets REBEEFRE 4,413,304 4,579,200
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FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

As at 31 December 2020
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2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k23 FET FET
Total assets less total current liabilities EEZABERABABEE 18,945,451 18,626,756
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities BLEASTHARE 32 1,635,064 1,559,503
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 19,317 20,941
Total non-current liabilities ERBEBLEE 1,654,381 1,580,444
Net assets EEFE 17,291,070 17,046,312
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners EREEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital N 33 15,156,959 15,156,959
Reserves k] 34 680,207 524,621
Total equity attributable to owners AAREEABGRER
of the Company B 15,837,166 15,681,580
Non-controlling interests FEERRER 1,453,904 1,364,732
Total equity ERBEE 17,291,070 17,046,312

The consolidated financial statements on pages 118 to 220 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2021 and were

signed on its behalf:

Ding Rucai
Tx
Director

EF

FNBHEF2N0AZFAMBHRREN T —_—
FoA-THAREFTSMRETRERRE

Wang Dongming

FLXH
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2020

GERZEER

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

Non-
controlling Total
Equity attributable to owners of the Company interests equity
ARRBEARLER FERER  ERAE
Security
Share  Statutory Other  Retained investment Translation
capital reserve  reserves profits reserve reserve Total
R5RE
Rx  iERE  HtRE  REEN R HERE an
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
Fién T FEn Fiér FiEr Fir FEr Fir FiEr
At 1 January 2020 WZEZZE-B-B 15,156,959 448,068 452,000 1,202,043  (1,369,805)  (207,745) 15,681,580 1,364,732 17,046,312
Profit for the year ERaA - = - 1,080,041 = - 1,080,041 107242 1,187,283
Other comprehensive income ERENZENG
for the year:
~ Exchange differences on - BEBINEREE
translation of finanal BREEL
staterents of foreign BHEE
operations - - - - - 02132 422,132 62,066 484,198
~Net fair value loss on financial - I EERATE
assets measured at fair value SARMEE
through other comprehensive W&z hTE
income EEEE - - - - (1.439) - (1.439) - (1.439)
Total comprehensive income EREENREE
for the year - - - 1,080,041 (1439) 422132 1,500,734 169,308 1,670,042
Transactions with ownersintheir BB AF (R EBEA A
capacity a owners: BAR%:
Buy-hack of shares (note 34(c)  RERI (e 34(c) = = - (505,000 = - (505,000) - (505,000)
2019 final dividend approved EREZZS-NERS
(note 11) REMi1) - - - (461,260) = - (461,260) - (461,260)
2020 interim dividend declared ~ BERZ-E-TFFH
(note 11) k&) - - - (378,888) - - (378,888) - (378,888)
Dividend paid tonon-controlling & FHBAAFAR
interests of subsidiaries BR kS - = S = S = = (80,136)  (80,136)
Appropriations to statutory BREEraRIM0)
reserve (note 34(a)) - N - (E7A)] - - - - -
Aopropriations to other reserves  BHEE (R & 40)
(note 34(b)) - - 39,136 (39,136) - - - - -
At 31 December 2020 R-B-BET2A
=t-f 15,156,959 448,439 491,19 897,429  (1,371,244) 214,387 15,837,166 1,453,904 17,291,070
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HEREZEEHR®@®

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

Non-
controlling Total
Equity attributable to owners of the Company interests equity
YN 2PN 4 EEhER  EREE
Security
Share  Statutory Other  Retained  investment  Translation
Capital reserve reserves profits reserve reserve Total
FARE
Br EERE  AtEE  RERN B HERE g
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKST000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS00  HKS000
T T T T T AT T AT T
At 1 January 2019 R=F-hE-A-H 15,156,959 448,068 430,895 984,107 (1,720,783) 84,870 15384116 1,391,690 16,775,806
Profit for the year EgEH - - - 1140413 - - 1140413 35728 1,176,141
Other comprehensive income EEEMZENE
for the year:
- Exchange differences on - BEBINEREE
translation of finanial BREEL
statements of foreign EXZE
operations - - - - - 92615 (292,615) (36,915)  (329,530)
- Net fair value gain on financial - HEERATE
assets measured at fai value HALHRE
through other comprehensive Wi AT
income h&FE - - - - 350,978 - 350,978 - 350,978
Total comprehensive income FREENREE
for the year - - - 1140413 350,978 (292,615) 1,198,776 (1,187) 1,197,589
Transactions with ownersintheir BB AF (R EBEA A
capacity as owners: BAR%:
2018 final dividend approved Rk ZE-NEXRE
(note 11) REMi1) - - - (#50656) - - (450656) - (450,656)
2019 interim dividend declared ~ BERZ-E-NEFE
(note 11) REMit1) - - - (#50656) - - (450656) - (450,656)
Dividend paid tonon-controlling & FHBAAFEAR
interests of subsidiaries ER kS - - - - - - = 5771y (5771)
Appropriations to other reserves B ZEtEREHEF M)
(note 34(b)) - - 21,165 (21,165) - - - - -
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NETZH
=t-H 15,156,959 448,068 452,060 1,202,043 (1,369,805  (207,745) 15,681,580 1364732 17,046,312
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS GERERE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE
2020 2019
—EEF —T-hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
HtaE FET FHEIT
Cash flows from operating activities REXBRCRERE
Profit before income tax B P15 15 D& A 1,612,614 1,632,815
Adjustments for: EAETSIRE :
Depreciation of property, Y - BEREETE
plant and equipment 15 330,494 243,178
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE 17 5,148 5,162
Amortisation of land use rights i fsF PR AR E 16 1,958 1,781
Amortisation of mining rights PR B8R 18 227,013 195,429
Interest income FEWA (96,294) (136,755)
Dividend income A EHA 6 (48,377) (56,022)
Finance costs BT AR AR 1,250 4,912
Share of loss/(profit) of an associate FE(E— MBS AR R
CaFl) 195 27)
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE - BERE&H#EZ
plant and equipment &8 7 1,671 14,182
Written off of property, plant and MEEmE - BEREE
equipment 7 - 128,784
Reversal of impairment loss of RO B EERERE
financial assets 7 (22,500) =
Change in fair value of derivative TTHMBIAZATEES
financial instruments 7,676 8,555
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss HNESTE 3 (R 2S) /1R R 5 6 (131,178) 16,857
Operating profit before working capital LBEASEIA 2 LE RN
changes 1,889,670 2,058,851
Changes in working capital: LEESEE -
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories FEOEMm R (2,025) 3,086
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and eI E 5 B8R 18 I B W =ik
bills receivables ogm),/ md (147,628) 391,177
Increase in deposits, prepayments and EE - BIREREME
other receivables U FRIE S N (57,029) (18,161)
Decrease in trade and bills payables JERTE 5 BRIE R BN R1E
;e (108,581) (120,343)
(Decrease)/Increase in other payables Efb I FIE R ERTE A
and accruals Cm ),/ 350 (167,428) 44,459
(Decrease)/Increase in amounts due to FETB /B A B JEIE AR i
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries FIECRE D), /180 (9,199) 2,950
Cash generated from operations EEELA R 1,397,780 2,362,019
Income tax paid EfTErEH (560,962) (439,778)
Net cash inflow from operating activities ~— A8&EEFEZH 2R AFE 836,818 1,922,241
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HERERER®

BE_F_FF+_A=1—HAUFE

2020 2019
—ECEF —E—NF
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
HtaE FET FHEIT
Cash flows from investing activities REXEBZRERE
Payments to acquire property, BEYE BEEE&EZ
plant and equipment FIE (467,282) (624,134)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BERREZ
plant and equipment FriS#IR 432 4,532
Payment to acquire land use rights BRAS 1 3 (5 AR #E 2 508 (1,792) (4,158)
Payment to acquire financial assets BEZATESAEM
measured at fair value through other ZHWBR W BEEL
comprehensive income FIE = (78,872)
Payments to acquire other financial asset B EMEI %A E 2 58 - (232,500)
Receipt from redemption of other FE B B Ath B 7% 8 B 2 3B
financial asset 232,500 200,000
Increase in pledged bank deposits BRI IR 1T 17 F A8 0 (91,029) (5,621)
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits with REEZFHEB=@A
original maturity over three months FEEFEROR D, (18 h) 393,001 (195,491)
Interest received AR 112,125 152,446
Dividend received B R 48,377 56,022
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REEBEZHEDTA
investing activities (et JF AR 226,332 (727,776)
Cash flows from financing activities RMEXECRERE
Principal elements of lease payments YTHEEaERS (4,121) (3,117)
Interest paid B A (1,250) (4,912)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company ENAREHE AZKE (860,572) (885,302)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B ATHE A RIFEERR
interests of subsidiaries w2 IR B (119,700) =
Payment on buy-back of shares EIEER% 9 2 3R (505,000) =
Net cash outflow from financing activities — B & EHE 2 H 2 i FE (1,490,643) (893,331)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRRESEEWED),
cash equivalents BnFEEE (427,493) 301,134
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HZRE&RES
EEYW 3,712,383 3,453,325
Effect of foreign exchange rates MIEERBSBHHRASR
changes on cash and cash equivalents RE&EZSEYZHE 120,725 (42,076)

Cash and cash equivalents at
31 December

Rt+-A=+—BzHRER
REeEEY 27 3,405,615 3,712,383
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Hong
Kong. The address of its registered office is 6th Floor, Bank
of East Asia Harbour View Centre, No. 56 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The principal places of business of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group’s subsidiaries comprise coking
coal mining, production and sales of coking coal products. There
were no significant changes in the Group’s operations during
the year. Details of the activities of the principal subsidiaries of
the Group are set out in note 37.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been used in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption
of new or revised standards and interpretations and the impacts
on the Group’s financial statements, if any, are disclosed in note
2.1.1.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs”) and Interpretations and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622 (the “Companies Ordinance”). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments classified as financial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income (note 21) and

“TOTFEEY HEBLEBERSEERQT 127

%v?éﬂﬁ%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ?‘a(%)

BE_F_FF+_A=1—HAUFE

2. FESFEE 2L

2.1 mBEE(H)

BRETOBRABEATEARMLZEK
B MBEEME2)RITEMBIA
ZHBTARRHEFEI A
BROGBRIBEL AL ERR - BRAGH

derivative financial instruments which are measured at fair SEEFMN T XLETBUER -
values. The measurement bases are fully described in the

accounting policies below.

2.1.1 Adoption of new or amended standards and

211 RAR—F_FF—-F—ALHZ
FrETSARNEET BRI R 22 FE

interpretations that are effective on 1 January
2020

The following new and amended standards and
interpretations apply for the first time to the Group's
financial reporting period commencing on 1 January
2020:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Conceptual Framework for ~ Revised Conceptual
Financial Reporting 2018 Framework for Financial
Reporting
Amendments to HKFRS 7, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 Reform — Phase 1

The above standards did not have any impact on the
Group’s accounting policies and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

THUFHET RAIERT A R BT A
SER-_T_TF-F—HRAKZ
MBHREMERER

BREHENE IR BALESR
REEG £

FE8R BT
BERUBRERN EBITE
Exbivd H

—N\E#RE  KEITnBRS
WEBSER oS

BEMBRELER F-RE
BT - BB FEEERE
BELAEIRK
BAGIERE
39%% 2 1&5T

R A A B R A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESEHBE 2B (E)

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2 New and amended standards and interpretations
that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following new and amended standards and
interpretations, which are potentially relevant to the
Group’s financial statements have been issued, but are
not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group's current intention is to apply

2.1 RBEEE(E)

these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 16
ERNBREEMNE16H B
Amendments to HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16
BERRBREERETS - BBEUH
WMEEAE 4 FRABIBREE
BIE 1652 183]
Amendments to HKFRS 3
BRMBEREEREINR 2B
Amendments to HKAS 16

ARG ERE 1652157
Amendments to HKAS 37
BB EREITR 2B

Amendments to Accounting Guideline

5
ERECCIELY P4
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020 cycle
EAMBEREEN "S- \FE_T
i S ) e
Amendments to HKAS 1
BEGHERF IR 2B
Revised Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

BETBERREBESR(CT_TF)
HKFRS 17

BRMBREERE TR
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS

28
BEUSREENE 10K R EBS
KR 285 7 B3]

COVID-19 Related Rent Concession
FERmARERE HeER

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

FBENREEYE

Reference to the Conceptual Framework
BRER 2R
Property, Plant and Equipment = Proceeds before Intended

Use

Wk - BERRE - ERTREANNMETR
Onerous Contracts ~ Cost of Fuffilling a Contract
BREK - BITEHMKAE

Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations

KREHAHOEHEEE
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16 and HKAS 41

BERVBREENE T  BEUBRELUESR - BE
L RRZ 165 RABSHEUNENTR 2B

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

AEARYIERDEE

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

ZIRBRE - ERAHBEREXEERFCBHER
2N

Insurance Contracts

RBED

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

REEEEBENARRENRCERELEIIE

2.1.2 B M 5 R £ 3 2 HaT RAZNEET
ERIR

AT A RE A REN SRR BRZ
A LGB £ k2 BEER
fio - B AREMEAREE N BIETF
R o AEB BB ERZEE
ER 2 BERBERM -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RT3BER2&HRZ
EHREN

1 June 2020
—E-EEXNA—H
1 January 2021

—EB_-%-F—H
1 January 2022

—EB__%-F—H
1 January 2022

—E--#—-f-H
1 January 2022
—ZT--f—-H—H

1 January 2022
—EB__f-F—H
1 January 2022
—EB__%¥-A-H
1 January 2023

“E-=f-f-H
1 January 2023

“E-=f-f-H
1 January 2023

~F-=%-A-H
To be determined

~

FE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2 New and amended standards and interpretations

that have been issued but are not yet effective
(continued)

The Group has commenced, but not yet completed,
an assessment of the impact of the new standards and
amendments to standards on its results of operations
and financial position. However, none of the above
new standards and amendments to standards is
expected to have a significant effect on the financial
statements.

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group (refer
to note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of financial position
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

(iij) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, after initially being
recognised at cost.

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group's share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from associates and joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in
the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group's interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Associates (continued)

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in note 2.9.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests
and any consideration paid or received is recognised
in a separate reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value with the change in carrying amount recognised
in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (continued)
(iii) Changes in ownership interests (continued)

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

2.3 Business combination

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises
the:

e fair values of the assets transferred;

e liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

e equity interests issued by the Group;

e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

e fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’'s proportionate share of the acquired
entity’s net identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combination (continued)
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the
e consideration transferred,;

e amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity; and

e acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified
as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has
assigned executive directors which assesses the financial
performance and position of the Group, and makes
strategic decisions. The executive directors have been
identified as the chief operating decision maker.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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2. FESFEE 2L

2.6 HME®E

2.6 Foreign currency translation

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in HKS$, which is the functional and presentation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
currency of the Company.
(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in
profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they relate
to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net
investment hedges or are attributable to part of the
net investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or
loss, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the statement of
profit or loss on a net basis within other income and
gains/(losses), net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iiij) Group companies
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2. FESFEE 2L

2.6 JMEEBRE ()

(i) EEL A

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

e assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

e income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

e all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign
entities, and of borrowings and other financial
instruments designated as hedges of such investments,
are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the closing rate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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2. FESFEE 2L

2.6 JMEEBRE ()

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iv) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
currency translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share
of accumulated currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership
interest in associates that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to profit or loss.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress (“CIP"), are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost
of an asset includes its purchase price and the costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is de-recognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Other than mining structures, depreciation is provided to
write off the cost net of their estimated residual values over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis, at the
following rates per annum:

Buildings and plants The shorter of the lease
terms or 5%
Mining machinery and 10%
equipment
Leasehold improvements The shorter of the lease

terms or 33'/3%

Office equipment, furniture 20% to 33'3%
and fixtures

Motor vehicles and 10% to 25%
transportation equipment

Depreciation on mining structures is provided to write
off the cost of the mining structures using the units of
production method based on the total proved and probable
reserves of the coal mine as the depletion base.

The assets’ estimated residual values, depreciation methods
and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

CIP is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises
direct costs of construction as well as borrowing costs
capitalised during the periods of construction and
installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the CIP
is transferred to the appropriate class of property, plant and
equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the assets for their intended use are completed.
No depreciation is provided for in respect of CIP until it is
completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the sale proceeds and
its carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.

2.8 Intangible assets

()

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in note 2.3.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in
intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose. The units or groups of units are identified at
the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes, being the operating
segments (note 5).

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses and
are amortised on the units of production method
based on the total proven and probable reserves of
the coal mine.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

e  those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss); and

e  those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s business

model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

()

(ii)

Classification (continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not measured at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

(iii) Measurement (continued)
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Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. The Group classifies all of its debt instruments
at amortised cost:

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in “other income and gains/(losses),
net” together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item
in the statement of profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group's right to receive payments is established.

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets
(continued)
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(iv) Impairment (iv) tE

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis REBHBEALIRBHAATEZ
the expected credit losses associated with its debt BERTAZBHEEBEEITANE
instruments measured at amortised cost. The MRS o FTIER 2 RE T EBURR
impairment methodology applied depends on whether EERBEE KEIEHM

there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and bills receivables, the Group applies the MEKZEZRBEREREEMNE -
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which REBEAEBMHEREERNEI
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised WA ZEIRE  BEREKA
from initial recognition of the receivables, see note FREHMENEEEGVIER

3.1(b) for further details.

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments

EHQW\IEB#]Y’U\&EM\ ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?
3.1(b) °

2N KK T A

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net EAREEERBAE A 98 Sl ITE D EE
amount reported in the statement of financial position EHReHE BAEERFHERLEL
where the Group currently has a legally enforceable ANEREERGEAGER @WK
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an BERBBEEAEKE  LEMBIKR
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and KMEEFE AEETIBEIFEK
settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also HAERERELER TN REEES
entered into arrangements that do not meet the criteria BRI ESLIEER) ©

for offsetting but still allow for the related amounts to be
set off in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the

termination of a contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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2.12 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability
is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the
higher of:

e the amount determined in accordance with the
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of HKFRS
15.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in cash
flows between the contractual payments required under
the debt instrument and the payments that would be
required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount
that would be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.

2.13 Derivatives financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured to their fair value at the end of each reporting
period.

The Group’s derivative financial instruments do not qualify
for hedge accounting and are accounted for at fair value
through profit or loss. Gains or losses arising from changes
in the fair value of these derivative financial instruments are
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) %Aﬁﬁi’%iﬁﬂﬁ%m@

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESEHBE 2B (E)
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Inventories 214 &

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
calculated using weighted average method, and in the
case of finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value represented the estimated net selling prices
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

2.15 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. They are generally due for settlement within 60
to 90 days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See note 24 for further information about the Group's
accounting for trade receivables and note 3.1(b) for a
description of the Group'’s impairment policies.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
in the statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

2.18 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within 30 to 180 days of recognition. Trade
and other payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.19 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESEHBE 2B (E)
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax 2.20 BNHEAREIE RS

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the company
and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The
Group measures its tax balances either based on the most
likely amount or the expected value, depending on which
method provides a better prediction of the resolution of
the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
income tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is
also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or a liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESEHBE 2B (E)

POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued) 2.20 BNHA KR FE AT 15 84 (48)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and liabilities and when the deferred income tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has
a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled within twelve months after the end of
the annual reporting period in which the employees
render the related service. Short-term employee

“TOTFER HEABLBERKEARQF 149
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2. FESFEE 2L

221 EEER
() EHESEF

R E RN RENNERIRMAE
ARG < FEREHRE 2+ @
ARBBREEZREEN (RERE
FERIN) - HHIRBRANERIR
HARRIRG 2 FENHER -

benefits are recognised in the year when the

employees render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result

BRERZFEEMNDNEE TR
BRER - BEHRS A HHEERR
HRBMEL 2Bt FBRAEE

of services rendered by employees up to the reporting B o

date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.

(ii) Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided

through defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund

ARED REHEIERAHERS

BRI T HERR ©

(i) EREF

BB RN TIEBEBERE

SRt

AEERERBIMELTEE (8
DA EGROISENREEMEEE

(“MPF") Schemes Ordinance, for all of its Hong Kong R2HEHBBEETEZREELCERT

employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a

percentage of the employees’ salaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Retirement benefits (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs
to the central pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as employees render services during the year.
The Group's obligations under these plans are limited
to the fixed percentage contributions payable.

(iiij) Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made. Liabilities of bonus plan are expected
to be settled within twelve months and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when they are
settled.

2.22 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the “2012 Scheme” and an employee share
scheme, the executive short-term incentive scheme and
share appreciation. Information relating to these schemes
is set out in note 35.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) %Aﬁﬁi’%iﬁﬂﬁ%m@

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESEHBE 2B (E)
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Share-based payments (continued) 222 LR ARER 2SR E)

The fair value of options granted under the 2012 Scheme TECHEHEBETRECEREAT
is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a BERAREERNAX - MiEmAEE
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be e TR BET2ED R EER

expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of B2 NTEERE
the options granted:

e including any market performance conditions (e.g. the o BREEMTHRIEEE(HINEE
entity’s share price); ZIRME)
e excluding the impact of any service and non-market o TBEEFEMARBEMIETSRRE

BRI (Pl EFIRE S ~ HER K
H ’fﬁﬁfﬂf’fﬁﬂmﬁﬁ%%ﬁ,ﬁﬂ%ﬂ kS

performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the

entity over a specified time period); and D7
e including the impact of any non-vesting conditions o BIEEMIERE RS (IR E R
(e.g. the requirement for employees to save or hold Efﬁgiﬁ—&%i,ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ

shares for a specific period of time). M2

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, R BEREBHEIMEEERBK
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting T TEKR R BER - REHK -
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, ERRBIEMSHEERRBGEY - 85
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options HGst A TRE  BRESE - &
that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting ‘ETJ?\QUEE‘I'%(?(ZZD Bz EBNER
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the WFER - WHERIELBERARE -
revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a

corresponding adjustment to equity.

2.23 Provisions 2.23 15

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Provisions (continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.24 Revenue recognition

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the good
or service is transferred to the customer. Depending on
the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the good or service may be transferred
over time or at a point in time.

Control of the good or service is transferred over time if
the Group’s performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) %%Eﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁﬁ(ﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESEHBE 2B (E)
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition (continued)

Sales of goods (continued)

The Group is engaged in coking coal mining, production
and sales of coking coal products. Revenue is recognised
when the control of the products are transferred to the
customers at a point in time, when products are delivered
to the customers, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customers’ acceptance of the products.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to
the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss
have been transferred to the customers, and either the
customers have accepted the products in accordance with
the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

A contract liability is recognised when the consideration is
received from customers before the goods are delivered. A
receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered and
accepted as this is the point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.

2.25 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets measured at amortised
cost and financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) b E S EIERAC )

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESEHBE 2B (E)

POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Dividends income 2.26 BRE WA

Dividends are received from financial assets measured at RE BE A EF AEMEEI 2 M
fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends TEE EWER o IS TR HCER 2 4 M) R L
are recognised as other income in profit or loss when the FRREZERSEMEA - BIEREB
right to receive payment is established. This applies even WBE AR M INE 102 - IRIEAR B AR
if they are paid out of pre-acquisition profits, unless the T FE N B —IRIR B BB DA o RIS
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of AT WEZAFEFAEMEAEKES
an investment. In this case, the dividend is recognised in ZRERH  BIRENEMEEREA
other comprehensive income if it relates to an investment MR o AT - ZIREXATEFEETR
measured at fair value through other comprehensive BRI -

income. However, the investment may need to be tested
for impairment as a consequence.

2.27 Earnings per share 221 BREF
(i) Basic earnings per share (i) SREXZF

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: BRERBNZFAERER

e the profit attributable to owners of the company, e BEBEBRARAEBAZR
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than M ABRETBERAINZE
ordinary shares. Al SZ AT RERR PR o

e by the weighted average number of ordinary e BRURAKAMEEEANDET
shares outstanding during the financial year, L@k mETEE - Wit
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares FARABETZEBRZALNT
issued during the year and excluding treasury ZEEFAE  BERITE

shares. FEEFRD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESEHBE 2B (E)
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Earnings per share (continued) 227 BREFI (&)

(i) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

e the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares; and

e the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.28 Leases

Prepaid lease payments are classified as land use rights,
other leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.28 Leases (continued)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received,;

e uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the Group, which does not have recent third party
financing; and

. makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which
are not included in the lease liability until they take effect.
When adjustments to lease payments based on an index
or rate took effect, the lease liability is reassessed and
adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

%Aﬁﬂiﬁﬁiﬁﬁ?‘c(@

BE_F_FF+_A=1—HAUFE

2. FESFEE 2L

2,28 HE (18)

RETREBRFE - AKH

° ETum%ﬂT LAE R #AE A B
MRBIME=Z TR E AR - Wi
TR AR E=H & N

KEE G EIL

o ER—BEYIE ZIAELKR
BB B R B E - & M R EEA
El%%ﬁ& EERRETTTH

B ZHERAERONE=ZTTR

& A

. ﬂfﬁLﬁﬁi%ﬂ”'
R~ BIZR - EEMELR

AEEERERIEBNE KA AR A&
MEMNRBEEN B ERERS
BREHERET - EREHHEEXN
ﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ'%%ﬁfﬁﬁﬁ
TEHFE  URBEEAEEEL

B o

HENRERE MM BERAZEOE -
MR AR E AR P - U
B EHREN B EREELR TR TH

FIE o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.28 Leases (continued)
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2. FESFEE 2L

2,28 HE (18)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

e anyinitial direct costs; and
e  restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

2.29 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

2.30 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the group will comply with all attached
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks such
as market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk,
which result from both its operating and investing activities.
The Group does not have written risk management policies
and guidelines. However, the directors meet periodically to
analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’s
exposure to market risks, including changes in interest rates
and currency exchange rates. Generally, the Group employs
a conservative strategy regarding its risk management. As
the directors consider that the Group’s exposure to market
risk is kept at a minimum level, the Group has not used
any derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes.
The most significant financial risks to which the Group is
exposed are described below.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk that the
fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates. The Group mainly
operates and invests in Hong Kong and the
PRC with most of the transactions denominated
and settled in HK$ and Renminbi (“RMB")
respectively. No foreign exchange risk has been
identified for the financial assets and liabilities
in the PRC operations as the transactions were
denominated in RMB, which is the same as
the functional currencies of the group entities
with PRC operation. The Group's exposure to
foreign currency risk primarily arises from certain
financial assets which are denominated in RMB,
United States Dollars (“US$"”) and Australian
Dollars ("AUD").
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
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3. MBEREEGE

3.1 % EEREEGE

(a) Market risk (continued) (a) TiEER (&)
() Foreign exchange risk (continued) () SMNERSR(E
To mitigate the Group’s other exposure to ROE R E B M HNE R
foreign exchange risk, cash flows in foreign b2 - INBIREeREBRBELRE
currencies are monitored in accordance with the ZEBEREBRKETE
Group'’s risk management policies. The financial Ro NZEUREEER 2D
assets that are not denominated in the functional BEE M BIR A B 75 A B (JR IR
currency of the Group's entity, translated into MERRE BET)AT
HK$ at closing rates, are as follows:
2020 2019
—E-8F —E-NE
Expressed in HK$'000 Expressed in HK$'000
WUFBTIR KFETIT
AUD Uss RMB AUD Uss RMB
AT A AR¥ AT ET AR

Financial assets measured BATEF AL

atfairvalue through other 2 E I 2 815

comprehensive income BE 899,629 = - 853,746 = =
Deposits, prepayments s BNZER

and other receivables Hih I8

- Consideration receivables -~ U B = - 186,300 = - 178,200

~ Interest receivables - MR8 = 1,496 5,809 45 13,784 5,890
Time deposit with original ~~ RFHHRBE={E

maturity over three months A 2 E BliF 5 - 310,000 274,990 - 1,049,501 S
Cash and bank balances RBeRF1EH 5487 1,414,148 1,002,235 75,008 521,820 1,165,247
Overall net exposure BERERFE 905,116 1,725,644 1,469,334 928,799 1,585,105 1,349,337
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(1)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

As HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does not
expect any significant movements in the US$/
HK$ exchange rates. No sensitivity analysis
in respect of the Group’s financial assets
denominated in US$ is disclosed as in the
opinion of directors, such sensitivity analysis does
not give additional value in view of insignificant
movement in the US$/HK$ exchange rates as at
the reporting date. The following table indicates
the approximate change in the Group’s profit
for the year and equity in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates
to which the Group has significant exposure at
the reporting date.

Increase/
(Decrease)
in foreign
exchange
rates
Ext#/
(B8

+5%
-5%
+5%
-5%

AUD BT
AUD R
RMB AR
RMB AR
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3. M¥EREE(E)

3.1 % EEREEGE

2020
e i

Effect on
profit for
the year
HEE
pYillod 7
HKS'000
FET

273
(273)
73,467
(73,467)

(a)

(1)

Effect on
equity
HER
&8

HK$'000
FET

44,324
(44,324)

45 3 % (%)

SME [l B (AE)

MmN BTTEETHE - N
BEMET BLEXTE
BEMERES - BREASK
BUAXTIRZMBEEZ
FREDOTLET ARKE -
REAREERRERAHRE
DT BB HEIINEE - B
mEXEL/ BTEERRE
HEBZE#BHITEKN - TR
BRARER (G - AKHE
RBSEHAEERRR) Z2E
EAREES  AREFER
MR 2 B E -

2019
ZE-NE
Increase/
(Decrease)
in foreign
exchange
rates
B b7/
(TR)

Effect on
profit for
the year
HEE
g7
HK$'000
TET

Effect on
equity
iR
LEE
HK$'000
FET

3,753 42,160
-5% (3,753) (42,160)
67,467 -
-5% (67,467) -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. BIERERE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Cash flow interest rate risk

3.1 M EREEE G
(a) FHEE )

(i) HERENEEE

Cash flow interest rate risk relates to the risk
that the cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in the market
interest rates. The Group’s major exposure
to interest rate risk relates primarily to other
financial asset, pledged bank deposits, cash and
cash equivalents and time deposits at bank, the
terms and interest rates are disclosed in notes
25, 26 and 27 respectively.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of
profit/loss after income tax for the year to a
change in interest rates of +25 basis points and
-25 basis points (2019: +25 basis points and -25
basis points). The calculations are based on the
cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December
2020 and 2019. All other variables are held
constant.

ReEREMNERREHH T
BrHEeRELHRTEF
EEHMEBZRAKREREE -
AREFETEEYE 2 FRER
FTEHREMBHBEE B
HRTER RekBeE
EMURETEHERE
B MAREIEREFES
BRI EE25 « 26 R 274 EE -

TERBEBTIFEBRMEBHE
wm A R A E L2528
R-25BF(ZZF—NEF : +25
BF R-258F) 2 BURE - )
ERZZETFR=ZZT—AN
F+ZA=+—HZBH& K
ReFSEWTE - FIBEM

2020 2019
—B-BHF —E-NEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAET
If interest rates were 25 basis points il Fl| =& _E F2524F
(2019: 25 basis points) higher (ZZ—NF : 25%7F)
Profit for the year increased by 125 Mg AN 5,848 9,200
If interest rates were 25 basis points  fifi Fl| R N £ 2524 F
(2019: 25 basis points) lower (ZZF—NF : 25%F)
Profit for the year decreased by FEREFB D 5,848 9,200
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MKEREREE)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 AR REZE(E)
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) TiEER (&)
(i) 1EFEE R

(iii) ~ Price risk

This relates to the risk that the fair values or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices
(other than changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates). The Group is exposed to other
price risk arising from its listed equity investments
classified as financial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
(note 21). Management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk and return profiles and consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

For listed equity securities, an average volatility
of 23.49% and 30.16% (2019: 16.10% and
11.37%) was observed in Hang Seng Index in
Hong Kong and All Ordinary Index in Australia
in 2020 respectively. Had the quoted stock price
for these securities increased or decreased by
that amount, the Group’s security investment
reserve within equity would have been increased
or decreased by approximately HK$299,924,000
(2019: HK$121,784,000).

EBfEREMHETAEZAF
BEXARBESRESHRT
LERES (R XKEXEH
BRINTMKE < RBRERE - &
SEZHEMEBRRRITED
BREAFEFARMGEZE
W MBEEEZ EMBRA
BREMB(MEE21) - EHRE
BT EATRER LD
HBzREMESEEUER -
TEREEREZELE TR

G o
N

HREMZBAES &
BAEEEIRMNAA EBR
FEZ(All Ordinary Index)iA =
E-_EF2FEHRES R A
23.49%%E30.16% (=T — 11
F:16.10% 8% 11.37%) ° i
ZEBFTRBREZRZRBE
EFASTRE - BIAEEER
NZEHEE BNk
S #9299,924,0008 0 (—
T—NF 121,784,000
JL) °

(b) Credit risk (b)) =EEE

EERBRK A RKE ZREAKER
RE e EMERFUR - i
MBEE  CEMRTER - BFE
FEBE = A ZERFHIAKLR
ERREFEYD -

Credit risk arises from trade and bills receivables,
deposits, other receivables, other financial asset,
pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original
maturity over three months and cash and cash
equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Risk management

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any
new customer, the Group uses an internal credit
system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer.
Limits attributed to customers are reviewed
once a year. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.

The credit risk on all pledged bank deposits,
time deposits with original maturity over three
months and cash and cash equivalents of the
Group is minimised as the funds are placed with
major banks located in Hong Kong and the PRC
respectively.

Impairment of financial assets

Trade and bills receivables for sales of goods of
the Group subject to the expected credit loss
model.

Trade receivables and bills receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables and bills receivables.

(1)

(ii)

%Aﬁﬂiﬁﬁiﬁﬁ?‘c(@

—EFEf A= HIEFE

Bt 75 B 2R ()

B % mL B R & ()

(b) FEmpEE)

B R E R

BREEERRE  AEBEX
YT ENEEEEEER

BEWETERAEN - £
REMFEEZA  AKEE
gFEARNBERRATGHE
EEFZEREETREFRF
REEREE - AEBESF
HEFZEREEET X
BERBHRITEMEERER

AR A B 7 5 e [0 Uy i
HAfERS o

AEERMAECEBRITRE
FRGERE@BGE= MHZ
THEFUALRRE MRS
EMZEER ﬂﬁﬂw

&iéA“ﬂfﬁﬁ &
Pz EERT o

EHEERE

AEEHEEEMMELRES
FREMEREEZRNES
EEEBEERN -

FEWE 7 Bk TE K R R 1%

AEBEREEVBRELE
AR SR B IAF ERME
EEER AR ZERUK
BRERREBERA]ERF
HNz AR REE -
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade receivables and bills receivables (continued)

For bills receivables, bills are issued by
counterparties at reputable banks and finance
institution and the credit risk is considered to be
low. Those counterparties do not have defaults
in the past. Therefore, expected credit loss rate
is assessed to be close to zero and no provision
was made as at each of the end of reporting
period.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and ageing profile.

Management considers that full provision would
be made for balances with known financial
difficulties or those not responding to collection
activities, while the expected credit loss rates of
the remaining balances are determined based
on historical credit losses experienced over the
past 3 years and adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information including
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables.

Impairment losses on receivables are presented
as “net impairment losses on financial assets”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account for receivables.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line
item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade receivables and bills receivables (continued)

The following table presents the gross carrying

— = —
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3. M¥EREE(E)

3.1 IERREZE(E

(i) EEEEREE)

(b) FEmpEE)

FEE BHBELEREEARLE 165

FEE 2R N BRE R ()

TREJEKWEZREANE

amount and the provision for impairment losses BREE LB EEERE
in respect of trade receivables:
Lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime Net
credit carrying expected carrying
loss rate amount credit loss amount
AEAEH AEREH
A A L
BERER BAREE BRRE SREHE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FET FHET
As at 31 December 2020 RZ-Z-EF
+t=A=t-H
Ageing category REDEE
Within 1 year —FR 5.3% 703,393 (37,011) 666,382
Over 1 year HiBR—F 100% 161,292 (161,292) -
864,685 (198,303) 666,382
As at 31 December 2019 RZE—NF
+=A=+—AH
Ageing category RN
Within 1 year —FR 10.7% 549,404 (58,791) 490,613
Over 1 year iéch 100% 152,889 (152,889) -
702,293 (211,680) 490,613
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Deposits and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances

For deposits and other receivables, management
makes periodic individual assessments on the
recoverability of deposits and other receivables
based on historical settlement records, past
experience as well as forward looking factors.
There has no recent history of default in relation
to these counterparties. The expected credit loss
is close to zero.

For pledged bank deposits and bank balances,
there has no recent history of default in relation
to those financial institutions and reputable
banks. The expected credit loss is close to zero.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of trade payables and
its financing obligations, and also in respect of its
cash flow management. The Group's objective is
to maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets
and committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully
monitoring expected payments for potential
investments as well as cash-outflows due in day-to-
day business. Liquidity needs are monitored on a day-
to-day basis. Long-term liquidity needs for a 360-day
lookout periods are identified on a monthly basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) %Aﬁﬁi’%iﬁﬂﬁ%m@

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. Bi#EERE (H)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) B 5 L B R 3 (4]
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) #mEELEEEE)

The Group maintains mainly cash to meet its liquidity
requirements for up to 30-day periods, funding for
long-term liquidity needs will be considered when
there is any potential investment identified.

The following tables details the remaining contractual
maturities at the reporting dates of non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payment
computed using contractual rate or, if floating, based
on current rates at the reporting date) and the earliest

AEEBFEHRBESUBM KK
30EHIAZRBESHE - LK
RBRHEBEEREREESRARE

BEeHBERRE -

TREFBOTEMBRENHRSE A
HiZ RIEREHHR - HIRBEKR
MBERERE (BREREHN X
R (W AF )RR E B HRTH
REFE 2 F BT ARAREE A
WERNKZZFAHHE

date the Group can be required to pay:

Total
Within Between Between contractual
one year or one and two and Over undiscounted Carrying
ondemand  two years five years five years cash flow amount
—-£h -3 Gk AORER
FREX [EXd RECH BENL ReHBEE BEE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FEr FEr FEr Fér FEn FEr
As at 31 December 2020 RZEZEE+ZR
=t-A
Non-derivative financial FITEHBAE:
liabilities:
Trade and bills payables EREABERENSE 592,618 = = = 592,618 592,618
Leased liabiliies BEaE 4,487 2,306 6,890 20,698 34,381 25,038
Other financial liability HtHBAE 186,300 = = = 186,300 186,300
Other payables and accruals b ETARESBE 876,508 = = 197,012 1,073,520 993,023
Amounts due tonon-controlling—— [ERMEBA a3
interests of subsidiaries BB 52,778 - - - 52,778 52,778
1,712,691 2,306 6,890 217,110 1,939,597 1,849,757
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE
3. MERKREE(E
3.1 MEREKREZE (&)

(0 nmEEzZEEE)

Total
Within Between Between contractual
oneyearor  oneandtwo  two and five Overfive  undiscounted Carying
on demand years years years cash flow amount
R =5 k| ANRER
JEEL M 2B ik ) RENE RENE4E BEE
HKS$ 000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
&L &L TEL TEL A7 Az
As at 31 Decerber 2019 RZE-NETZA=1-R
Non-derivative financiallabilites: ~ FEATEBTEAE -
Trade and bills payables EREAEERERER 652,566 e S S 652,566 652,566
Leased liabilties HERE 742 2,206 6,607 21,988 38222 28,060
Other financial liabilty HithkaRE 178,200 - - - 178,200 178,200
Other payables and accruals A ENTERETER 803,420 - - - 803,420 803420
Amounts duetonon-controlling—— [ERMBA T3 AR
interests of subsidiaries BRIE 98,158 S S S 98,158 98,158
1,739,765 2,206 6,607 21,988 1,770,566 1,760,404
3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXEE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are: AEBCZERERENRG

(@) To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it continues to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

(b) To support the Group’s ability and growth; and

(c) To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening
the Group’s risk management capability.

(a) MRAEEBREHENAFEREE
g AEERBRR IR R S
HoAth 3540 & 75 R &R

() XFHAKEZBENMER R

(0 REBSNIEAEE R ER

b
Be ©
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MKEREREE)

3.2 Capital management (continued) 3.2 EXEE (&)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
equity holder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency,
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating
cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected
strategic investment opportunities. Details of the Group’s
dividend policy is disclosed under the heading “Dividend
Policy” in the Corporate Governance Report. Management
regards total equity, including its reserves, as capital
which was amounted to HK$17,291,070,000 (2019:
(HK$17,046,312,000) as at 31 December 2020, for capital
management purpose.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose, the
Group defines net debts as total debt plus unaccrued
proposed dividends, less time deposits with original
maturity over three months and cash and cash equivalents.
Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity and
less unaccrued proposed dividends.

During the year, the Group's strategy was to maintain
the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at the minimal level.
In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt
financing or sell assets to reduce debt. As at 31 December
2020, the Group does not have any debt (2019: nil) and
the Group's adjusted cash position (which include cash
and cash equivalents and time deposits with original
maturity over three months less proposed final dividend) is
HK$3,607,450,000 (2019: HK$4,300,624,000).

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

AEBREG N TR MERELE AR
B UBRESREEARE R EREE
BEAZEHR - EEHEZARNEEBR
ZESFERAEAY S  ERNRIEAA
Flgeh - BRAKERERE  BAHER
A RIBRRBERERS - EAEE
BREBMKZHBREEERBREIRE
BE]—ERHEE - REAEREMS
RZE-_TEF+_A=+—H8 &
BHEZzREBEERBIRAER
$#17,291,070,000/8 70 (=T — L4 -
17,046,312,00057T) °

REBREBHFRHLEHBER LXK
ERHBEARARE - BmE  AREZ
BT F B IE BB AR INEE R BER
BB BRERHEB=MEATHF
FARBRE KRS EEY - KREBER
BIEES BRI - AR EIFE
AHEERRE. -

RER - ANEBZ KBS ESFHEY
AR ER 2 RERFTEREAKTE -
ETHBRABRZLLE  AEBEA S
PRI FREZRELEE  BITHR
mAREREEN  EEHEBKRE
FHEEEURDER -R=ZT_TF
+ZA=+—8  AEETETFNES
(ZE2E—NF B)REAEEZEAER
SRR EFEEReEREEEEY R
RERPEA=EAZERERRER
KRHIRL B) A3,607,450,0008 T (=&
— N4 : 4,300,624,000/87T) °

AR B EAEAHE R T AZRRESIN
BN EARRE °
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. BIERERE(E)

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 A¥EME
The following table provides an analysis of financial TREMBRATEIIRMBIARER
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value FEER 2T
hierarchy:
- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets - FIE: HRAEBEERAGER)
for identical assets and liabilities; BTS2 WmECRIES
)
- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included - E2E: pREESEBEMmMERGE]
within Level 1 that are observable for the B sk (Bl ER
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) HEI AR 2B E A
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and (T "BEFIEMBEEZ
HE) : &
—  Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are - B3E: UHBREBAERIMS
not based on observable market data YEMBEBEEEXBRE
(unobservable inputs). ARG A (EBEBERZ
BREA) o
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the BIEVKEEXABEMBAZATEE
financial asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is B DEREATEFEABEAER
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the 2 RERERBEA -

fair value measurement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MKEREREE)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AV EMEH(E
The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value REETBRARNIZAFEFECH
in the consolidated statement of financial position are BEERBEDEDBUATZATERE
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: 3
2020
—E-EF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F18 F2E $3E s
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
HtaF FET FET FEx FET
Financial assets measured &2 F{ET A
at fair value through Hith 2 mE s
other comprehensive A E
income
— Listed equity securities  — ETIAEZAR
BH 3.3(a) 1,082,464 = - 1,082,464
~ Unlisted equity - FELEMRA
securities 3 3.3(b) = = = =

1,082,464 - - 1,082,464
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

%éﬂﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ?‘c(ﬁ)

BE—

—EFEf A= HIEFE

3. IBEREREE)
3.3 AR {EMHEF(E)

2019
—T—hF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E E2E E3E wmE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BtaF FHET FHEIT FHET FHET
Financial assets measured & A F{ET A
at fair value through Hith 2
other comprehensive 2B EE
income
- Listed equity securities ~ — A%
EH 3.3(a) 1,083,903 - - 1,083,903
~ Unlisted equity - JE LT
securities B 3.3(b) = = = =
1,083,903 - - 1,083,903
Financial liabilities BBaE
- Derivative financial - DT
instruments TA 3.3(c) - 5,117 = 5,117
- 5,117 - 5117

There were no transfers between levels during both years.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the
purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged compared
to previous reporting periods.

(a) Listed equity securities

The listed equity securities are denominated in
AUD and HK$. Fair values have been determined
by reference to their quoted prices at the reporting
date and have been translated using the spot foreign
currency rates at the end of the reporting period
where appropriate.

(b) Unlisted equity securities

The fair value of unlisted equity securities included in
level 3 approximates zero.

REZMFEEER - BRzEMEER -
BARETERQAFE 2 770E M hE R & A
RS B R AE B 3 S i
(a) LRI ES
iﬁ%$ B T LR T B TTET
B> AFEDI2ERENRE A

ZHEMEE » WAREHRZIR
EEXBEGER) -

(b) HEFTRAEZES

EHEEIBZIELTRAFZSZ
ﬁfﬁ& T o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) b E S EIERAC )

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MKEREREE)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 A {EME(E)

(c) Derivative financial instruments

The fair value of derivative financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2. The derivative
financial instruments in level 2 comprise forward
currency contracts classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss.

Specific valuation techniques used to value derivative
financial instruments include:

—  the use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes
for similar instruments; and

— the fair value of foreign exchange forward
contracts is determined using forward exchange
market rates at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2020, no outstanding forward
currency contracts. As at 31 December 2019, the
notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward
currency contracts are to sell HK$ and purchase US$
at fixed rates at specific dates. The notional principal
amounts of the outstanding foreign exchange
forward contracts as at 31 December 2019 amounted
to approximately HK$819,956,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$104,624,000).

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade and bills receivables, other receivables, other financial
asset, bank balances and cash, amounts due to non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries, trade and bills payables,
other payables and accruals and other financial liability.

The fair values of these financial instruments measured at
amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.

(o TTEHBIA

WEAFRNISEE 2 TERKT
B (PInsg st TR) N FETE
BEERNEE - FRHERTE
REEATHEEMSEE - mEq
BEE R IRBE R E AT o WAl
RATENFEMEZAHEEEE
A - QAIZT A AF2E - F
ERZOTAMBIEBRESBA
BEAFEFABRZUBEBEZER
HEBAY -

RARITEN B T RETHEZR
EHEXMTEE

- HMHEUTAEAmE®RENL
RHEBE K

- RBREPRREREMEXRE
EINERME K Z AFE »

N-_ZT-_FTE+-_A=+—0 " #
BHAEERPEEAHN N _F
—NWE+—A=+—8 " HEALEE
REEEAN T BEARSTETINE
FEHPEETERELETREA
ETL -RE—NF+_A=+—
B WALEINERBENZEE
NEEEH) 5819,956,000/8 7T (FE
7 #9104,624,000%7T) °

TRAFEAEZHMB TABRERE
ZIRARBWEE - bR FRIE - &
WM HEE - RITEBRIRE - BAH
B RABIHERERIA - BANESKRE
REMNZEE - EtRNFRAREER
AR EAMA B AILE

AERBHEAAFTEZHE TR ZRF
BERTEKREE -
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experiences and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

4.1 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses impairment on property, plant and
equipment, land use rights and mining rights at each
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the
Group that may lead to impairment of assets. Where an
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is determined. Value-in-use calculations performed
in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of
key estimates and assumptions about future events, which
are subject to uncertainty and might materially, differ
from the actual results. In making these key estimates
and judgements, the directors take into consideration
assumptions that are mainly based on market condition
existing at the reporting dates and appropriate market and
discount rates. These estimates are regularly compared to
actual market data and actual transactions entered into by
the Group.

mE MR

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

4,

EEGRTfAE R A

ARAREBEERIEMEAR(BERE
MEATHEAYRAREHZAERBH) R
BRI EET RHIE -

AR ERAR RS REBR - BEEE
BB 2 B E L SAABERS
2 RALSUBRT—EHRFELHAEE
BB ERAE L EARE (53 RER
AR :

4.1 FUBEERE

RERESEH - AREZEDONATLER
AEBEEREZBELHAEDE  BFE
R LR RIRIERE ZRE -
WBERRBETR - AFEZEEZAIR
EE% - ARG RESEAEERE
B FRAREMHELZBATATRE
ZERMFTRMEE - Rt BERER
HRBEREZR - WMEHBAHEEMAR
HERS  EEERTERENREAD
EREMRALGECHERMRARELZ
R - ARG EMEBERTSEIE
RAEE 2 BRI SEHLEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.2

4.3

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests on an annual basis whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance with the
accounting policy as stated in note 2.9. The recoverable
amounts of CGUs have been determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
judgement and estimates about future cash flow expected
to arise from the CGUs, the timeframe for the cash flows
forecast and the suitable discount rates in order to calculate
the present value. In the process of estimating expected
future cash flows, management makes assumptions about
future revenues and profits. These assumptions relate
to future events and circumstances. The actual results
may vary and may cause a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of goodwill within the next financial
year. Determining the appropriate discount rate involves
estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk
and asset specific risk factors. In addition, since the cash
flow projections are extrapolated beyond 5 years and the
remaining license period of the mining rights held by the
Group ranges from 12 to 22 years, management is of the
opinion that the Group is able to renew the license of the
mining rights from the relevant authority continuously and
at minimal charges. Details of impairment assessment are
set out in note 19.

Amortisation of mining rights and
depreciation of mining structures

Mining rights and mining structures are amortised
and depreciated over the estimated total proven and
probable reserves of the coal mines using units of
production method. The Group assesses on an annual
basis the estimated reserve of the coal mine. However, the
remaining license period of the mining rights held by the
Group range from 12 to 22 years which are shorter than
the estimated useful lives of the coal mine estimated by
the Group. Management is of the opinion that the Group
is able to renew the license of the mining rights from the
relevant authority continuously and at minimal charges.
If the expectation differs from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the amortisation charged in the
period in which such estimate is changed.

4.2

4.3

?v?éﬂﬂ%iﬁ%%ﬁ#ﬁ(%)

—EFEL A=+ —HUFE

4. EEGEEERHE &)

EERE

REBRBEM 2.9 2 5 BUR

BFEAABEISSHEMRE - fﬁié
EBfZAIREeRREREEFE
TEEE c WERERENREMELS
ReELBUZRRRERE RN
EBRAZKREAEE A ERBEXRELH
B K (st AGHEIR{E o IMEFHFREIR K

RBen&R BB ARK WS M
FPEHRER ° ZFHRERLEM Sk

/Rﬁ%g Ffﬁ,\lzf’%mu%jzé\xla ! ﬂ\fTAb
BY T AR BRFEREZRRERE
HARHE - EERBERREF R
AR REERERRERZAE

SRE o fbSN - N E HEET RS F H

MzReReEEE  MAEBZE 2K
BT FEFRGHEBENT12E226 1

% BEEERR  AEEREENKE
ERMAMEREERBEEITAE - M
BERHE 2 FIBENKIFE19 -

RERBERBRSREENFE

HEENMBSEEMRABEESEER
FIEMETBRA R AT Ik EEED
BERINE AEESFFEHHEE S
FHEEE o A - NEEFTIFRERETT A
BRIGHENT12E22F » RAEH
MEre MR FERTHAE - EEER
B REBREBEUSEBRERNEEE
BEBREREAF o fHTEHAREFRE R
AR EEEESTEGITLRES
HAfS 2 BESH o
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.3

4.4

Amortisation of mining rights and
depreciation of mining structures (continued)

Engineering estimates of the Group’s coal reserves involved
subjective judgements by engineers in developing such
information and reserves are estimated in accordance
with national standards set by relevant PRC authorities.
Estimates of proven and probable coal reserves involved
subjective judgements and assumption are required for a
range of geological, technical and economic factors, so the
proven and probable coal reserves are only approximate
values. The recent production and technology documents
shall be considered for the estimates of proven and
probable coal reserves which will be updated regularly, the
inherent inaccuracy of technical estimating exists. If the
past estimates change significantly, the amortisation shall
be adjusted during future periods.

Obligations for land reclamation

The estimation of the liabilities for final reclamation and
mine closure involves the estimates of the amount and
timing for the future cash spending as well as the discount
rate used for reflecting current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The Group considers the factors including development
plan of the mines, the geological structure of the mining
regions and reserve volume to determine the scope,
amount and timing of reclamation and mine closure
works to be performed. Determination of the effect of
these factors involves judgements from the Group and the
estimated liabilities may turn out to be different from the
actual expenditure to be incurred. The discount rate used
by the Group may also be altered to reflect the changes
in the market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability, such as change of the
borrowing rate and inflation rate in the market. As changes
in estimates occur (such as mine plan revisions, changes in
estimated costs, or changes in timing of the performance
of reclamation activities), the revisions to the obligation will
be recognised at the appropriate discount rate.

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

EEGRMEE R A B (&)

4,

4.3

4.4
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REEERFEE 2 TGS R TIZAM
EREZFERSERZ ZEBHE -
REDNRTEERE BRI ZBRRE
et » AR A REZ IR F B 2 [BEhs
REBHENRR  ZFEFARA—F
FIME - T AEBERERMT - FHE
AR A BE 2 IR FBERBAE - X3t
REA & RI BE 2 BEIR (A B 1 th B RT Bz
HERIIHz EERKMESR - MitF
BERGERER - ARG EEER
Z TN - B A Z AEt IR E R
B BARKRPEEHHELFE -

HERHK

RREEREHBHNBERTSI LY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

5.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 1. Revenue
from contracts with customers, which is also the Group’s
turnover, represents the sales value of coking coal products in
the ordinary course of businesses which are recognised at a
point in time. Revenue recognised is as follows:

=

FEH EHABLEREEARLIF 177

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

5.

REEFEHAWRER D HER

AEBEZTEXBRHEIRE - RETP
BRWESTAIAREZ 28X - BERER
HEARAERERSEAETHEERERZH
EEE - WaEHEROT

2020 2019

—EoEE —E-NEF

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Sales of raw coking coal REMEE 48,663 107,190
Sales of clean coking coal rEEEEE 3,948,288 3,762,118
3,996,951 3,869,308

The executive directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision-maker of the Company. The Group identifies
operating segments and prepares segment information based
on the regular internal financial information reported to the
executive directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group’s business components and their review of the
performance of those components. The business components
in the internal financial information reported to the executive
directors are determined following the Group’s major product
lines. The Group has identified one reportable segment as
coking coal mining, which represents mining and exploration of
coal resources and production of raw and clean coking coal in
the PRC.

The executive directors regard the Group’s business as a single
operating segment and review financial information accordingly.
Therefore, no segment information is presented. The executive
directors primarily use a measure of profit before income tax to
assess the performance of the operating segment.

HITEFRARAEIELERRE - ~EEH
REEHARTEFTREARBEFIRER
SEXBHMERS EMEMZFHMEX
BZABHEEHE DKL DR R RE DB
BR e MATESHREZATMBEHNAZ
RBEFT > DRAKEIEEME D - A&
BB D —E2FNHFRERFAR - HERPH
PR R B IR IR B TRIA S A EE R R B
B o

WTEEHRAKEEGRE—KENH X
RILEBBM B ER - Bt - WEENDHE
Bt e MITE R T BEMRATEHADEH KT
EREDBIRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

5.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 5.
CUSTOMERS AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

The Group’s revenue from external customers and its non-
current assets (other than financial instruments and deferred
income tax assets) are divided into the following geographical
areas:

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

REFEFEHNKRER D BER (&)

REBIRMEE 5 2 BINE P U REIER
PEEGBTARELEFREHREERIN W
N

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
HRF S FREBEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—BRoEF —_TNF Z—B-BRE —_TNF
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FAETT FAET FHETT FAET
Principal markets FTEMH
PRC F 3,996,951 3,869,308 13,407,293 12,904,496
Hong Kong BE = - 259 3,835

3,996,951

3,869,308 13,407,552 12,908,331

Geographical location of customers is based on the location at
which the goods were delivered whilst geographical location
of non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
assets.

During the year, revenue from two (2019: two) customers over
10% of the Group’s coking coal mining segment amounted
to HK$1,453,909,000 (2019: HK$1,187,334,000) and
HK$1,013,808,000 (2019: HK$992,960,000) respectively, which
represented 36% (2019: 31%) and 25% (2019: 26%) of the
Group's revenue respectively.

BEPHEIRINERZMIEETE - MIER
BEEMRDIZREECERAEER -

RERN - REXEBEEEARSBZR
10%REmZMB(ZE—NF - MB)EF
DAl A1,453,909,0008 T (ZE— N EF :
1,187,334,000/%87C) %1,013,808,000/ 7T
—E— A% 992,960,000/ 7T) © HBME
REBWZE36%(ZZE—NE  31%)%25%
(ZZ—NF :26%) °
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BE_F_FF+_A=1—HAUFE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 6. Hitr ARUz ~(E518) - F8
2020 2019
—EEF ZE—NF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Dividend income PR B M A 48,377 56,022
Income from sales of by-products HERIERZBA 36,291 55,596
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) GNESTE 3 e 25 (B518) 7B 58 131,178 (16,857)
Others HAh, 3,383 4,814
219,229 99,575
7. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 7. Hitt&EMX
2020 2019
—E-EF —hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Written off of property, plant and M - BB &R MEE
equipment (note (i) (K1a%0) = 128,784
Depreciation on property, plant and M - BEREETE
equipment (note (i) (B a2Gii)) 76,414 =
Reversal of impairment loss on BB EERBERE
financial assets (note 24) (Htat24) (22,500) -
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE - BERE&H 2 EE
plant and equipment 1,671 14,182
Geology investigation fee HWEHEE 2,821 =
Others HAh 6,089 3,510
64,495 146,476
Notes: Kt -
()  Upon the commencement of trial production of the lower coal () E2REEBEzTHERBEABREHE

(ii)

seam of Jinjiazhuang Coal Mine, the well entrance of the upper
coal seam was closed down in May 2019. Thus, the net carrying
amounts of the related underground mining structures of the
upper coal seam, amounted to HK$128,784,000, were written off
during the year ended 31 December 2019 (note 15).

According to the plan of transferring the production from upper
coal seam to lower coal seam of Xingwu Coal Mine in 2023,
the additional part arising from accelerated depreciation on the
related underground mining structures of the upper coal seam was
charged in the other operating expenses during the year ended 31
December 2020.

EHFARFOR S NAERABH -
A BE-T—NF+_A=1+—HILF
B FHREZEEF TRISEEY  REF
B128,784,000/8 707 T LA SR (B 3E15) -

REEEEEN — T = F g EER AR
ERETARNG S - B EAR AR T
B2 SR IR T E MBI DETA
BE_ZT - ZF+_A=1t—-HILFENE
i ER T
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8.

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

FINANCE COSTS 8. HM#AA
2020 2019
—EBCEF —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHETT FET
Interest charged on discounted bills BRIR RN EE 2 FI 2B A
receivables - 3,502
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaEZFERE
(note 17(ii) (F1aE17(ii) 1,250 1,410
1,250 4,912
No borrowing costs were capitalised for the years ended 31 BE_ZE_ZFR-_ZF-AF+_A=1+—

December 2020 and 2019.

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax is arrived at
after charging:
Auditor’s remuneration
— audit services
— other services
Cost of inventories sold
Amortisation of:
= land use rights (note 16)
= mining rights (note 18)
Depreciation of:
— property, plant and equipment (note 75)
- right-of-use assets (note 17(ii))
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
(note 13)

AILFE  TEBERACETER -

9. BRFFGHLATEF

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
B ETS R AT E RIS 406 ¢
% A B
- ZEARTE 1,600 1,600
- E AR 470 414
HEFEKA 2,127,744 1,880,565
By
- T E AR 16) 1,958 1,781
- BRRIERE (BT 18) 227,013 195,429
e -
-ME - BB REE R 15) 330,494 243,178
- ERAEEERE70) 5,148 5,162
BIRA(BEESHE)
(Hfat13) 652,903 675,579
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FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

10. FRIEHER

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Current tax — PRC income tax BVERBITE — P FR1SHL
- Current year -REE 393,108 496,406
— Under/(Over) provision in respect of -BAFERETR
prior years (RBEER ) 12,285 (1,000)
Deferred tax (note 32) EER I (K77£32)
— Current year -AKEE 19,938 (38,732)
425,331 456,674

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group had no
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for 2020 and 2019.

In accordance with the Income Tax Law of the PRC for
Enterprises with Foreign Investment, the Group’s major
operating subsidiaries, namely Shanxi Liulin Xingwu Coal Co.,
Limited (“Xingwu"”), Shanxi Liulin Jinjiazhuang Coal Co., Limited
("Jinjiazhuang”) and Shanxi Liulin Zhaiyadi Coal Co., Limited
(“Zhaiyadi”), all established in the PRC, are subject to 25%
enterprise income tax in the PRC.

The Group is also subject to withholding tax at the rate of 5%
(2019: 5%) on the distributions of profits generated from the
Group’s major PRC subsidiaries which are directly owned by the
Group's subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong.

HR-ZE_ZEFR_ZT-NFAEEEEE
WA ERTUEF - BRBRERA MR
RUBBFETIELBE -

REBEERINEEREPBEMBIE  A5&H
RAPBRYZ EELENERR B
MELEREEREMELR(TEE]) - LY
MEFEREERQT (S KD RILTEY
MEEEREERATDI(RERED) 2FED
EFEHEYR25% °

AREBNARBHANEBEEETBEMAL M
BRAERREAZAEEIZTENEBAR
FEL 2R 2 KaEMEN%(—T—NEF
5%) Z L °
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10. FIEHER (8)

?v?éﬂﬂ%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ?‘a(%)

—EF A=+ —HIFE
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Fﬁ %RE}EH } }Eﬁf E+;525u+/ﬁ1ﬁjé

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting

profit at applicable tax rates is as follows: R
2020 2019
—ECEF —NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Profit before income tax B BT 1525 B ) 1,612,614 1,632,815
Tax calculated at the rates applicable to BB REAREER

the tax jurisdiction concerned MEFTE 2 HIE 368,459 385,002
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TRRF X 2 B & 6,172 32,184
Tax effect of non-taxable income AR A 2 g5 & (17,795) (15,466)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIER B E BRI E 4,631 9,068
Utilisation of tax loss not recognised BRAERHEERE (15,298) (2,345)
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on AEBEFZEFEMBARZ

distributable profits of the Group's A 53 K i R AR AN 5 % TE B

major PRC subsidiaries 2B 66,877 49,231
Under/(Over) provision in respect of BAFEBETR

prior years (EBZE#AE) 12,285 (1,000)
Income tax expense PSTHE R 425,331 456,674
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%Aﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi(@

BE—

—EFEL A=+ —HUFE

1. RE

2020 2019
—EEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Dividends recognised as distributions RENERDIRZ KL
during the year:
2019 final dividend of HK8.7 cents —NWERAKREEFR
(2019: 2018 final dividend of HK8.5 cents) LBEARS. 7B (ZE—NF ¢
per ordinary share — \FEREAR E.8.57811) 461,260 450,656
2020 interim dividend of HK7.5 cents —E_TEHRHREETR
(2019: 2019 interim dividend of EER7 SEBIWMZT—NF :
HK8.5 cents) per ordinary share ZE—NFFHERES.5BL) 378,888 450,656
840,148 901,312

(a)

On 21 March 2019, the Board proposed a 2018 final
dividend of HK8.5 cents per ordinary share, totalling
HK$450,656,000 to the owners of the Company in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2018. The final dividend
was approved by shareholders at the annual general
meeting held on 16 May 2019 and was paid on 11 July
2019. The 2018 final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2018 has been reflected as an appropriation of
retained earnings for the year ended 31 December 2019.

On 22 August 2019, the Board declared an 2019 interim
dividend of HK8.5 cent per ordinary share, totalling
HK$450,656,000 for the six months ended 30 June 2019,
which was paid on 30 October 2019.

On 26 March 2020, the Board proposed a 2019 final
dividend of HK8.7 cents per ordinary share, totalling
HK$461,260,000 to the owners of the Company in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2019. The final dividend
was approved by shareholders at the annual general
meeting held on 21 May 2020 and was paid on 23 July
2020. The 2019 final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2019 has been reflected as an appropriation of
retained earnings for the year ended 31 December 2020.

—NWF=ZA=+—H8 EEg&
mmxﬁﬂﬁﬁAﬁ¥@§ TZ—N
F+-A=+—BIFEZ_FT— A
FAREI B FI L BARS. 5B - A
450,656,000/ 70 - ZARBREE R =
E-NFRA+ANBRITZREAFEKR
e FEREIE YR _T—AFtA
+—BEXN - BE—_E-N\F+-A=
+—BIEEZ —E-N\EXRBARKRED
RMEEE-_T—NF+_A=+—H
IFEZREBEFDIR

—hFNAZ+-H E=g€F

/ﬂi%z —E-NFERNA=ZTHIEAREA
2:? NEFREBRESFREBAS.S
Bl - A $£450,656,00058 T 0 W=

2 NEFA=TAXM -

t:¥:¥$ A= +/\E| %%AE
EAARRBEBARBEHE_ZT—H
E+:ﬂ5+f5¢$F2:§ jL
FREARESRE®BRS.7HW - &1
461,260,000/ 7T - ZARAKREE R =
T FRAA+T—HBRAZREASF
A HEREIE IR -_TF+
AZ+=A%f - BEZZT—NF+=
A=t—HUEFEZ=ZT—LEREARK
EERMEBE_ZT-_TF+-_A=+
_Eiﬂzrz{%&l/ﬁnﬁj /JE"
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11. DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d)

On 28 August 2020, the Board declared an 2020 interim
dividend of HK7.5 cent per ordinary share, totalling
HK$378,888,000 for the six months ended 30 June 2020,
which was paid on 22 October 2020.

On 25 March 2021, the Board proposed a 2020 final
dividend of HK9 cents per ordinary share totalling
HK$454,665,000 to the owners of the Company in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2020. The final dividend
is subject to the shareholder’s approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The final dividend proposed after
31 December 2020 has not been recognised as a liability as
at 31 December 2020.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share to
owners of the Company are based on the following data:

%Aﬁﬂiﬁﬁiﬁﬁ?‘c(@

HBE-—T TG+ -FA=+—HIEE
11. RE (&)

(d RZZ2E_ZEFNAZ+/\B EBE=g
REEZ2-_ZE_ZTF A= +E|Jt/\flﬁ
ZIEEFHRHREERLEART.S
AL - A $£378,888,0008 T 0 WHZ
EoRFFA+ AL -

&) M—ZE-_—F=ZA-+HA =EF=
BEAAQAHEBAREHE_S =
TF+_A=+—HUIHEFEZ-_ZT—
TFERBBRBEBRELBIRIBI - &K
454,665,000/8 7T ° sz A B BERFR
EHH%%E??ZHQ%EEKAH ERFE
HEBFAIEE - TF+-A=
+— Efﬁﬁ/ﬁZKﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁb_Afvf =
+-BA=+—BIkERAEEE

777

12. BRER

ARRBEEANREERERNRETRN TR
THBUERETHE

2020 2019
—E-EF —NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit used to determine basic and diluted REE T BRER RS
earnings per share B2 5 A 1,080,041 1,140,413
‘000 shares ‘000 shares
FR FAR
Number of shares RO E
Weighted average number of ordinary shares st EEREARNEEEF 2
for the purpose of basic and diluted TLmAR R
earnings per share 5,237,630 5,301,837
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

12.

13.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 12.

Basic earnings per share is HK20.62 cents (2019: HK21.51
cents), based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$1,080,041,000 (2019: HK$1,140,413,000)
and weighted average number of ordinary shares as set out
above for basic earnings per share.

No share options had been granted under the 2012 share option
scheme since its adoption. Accordingly, as at 31 December
2020 and 2019, there was no share option outstanding and the
Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares
during years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

BRER (5)

AR A AR FERET1,080,041,000
BT (ZZT—NF : 1,140,413,0008T) &
METEGRREARZR A 2 LimaR T
HErE - FREAREFA20.628(L(ZF—N
£ 215184) -

BT —FBRE B ERAARBER
R EMBRE - Bt R-F_FFR
“E-NAF+TZA=1T—B  EEEEER
TERZBEBEE MARARBE_T_TF
MZEB-NF+A=+—BILEFEANLE
EEAEEHEXE N 2B -

STAFFS COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 13. BT (BIEEEHS)
EMOLUMENTS)

2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, wages and allowances e o ITE MR 622,207 625,536
Provision/(reversal) for unused annual leaves  ETi2 (@) KRB A ER 32 (496)
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BB FIET SR 50,686 86,764
672,925 711,804
Less: capitalised in CIP B RERTIRERABEFTEAR (20,022) (36,225)

Total staff costs charged in profit or loss REBZH AR 2 B8 THA 652,903 675,579
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were

EEME

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

14. EERaREEAEMS

ENRENSEEZMEWT ¢

as follows:
2020 2019
S 2 ZBNE
Retirement Retirement
Salaries, benefits Salaries, benefits
allowances scheme allowances scheme
Fees and benefis ~ Bonuses contributions Total Fees  and benefits Bonuses  contributions Total
#é 2RR BIRER e 2R RIRER
ne  EUEA AL HEER L] we  EWEA A HEER #%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000  HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS000  HKS'000
FEr FEr FEn FEn FEn AT AT A TAT T
Executive directors #iEs
Mr. Ding Rucai T %k = 3120 = 18 3138 = 3120 = 18 3138
Mr. Fan Wenl? EXAEE - 2,760 = = 2,760 = 460 = = 460
Mr. Chen Zhaogiang RkEEE = 2,640 440 31 3311 = 2,640 1,100 231 3971
Mr. Liu Qingshan AEN%E = 2,400 400 210 3,010 = 2,400 1,400 28 4,085
Mr. Wang Dongming! IRREE - - - - - - - - - -
Mr. So Kwok Hoo? ey - 1175 - 88 1,263 - 3,000 500 263 3,763
Mr. Li Shaofeng FhBRE - = = = = = 4500 = 15 4515
Non-executive directors FUNES
Ms. Chang Cun BEaL 00 = = = 00 40 = = = 40
Mr. Shi Yubao® BIERE 00 = = = 00 140 = = = 140
Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony? PIRE RS - = S = = 158 = = = 158
Independent non-executive BUFinEs
directors
Mr. Kee Wah Sze REtrs 00 = = = 00 40 = = = 40
Mr. Choi Wi Yin Liegss 00 = = = 00 40 = = = 40
Mr. Japhet Sebastian Law BXERE 420 = = = 420 40 = S = 40
Mr. Chen Jianxiong' R 11 = = = 1 e - S e e
Mr. Chan Pat Lam? Rt 164 = = = 164 40 = = = 40
24715 12,095 840 547 15,957 2398 16,120 3,000 812 22,330
! appointed with effect from 30 June 2020 : BT -_TF A=THREZA
2 retired with effect from 21 May 2020 2 RZZEZEFRA-+—AHRME
3 appointed with effect from 1 November 2019 g BTN Ft+—A—BRERE
4 resigned with effect from 1 November 2019 ¢ RZE-AEFE+—A—HEMG®
5 appointed with effect from 1 September 2019 J B-ZE-NFAA—BREZE
6 6

retired with effect from 16 May 2019

R-Z-NAFRATREREE
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14. EERSREBAEME (E)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office (2019: nil).

During the year, no share options were granted to the directors
in respect of their services to the Group (2019: nil). Details of
these benefits in kind including the principal terms and number
of options granted are disclosed under the heading “Share
Option Scheme” in the Directors’ report.

Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals in the Group in 2020 and
2019 were all directors of the Company and details of their

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above.

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management are include in the analysis presented above.

ExM=@

RER  AEEBRERNEENHE  (FR
RSN Sk hn B AR R By 2 825 Sk /E R B
MECE-NF 8-

WP - I phaE B A S IR AR
BEELBBECE-NE  E) o RS
WARF 2 BN - BRI BRIE Y T B
REE RE S REBRE 2 — 5
R -

[
z
K
&

TEBEMEAR

—ECTERT-NFAEBERBRSM
CABRMBARFES  HEZMEHB
EREXZ AT RER o

ENSENESREEEREZMEEEHERN L
M2 DA -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % - BERKE

Mining Office Motor
machinery equipment,  vehicles and
Buildings Mining and Leasehold furniture ~ transportation
and plants ae structures equipment  improvements  and fixtures equipment Total
BAZRE
BFRERE ERIR BEEEY RRASRRE HENRRE GRREE RERERZE L
HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FET FAT TAT THr THr FET AT FAT
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-7%¥-A-A
Cost AR 1,525,188 1,388,778 938,09 1,711,572 2,965 113872 60,173 5,740,644
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE (602,645) - (239,552) (936,666) (2,965) (104,248) (53,401) (1,939.477)
Accumulated impairment losses ~ 23tEEE#R (109,909) e (40,857) (40,857) S - s (191,623)
Net carrying amount BHZE 812,634 1,388,778 657,687 734,049 - 9,624 6,772 3,609,544
For the year ended HEZZ-NETZA
31 December 2019 SRR
Opening net carrying amount EEEGE 812,634 1,388,778 657,687 734,049 - 9,624 6,772 3,609,544
Exchange differences ExzR (25199 (16,714) (39,487) (19,197) - (445) (194) (101,236)
Additions HE 1,169 435414 - 124,846 - 10,278 2,097 573,804
Transfers an 204463 (1,098,170) 883,061 10,646 = = = =
Disposals HE (1,072) = = (17,518) = (36) (89) (18,715)
Written off (note 7) Wikt - = (126,031) (2,753) = = = (128,784)
Depreciation (1ote 9) FEMRY (80,376) S (32,680) (124,767) S 3815) (1,540) (243,178)
Closing net carrying amount FREDTE 911,619 709,308 1,342,550 705,306 - 15,606 7,046 3,691,435
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+ZA=t-8
Cost AR 1,681,480 709,308 1,547.218 1,670,651 2,965 120,132 58,941 5,790,755
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE (62,870) - (197,408) (925,573) (2,965) (104,526) (51,895) (1,945,237)
Accumulated impairment losses 25t EE#E (106,991) e (7.320) (39,772) S - s (154,083)
Net carying amount BESE 911,619 709,308 1,342,550 705,306 = 15,606 7,046 3691435
For the year ended HEo30%%
31 December 2020 t=A=t-A
LEE
Opening net camyingamount ~~~ FAIREFE 911,619 709,308 1,342,550 705,306 S 15,606 7,046 3,691,435
Exchange differences ExzZ 41,103 34972 58,845 31,669 - 763 321 167,673
Additions AE 89 228,995 - 99,108 - 7,059 1,996 337,241
Transfers g5 79,288 (106,098) 2,673 4,190 = 947 = =
Disposals HE (85) = = (2,018) = > = (2,103)
Depreciation (note 9) ez (84,845) = (119,753) (118,845) = (5,106) (1,945) (330,494)
Closing net carrying amount ERERTE 947,169 867,177 1303315 719,410 = 19,269 7418 3,863,758
At 31 December 2020 N
+ZA=t-8
Cost RiAfE 1,837,108 867,177 1,639,763 1839212 2,965 133,743 63,557 6,383,525
Accumulated depreciation 2HHAE (778,085) - (328,796) (1,078,222) (2,965) (114,474) (56,139) (2,358,681)
Accumulated impairment losses ~ 25HEEE R (111,854) = (7.652) (41,580) = s = (161,086)
Net carrying amount BEFE 947,169 867,177 1,303,315 719,410 = 19,269 7148 3,863,758
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group is still in the process of
obtaining the building ownership certificates for certain buildings
with net carrying amount of approximately RMB101,376,000
(equivalent to HK$116,582,000) (2019: RMB105,430,000
(equivalent to HK$115,973,000)). In the opinion of directors
of the Company, the Group has obtained the rights to use the

%Aﬁﬁiﬁﬁiwé} ()

BE—

15.

—EFEf A= HIEFE

M - BB KRR

RZE_ZEF+-_A=+—8 AE£E]N
EAETEEFENARE101,376,0007T
(HHE R 116,582,000/87L) (ZE—LF : A
R#105,430,0007T (##E 7 115,973,000/%
ﬁ))Z@%EEE EEEMERE - ARFES
RE - AEEDERBSERET 2 ERE -

buildings.
16. LAND USE RIGHTS 16. T EFARE
The Group's interests in leasehold land and land use rights REBNREE T & it AR 2 R IER
represent the prepaid lease payments under operating leases. KERES N2 BNHAERA -
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2019 T—-NF—HA—H 60,062
Addition //J\\E 4,1 58
Amortisation (note 9) B (A aE9) (1,781)
Exchange differences EHE=R (1,667)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+_A=+—8H 60,772
Addition NE 1,792
Amortisation (note 9) #sE (M 7t9) (1,958)
Exchange differences EHER 2,759
Closing net carrying amount FIRAREDFE 63,365

During the year, amortisation expense of HK$1,958,000 (2019:
HK$1,781,000) has been included in general and administrative
expenses.

RER - #iE51,958,0008 T(ZZE— N
F:1,781,0008 L) EFF A — R EITHE
ﬁﬁ o
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
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17. FREEERHEEEE

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated () REESHBERAKRBRAZLEE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the FREMBARRRBERAT BB L R
following amounts relating to the leases in respect of lands NIGHHE S/
and office premises:
2020 2019
—ECEH —T-hF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FA&T
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Land and office premises T R RIS 21,915 26,076
Lease liabilities HEAE
Non-current FEmED 19,317 20,941
Current mE 5,721 7,119
25,038 28,060
No additions to the right-of-use assets during the year BE_Z_ZEFER-_FT-AF+A=
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. T—RALEE  BEFECHAREE -
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) REzeEEREMEAERERE

statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income shows the following amounts
relating to the leases in respect of land and office premises:

BT

FEBEakEMEANRERBRATAE
MR RS EE 2 S8

2020 2019

—ECEF —T-NF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 9)  {# B EIT & (H1:£9) 5,148 5,162
Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 8) & & &2 7| B X (#17%8) 1,250 1,410
The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31 HE_Z-_FTF+_HA=+—8L

FE mHEEzRsRLBEA
5,371,000 70(=Z — L4 : 4,527,000
BIT) e

December 2020 is HK$5,371,000 (2019: HK$4,527,000).



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(continued)

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these

are accounted for

The Group leases various lands and offices premises. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 34

years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
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17. ERREEREERE(E)

(iii) AREHEEFHRUOMEHE
ARk

AEEBERZELI R RS - A
BRBENEEBRIEMFAE

MEGRRIZERNEERER - UBIERA
PNRMGER S AR - (R HAR A
EEEZEMERI  HEBRBRTE
MEMZEE - BEEETSRAIEERE

by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for Eiii

borrowing purposes.

18. MINING RIGHTS 18. HIERE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Opening net carrying amount FYREFE 7,356,663 7,751,953
Amortisation (note 9) B (K7 E9) (227,013) (195,429)
Exchange differences EH=E=R 329,349 (199,861)
Closing net carrying amount FREEFE 7,458,999 7,356,663
Gross carrying amount BRmBE 10,844,212 10,372,726
Accumulated amortisation RETE (2,712,007) (2,372,127)
Accumulated impairment losses Z2EHRERE (673,206) (643,936)
Net carrying amount BEEFE 7,458,999 7,356,663

The estimated remaining useful lives of the mining rights range
between 31 years and 40 years based on exploration reports

prepared in accordance with the relevant PRC standards.

During the year, amortisation expense of HK$227,013,000

(2019: HK$195,429,000) has been included in cost of sales.

RRBREFEAREARE BHERESE - K
Wi 2 fhEt R ERF RN F315FE40
f'z o

RER - B85 227,013,0008T(ZF—
N 195,429,000/ 70) B 5T ASHER A o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE
19. GOODWILL 19. B8
2020 2019
—E-FF —NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Opening net carrying amount FYREEFE 1,222,775 1,255,559
Exchange differences ERER 54,640 (32,784)
Closing net carrying amount FREMFE 1,277,415 1,222,775
Gross carrying amount IRmEE 2,169,564 2,114,924
Accumulated impairment losses ZEHRERE (892,149) (892,149)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,277,415 1,222,775
Impairment tests for goodwill EERENR
A summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below: HESEZMENT
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHETT FET
Xingwu Y 728,676 696,994
Jinjiazhuang BRHE = -
Zhaiyadi EEK 528,028 505,070
Jinshan Energy Group Limited (“Jinshan”) e ILaERER AR (2 L]) 20,711 20,711
Net carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+—B2EEFE 1,277,415 1,222,775

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no impairment loss
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income (2019: nil).

As described in note 4.2, the recoverable amounts of CGUs
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations, which
are based on certain key assumptions including growth rates
and discount rate. The recoverable amounts as at 31 December
2020 were measured by an independent valuer, Asset Appraisal
Limited, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

BE_T-_ZTHF+-_A=+—HULEFE ¥
BERGE R EMEEKERAERRE
BRCT-NF 8-

NPT EE4. 2 At

REELS

£z A m

TROEEREBENEAEE - MEME
ENREETEIEBRREEBRRLBE
R -RZF-_FTF+-_A=+—HZTHKE
SRIIBBY AT B EEENMERRE
RARETE  RABBREMEE €8 -
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

To determine the recoverable amounts based on value-in-use
calculations, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessment of time value of money and the risk
specific to the CGUs.

Cash flows were projected based on the financial budgets
prepared by management covering a 5-year period, the cash
flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady
percentage growth rate below.

The remaining license period of the mining rights held by the
Group range from 12 to 22 years which are shorter than the
estimated useful lives of the coal mines estimated by the Group,
management is of the opinion that the Group is able to renew
the license of the mining rights from the relevant authority
continuously and at minimal charges.

The key assumptions of discounted cash flow models were as
follows:

Growth rates 1 £ 2
Discount rate BhIR &
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19. &E (&)

AR E R (&)

RIFEABEFEREIRE@EE - HEtAR
Kiﬁi/}|bg?7&ﬂq—f&ﬁg%ﬁﬁ ?ﬁi’giﬁ/ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁ
BERMRSELBEMTERR G2 BAR
MR EHIRE o

ReEMENRBEREURR CSFUBRE
EmER SFHENBZREREFERT
BT EDLLIEREEE o

REEFE 2 REEFT A B R RHAR N F12
ENRF  GAKEGE 2 REE A ERF
HRE BEEERS  ARBEREENRE
ERNEBME REBRBERTAIE -

MBERERERB Z TRERAOT ¢

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF

+2% +4 41% -4 49% +2°/o

d: :I:

12.15% 12.44%

The annual growth rates applied by management are consistent
with those estimated in the industry reports and do not exceed
the growth rates of long-term coal prices. The discount rates
used by management are the pre-tax interests rates that are
able to reflect the risks specific to the related asset groups and
consolidation of asset groups.

As at 31 December 2020, management believed that any
reasonably foreseeable change in any of above key assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of goodwill to exceed the
recoverable amount.

BEEEBRAZFRERETETEREPMHZ
BEX-H - I THEERAKRERZER
R EEEFERIMREZEARREBEER
EARFTERR&REERS G ZHATHE -

AR EF+_A=+—H EBERZ
TETTLL??J%UE”*’LZEHAI%TTEE“EM@
TEEYBECFRRERBKREEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) b E S EIERAC )

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE
20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 20. R—EBERF 2 ERE
2020 2019
t g 32 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHETT FAET
As at 1 January Rn—HA—H 11,590 11,880
Share of (loss)/profit FE(R (E548) /% F (195) 27
Exchange differences ER =R 523 (317)
As at 31 December W+=ZA=+—8 11,918 11,590
Particulars of the associate at 31 December 2020 are as follows: ZBMERNRRZEEF+=HA=T—82
HBWAT
Place of Principal
incorporation and activities and Particulars of Effective interest held
Name kind of legal entity  place of operations  registered capital by the Group
AR Lt B TEEBR
a8 FEEERER B A AMERFE TEBEERES
2020 2019

—BCRF —TNF

Luliang Jin Yu Cangchu PRC, limited liability Provision of coal RMB42,000,000 35% 35%
Company Limited* company* storage services in
the PRC
ARERERERLDA FE - BRAA P Bl ER A IR AR #42,000,0007T
(17 AR5
*  The English translation is unofficial and for identification purpose * BXERRWIEEF  EHER -
only.

*  Registered as state-owned enterprise under the PRC law. tRBPEDAEAMARAIEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

21.

Summary of financial information of the Group’s associate
as extracted from its unaudited management accounts is as

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

FEH BHBELEREEARLE 195

20. A —EBE QT 2B ()

AEBEBERRZHBEERBARILT - B
B a EREEXEERE ¢

follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
As at 31 December R+=—B=+—8H
Non-current assets EMBIEE 26,759 26,911
Current assets mBEE 3,852 3,018
Non-current liabilities EmBIEE - -
Current liabilities mEaE (3,575) (3,525)
Net assets BEFE 27,036 26,404
For the year ended 31 December BE+-A=+—HLFE
Revenue Wz 1,341 2,046
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE (E518) /%R (556) 76
Other comprehensive income HE e mlks 1,188 (720)
Total comprehensive income FHE WS BEE 632 (644)
Dividends received from associate AL NI N = =

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR

21. BAVEFARMEZERE 2%

VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE BE
INCOME
2020 2019
i —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FEr
Equity securities, at fair value RAEZES - AT E
— listed in Australia (note (a)) - RN BT () 899,629 853,746
~ listed in Hong Kong (note (b)) - REE LW (B D) 182,835 230,157
1,082,464 1,083,903
Unlisted equity interest (note (c)) FE LR ARE R (7T () - -
1,082,464 1,083,903
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NOTE

S TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

Notes:

(a)

This represents an investment in a company listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange Limited (the “Australian Securities Exchange”),
Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“Mount Gibson”).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group directly held 13.82%
(2019: 14.15%) interest in Mount Gibson and the fair value of
the investment in Mount Gibson was HK$899,629,000 (2019:
HK$853,746,000) which represented the market value with
reference to its closing price denominated in AUD as at that
day on the Australian Securities Exchange. A fair value gain of
HK$45,883,000 (2019: HK$370,339,000) was recognised in the
security investment reserve during the year ended 31 December
2020.

This represents an investment in a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, APAC Resources Limited ("APAC").

As at 31 December 2020, the Group directly held 17.65% (2019:
17.65%) interest in APAC and the fair value of the investment
in APAC was HK$182,835,000 (2019: HK$230,157,000) which
represented the market value with reference to its closing price
denominated in HK$ as at that day on the Stock Exchange. A
fair value loss of HK$47,322,000 (2019: HK$19,361,000) was
recognised in the security investment reserve during the year
ended 31 December 2020. During the year ended 31 December
2019, the Group accepted the right issue for subscription of
71,700,000 shares of HK$1.10 per right share.

This represents the cost of 7% (2019: 7%) equity investment in
an unlisted company incorporated in the PRC. As the entity ceased
operation during the year ended 31 December 2013, a fair value
loss of approximately HK$8,890,000 was recorded against the full
investment cost in 2013.

The fair value of the Group’s investments in listed and unlisted

equit

y securities has been measured as described in note 3.3.

%é

BE—

Mﬁﬁ%%%@)

—EFEf A= HIEFE

1. BAFEFAEMEE WS 2 M5

EEE)

Hrat

(@ WAEMBEBNELEZXSHERAR(DRME
ZArl) EWA A Mount Gibson Iron Limited
(TMount Gibson]) Z#&%& -

R-E-_TF+-_A=+—H KEEFHE
A Mount Gibson 13.82% (=& — .4 :
14.15%) 25 - MM Mount Gibson& & ~
NF1{EA899,629,0008 T (—F— NL5F :
853,746,000i8 1) » BN MR E B RN E R
FTbCRITEHEZ KT EEE 2 TE - ERE
B _ZF+-_A=+—RHIEFEEE?
WERBEER A FERZEA5,883,0008 7T
(ZZ— A% : 370,339,000/ 7T) °

b) WARBIXMEMARZAERERAR
(EREBER)2IKE -

RZZE_ZTF+-_A=+—RH A& H
HEEBEGSAKERI7.65% (T —NF :
17.65%) % MREAREREEZAR
F{EA182,835,0008 L (—F— L4 -
230,157,000/ 7T) @ BN MR % B B AT LA
BILTEZKTEEEZTE - EREE
TECEFE+-_A=+-RIEEEZH
A REERAFERIBA47,322,0008 T
—ZT— 1% 19,361,000 7T) - REE—
T-NF+_AZ+—HLEEFE X&EH
BEEITHR A SR ERBRMD 1108 TRE
71,700,000f% f% 15 °

(© WAR—HEPBEFMERIZIELTRAZ
7% (ZZF—NF 7% RATEZKA -
\ME\LEA%ZE_ﬁ_:fF'T':)EIE‘T'—E
LFEELER MR- —=FEBERE
}%L’iﬁ-ﬁ/&ﬂ?fﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁs,wo,ooo;‘%ﬁ o

AEBR EMRIELTRAZTLRREZAF
BIYEWFE33FTlEET £ ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) b E S EIERAC )

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

22. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 22. &€ ENFEREMEKRRE

23.

RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
—E-EHE —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Non-current ERE
Deposits for a potential mining project AJREEIT 2 FRIRIE B iRe 162,011 154,967
Prepayments for CIP and property, EEIEARDE  BER
plant and equipment BB RIE 504,762 342,532
Prepayments for land-use rights T AR 2 TER IR 43,409 41,521
710,182 539,020
Current B
Consideration receivable for the transfer of R 127 %R A = R
27% equity interest of Jinshan (note 29) REFRHE29) 186,300 178,200
Prepayments TET IR 158,837 110,532
Interest receivables FEULFI B 7,680 23,508
Deposits and other receivables B& R E A EWGRIE 15,955 7,076
368,772 319,316
INVENTORIES 23. &
2020 2019
kS - —T—-NEF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Spare parts and consumables B {4 B JH 7% o 47,734 58,991
Coking coal =y 83,436 64,539
131,170 123,530
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, no inventories were stated RZEBEZEFRZE-—NF+A=+—

at net realisable value.

B BMEFERAITERFEETIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

24. EREZREREBRERE

2020 2019

—E-SHF —E-NF

HK$°000 HK$°000

FHAET FHET

Trade receivables FEUNE FBRIA 864,685 702,293
Less: Provision for impairment loss OB REEEEE (198,303) (211,680)
666,382 490,613

Bills receivables eI =5 1,382,762 1,306,706
2,049,144 1,797,319

Trade receivables generally have credit terms ranging from 60
to 90 days (2019: 60 to 90 days). Bills receivables are expiring
within one year. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all of the
trade and bills receivables are denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2020, bills receivables included an amount
of RMB189,963,000 (equivalent to HK$218,458,000) (2019:
RMB253,042,000 (equivalent to HK$278,346,000)) were
pledged for bills payables of RMB174,208,000 (equivalent
to HK$200,339,000) (2019: RMB244,840,000 (equivalent to
HK$269,325,000)) (note 28).

The Group endorsed certain of its bills receivables with full
recourse to the creditors. In the event of default by the debtors,
the Group is obliged to pay the creditors the amount in default.
The Group is therefore exposed to the risks of credit losses and
late payment in respect of its endorsed bills receivables.

The endorsement transactions do not meet the requirements
for de-recognition of financial assets as the Group retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the
endorsed bills receivables. As at 31 December 2020, bills
receivables of RMB100,500,000 (equivalent to HK$115,575,000)
(2019: RMB70,604,000 (equivalent to HK$77,664,000))
continue to be recognised as bills receivables despite they
have been legally transferred to the creditors. The proceeds of
the endorsement transactions are included in trade payables,
other payables and amounts due to non-controlling interest of
subsidiaries until the related bills receivables are collected or the
Group settles any losses suffered by the creditors.

EUWE ZEREBEEEH KN T60=E90H (=
Z—NF : 60290R) - EREBEN —F K
B - RZE2ETFER-_F-NF+ZA=
+—8 - FrTEEKRE ZIRE R EREERG I
ARMETE -

RZE-EFE+-_A=+—H8 EREE
AR 189,963,000t (FHE14218,458,000
BIL)(ZE—NF : AR®253,042,000
T (MEE 278,346,000 7T)) 2 RBE D E
AENEERARY174,208,0007T (FBE R
200,339,000 ) (ZE—NF : AR
244,840,000t (4% 7 269,325,000/ 70))
(Pfff5E28) 2 $E AR -

AEBEEEETEAAZEEYPEZEERE
BTEEA - MEBABRFKEA  ~NEEE
FERASMRER SR - Bt - NEER
BERUEBAXEEBRIEBENR 2R

B -

ZHERHIUITHFAREBERMBEELZ
HE AAELAEBNARBEERKER
HEEZBRFPEBEEH KRZT=
TE+-A=Z=+—8 BHREBEARE
100,500,000 T (#8& 7 115,575,000/ 7T)
(ZZE—h%E : AR#70,604,000THEER
77,664,000 D)) B EER ARINEE - 8
RZEEZBCRFHETERA - BEXS
ZHTSRIBY AN E SRE - EMERK
EREMNBARIFIERERNE  HEEE
28 B U 2 4 40 Ut [B) s AN SR [ 4 B (0 AR
ZAMEEAEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) %Aﬁﬁ’%iﬁﬁrﬂﬁmﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 24. R E FIREREWEE(E)

As at 31 December 2020, the bills receivables endorsed to RZEZZEF+_A=+—H RESE
trade creditors, other creditors and non-controlling interest EE"/\ Eﬁﬂﬁ%/\&ﬂﬁ% RIEE R E =
of subsidiaries amounted to RMB1,900,000 (equivalent EEZRWEES R/ ARE1,900,000
to HK$2,185,000) (2019: RMB6,964,000 (equivalent to TT(HE 2,185,000 T) (ZE— 4 :
HK$7,660,000))(note 28), RMB82,900,000 (equivalent to AR #6,964,0007T (H8E 5 7,660,000%
HK$95,335,000) (2019: RMB63,640,000 (equivalent to 7)) (f3E28) -~ AR #82,900,0007T (48
HK$70,004,000)) (note 30) and RMB 15,700,000 (equivalent to E195,335,000BT) (ZE—HLF : AR
HK$18,055,000) (2019: nil) (note 31) respectively. #63,640,0007T (48 E 770,004,000 7))
(M15E30) R AR 15,700,000t (FHE R
18,055,000 L) (ZE— N5 : &) (M=
31) °
As at 31 December 2020, ageing analysis of net trade RZEBEZEF+ZA=+—08  REHEA
receivables, based on the invoice dates, is as follows: HRECERBEZEEFBCRR O
T
2020 2019
—ECEF ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Up to 90 days 9Q0H AT 666,382 490,613
As at 31 December 2020, ageing analysis of bills receivables, RZBZZFT+ZA=1T—H  BREEEK
based on the bills receiving dates, is as follows: HEREERERZREROTET ¢
2020 2019
—B-BF —ZE-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FE&r
Up to 90 days 90H AT 803,790 789,949
91 to 180 days 91£180H 569,772 512,357
181 to 365 days 181%&365H 9,200 4,400

1,382,762 1,306,706
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

25.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade and bills receivables. Note 3.1(b) provides
for details about the calculation of the allowance.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Impairment losses in respect of trade and bills receivables
are recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is
satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case
impairment loss is written off against trade and bills receivables
directly.

Movement in the loss allowance of trade receivables is as
follows:

%A

BE—

24,

Eﬁ%#ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?‘a(%ﬁ)

—EFL A= —HIFFE

AEBRBEEVBRELERNFIRBX
FAEEHBEEER XMMERKESR
AREWREEERAERFHANBHER
Bt o M3 1DIRH T AR ERE 2

&

AEBWRAZFHEHFAEMERR -
EWEZREARBEEER ZBERBERTIER
BEMRACEE - FRFAREEMZ TR WE
REE - EUIERAT - BEBRERRER
B 5 RANERR IR o

EWE ZIRAERREEZNT

2020 2019

—EEHF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

At 1 January Rn—A—H 211,680 217,453

Exchange differences EHER 9,123 (5,773)

Reversal of impairment loss (note 7) BRI EEIE (K7 7) (22,500) =

At 31 December R+=—A=+—~H 198,303 211,680
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSET 25. Hih it & &E

As at 31 December 2020, there is no other financial asset RZZE-_ZEF+_-_A=+—H  ~E£EEL

held by the Group. As at 31 December 2019, other financial
asset represented a one-year 5.50% coupon guaranteed bond
with total principal amount of US$30,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$232,500,000) due on 15 April 2020. The bond has been
fully redeemed upon maturity.

EREEMMBEE R_Z—hF+=
B=+—8 EtWMBEEEALRSBREAL
30,000,000 7T (1B & 7 232,500,000/ 7T.)
MN-E-ZENA+ABEH 5508 &

HESREES - BHCREIHREREE
@o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

26.

27.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2020, deposits of RMB252,433,000
(equivalent to HK$290,298,000) (2019: RMB173,277,000
(equivalent for HK$190,605,000) was pledged for bills payables
of RMB129,109,000 (equivalent to HK$148,476,000) (2019:
RMB129,800,000 (equivalent to HK$142,780,000)) (note 28).
The pledged bank deposits were denominated in RMB and
approximate their fair value due to short maturity.

The directors of the Company consider that the fair value of
the pledged bank deposits is not materially different from their
carrying amount because of the short maturity period.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME
DEPOSITS AT BANKS

%A

BE—

26.

27.

Eﬁ%#ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%(%ﬁ)

—EEf A= AR
EEARITERK

R-E-_ZTFE+-_A=+—H AR%
252,433,000t (fHE 7 290,298,000/8 7T)
—h&F : AR#173,277,0007T (18
EH 190,605,000 ) FRIEAARYE
129,109,000t (}8E 7 148,476,000/ L) (=
T—NF : AR¥129,800,000C (HHE R
142,780,000 70)) 2 BT & (I 5128) 2 K
o DEMBITEIEOAARESELAR
HEBA&RE  EinEAYE -

ARBEZERR  AREEMRITERRE
HRE Y EAVPEERAELYESERNE
Eli o

BERBSEEYUREBITER
F

2020 2019
kS - —T—-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash at banks and on hand BT KFHREES 630,752 963,891
Time deposits at banks IR1T T EATFERR 3,431,363 3,797,993
Bank balances and cash RITERAES 4,062,115 4,761,884
Less: Time deposits with original maturity i RIFR AR =EA 2
over three months EHER (656,500) (1,049,501)
Cash and cash equivalents RERREFEY 3,405,615 3,712,383
Cash at banks generates interest at the floating rates based on RITHRSREARTERNERFE ZZEH
the daily bank deposit rates. AR o
As at 31 December 2020, funds of the Group amounting to RZE-_EF+-_A=+—H &X&EEHZ

HK$593,085,000 (2019: HK$1,068,189,000) were deposited
in bank accounts opened with banks in the PRC where the
remittance of funds is subject to foreign exchange control.

&4 4 %/5593,085,00008 T (ZF— h4F :
1,068,189,0008 JL) F AL A B Z SR1T BT
MY ZRITEPL  MESERAIINEE
Hil o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

28. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

28. EHESRERENEE

2020 2019

—EBCEF —E-NEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHETT FET

Trade payables BB SR8 243,803 240,461
Bills payables EREE 348,815 412,105
592,618 652,566

The Group was granted by its suppliers credit period ranging
between 30 to 180 days (2019: 30 to 180 days). As at 31
December 2020 and 2019, all of the trade and bills payables are

denominated in RMB.

Based on the invoice dates, ageing analysis of trade payables as

at 31 December 2020 is as follows:

AEBEEEERR TN T30E21808(ZF
—NF 302180 2 EEH - RZEZF
FR-T—NFE+_A=+—H FEER
BHRBRENEBEAAREE -

REZZEH BNESREAR_ZT_TF
TA=+—BAZEEATOT

2020 2019

—g-2F —T-N%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#T FHETT

Up to 90 days 90H AT 152,054 170,043
91 to 180 days 912 180H 53,784 38,528
181 to 365 days 181F365H 14,769 11,488
Over 365 days 3658 A £ 23,196 20,402
243,803 240,461

As at 31 December 2020, RMB129,109,000 (equivalent to

HK$148,476,000) (2019: RMB129,800,000
HK$142,780,000)) out of RMB303,317,000

equivalent to
equivalent to

(
(

HK$348,815,000) (2019: RMB374,640,000 (equivalent to
HK$412,105,000)) bills payables were secured by the pledged

bank deposit (note 26). Remaining bills payables amounted
to RMB174,208,000 (equivalent to HK$200,339,000) (2019:
RMB244,840,000 (equivalent to HK$269,325,000)) were

RZZEZZEF+-_A=+—H EHEE
AR #303,317,0007T (FH&12348,815,000
BIL)(ZE—NF : AR¥374,640,000
T (M E 412,105,000 7T)) PRI A R #E
129,109,000 T (A& 7 148,476,000/ 7T)
—E—NF : AR¥ 129,800,000t (48
EH 142,780,000/ L)) AE EIFIR1TTF
K(MTFE26)1EEE - B TRNZEHRARE

secured by bills receivables (note 24).

174,208,0007T (#8& #200,339,000/87T)
(ZZE—hFE : ARY244,840,0007T FEE R
269,325,000 7T) ) LA FE Uk 2245 (B 3£ 24) 1R
ﬁ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

28.

29.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, trade payables of RMB1,900,000
(equivalent to HK$2,185,000) (2019: RMB6,964,000 (equivalent
to HK$7,660,000)) were settled by bills receivables endorsed to
corresponding creditors which did not meet the de-recognition
requirements (note 24).

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY

On 30 December 2016, Shougang Resources (Hong Kong)
Limited (the “Transferor”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
a wholly owned subsidiary of Shougang Group Co., Ltd. (the
“Transferee”) for the transfer of 27% equity interests of
Jinshan at RMB162,000,000 (equivalent to HK$186,138,000).
In addition, the Transferor irrevocably undertakes to repurchase
the 27% equity interests of Jinshan from the Transferee (“Put
Option”) at the same consideration of RMB162,000,000
plus interest of not more than RMB20,000,000 under certain
conditions.

The transfer of 27% equity interests of Jinshan to the Transferee
was completed during the year ended 31 December 2017. This
change in the Group’s interests in Jinshan does not result in a
loss of control and Jinshan remains a subsidiary of the Company.

As at 31 December 2020, the financial liability arising from
the Put Option for the repurchase as disclosed above to the
Transferee represented the present value of the repurchase
obligation on or before 31 December 2021 (2019: on or before
31 December 2021) amounting to RMB162,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$186,300,000) (2019: RMB162,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$178,200,000)). As at 31 December 2019, the expiry date
of the Put Option was extend to 31 December 2021 and such
option was classified as current liability since there was an
option agreed between the Group and the Transferee to initiate
the repurchase procedures under certain conditions before 31
December 2020.

%é

BE—

28.

29.

Mﬁﬁ%%%@)

—EFEf A=t ALEE
BNEZREARENREE

R-_E-_ZEF+-_A=+—H ENEZ
E%&E%19ooomhtﬁa“ﬁi18500&%
TT(ZZE—NF : AR¥6,964,0007C (HHE
7,660,000 ERBE THEGEAZ
EWEELETE  ZERERERTTHEEH
HX;%ﬁEﬁE\Z%EE(MTEJI_ZLD

Htt 8 E

RZZE—ARE+_A=+B  KQF&E&
MBAREMER(BEB)BRAR([#EE
AEsHEEER AR — B2 ENB
ARI([RBADITIEEWZ  UARKE
162,000,0007T (FHE 7 186,138,000/ 1) &

BEU27 %A © I BREARZE
AEHR A BRI AR S TR T ABERR

BARE162,000,0007TH0 F FRAEAR
#20,000,0007CE1EE & 1127 % A& A ([3R
JHEARE]) o

AIXBEAEEDIL27T%RAEZEREE
Rt Ft+-A=t+—BLEFEARATK -
AEERSUERZEH TS ERAEER
KelzgtgASLDARRRZHEBA
EIS

RZZBZEF+_A=+—H ' EXHME
BRXEARBROHARESE - HWFEEE
R-EBE-—F+-_A=+—H=zp(=Z
—NEF  RZBE-_—F+-A=+—H="x
Bz BEEERERARE162,000,0007T
GWWN86womm%ﬁM:%fn¢'A
R ¥162,000,0007T (8 & 7 178,200,000/
L) c RZE—HFE+ZA=+—8 " R4
HEZIHAERE_ZE-_—F+_-_A=+
—H BARAEBEEXZEAZBERT B
A _EF+_A=+—HZAEREK
HTRBEERFOHE  ZRGHEWS
HARHEE -
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
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BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

30. HttENFIE R EFTE A

2020 2019

—EBCEF —E-NEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHETT FET

Contract liabilities AHAaE 19,955 113,294
Accrued wages, salaries, bonus and staff BErTE  FHe - Ak

welfare BTIEF 134,704 134,649

Accrued reclamation obligations TEIR1EZRE A 116,515 103,903
Payables for property, plant and equipment  FEfT¥IE - = KR EH M

and construction TEKIE 340,556 327,685

Payables on endorsed bills receivables ENEERKERE 95,335 70,004

Other accruals HMESEA 240,003 229,208

Other levy payables H At FET RS 227,589 346,251

Other payables E b T FRIE 194,282 166,081

Amounts due to other parties JET EAth A ZFRIE 6,332 10,442

1,375,271 1,501,517

As at 31 December 2020, other payables of RMB82,900,000
(equivalent to HK$95,335,000) (2019: RMB63,640,000
(equivalent to HK$70,004,000)) were settled by bills receivables
endorsed to corresponding creditors which did not meet the de-
recognition requirements (note 24).

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2020 that was included in the contract liability balance at the
beginning of the year amounted to HK$113,294,000 (2019:
HK$133,929,000). The Group expects to deliver the goods to
satisfy the remaining performance obligations of these contract

R-ZE-TE+-F=+—H HMEFE
18 A R 82,900,000 (#8E 795,335,000/
TT(ZE—NF : ARM63,640,0007T(HHE
770,004,000/ 7T)) E BB E THREGEA
ZERWERES  ZERREBIYTFESE
FEUSER 2 R T (FisE24) -

HE-_ZT_ZF+-_A=Z=+—HLFE
WABRBERFEVFAGHNEESRSE
113,294,000/ L (ZZF — 14 1 133,929,000
BIL) c REBEHN —FR—FURRN
ERUBTRSANABEZIHRBHET -

liabilities within one year or less. The Group applied the practical AEERBERAZFE  WARAEEERE
expedient and does not disclose the information relating to the Raea—Fk—FUAZKARBOETHBAZ
remaining performance obligations that have original durations =8 e

of one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

31.

32.

AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The balance as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is denominated
in RMB and is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand. As at 31 December 2020, amounts due to non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries of RMB15,700,000
(equivalent to HK$18,055,000) (2019: nil) were settled by bills
receivables endorsed to non-controlling interests which did not
meet the de-recognition requirements (note 24).

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax assets recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and their movements during the
year are as follows:

FEE BHBELEREEARLE 205
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31.

32.

FE A5 B BB X B FE 42 IR R 51 7R IR

RZBZEFR - NEFF+-_A=+—H
ZEBTUAREE  AEEE - 28K
BIREREE R-E_ZTF+=-A=1+—
B BAMBAREERER Z RBBAREK
15,700,0007T (4 & 718,055,000/ 7T) (=
T—NE B ZHECHSE T IRERE
HAZEBRERES  ZERREBLTHF
HBEBBUERER ZHE FisE24) -

ELESHEERER

FERREABHRRERR BEAGH E
ERAEBOT

Provision
BiE

2020 2019
—E-FF —F-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January R—H—H 55,322 22,752
Exchange differences ERER 2,173 (1,645)
(Charged)/Credited to profit or loss (note 10)  ($0B%), st AfBz= (BfaE10) (15,364) 34,215
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 42,131 55,322
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32. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES (continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

R EERBSHEERERGE)

FARGEUBRNRERZELHERE

statement of financial position and their movements during the BERESEHOT :
year are as follows:
Property,
plant and
equipment
Withholding and mining Mining
tax rights funds Total
M- BE
REHEUR
B g REES k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T T T
(Note)
(&)
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—N4%F
—H—H 54,274 1,492,239 60,023 1,606,536
Exchange differences EHER (1,622) (38,969) (1,925) (42,516)
Charged/(Credited) to profitor 1k (Gt A) B3
loss (note 10) (HtzE10) 5,943 (21,259) 10,799 (4,517)
At 31 December 2019 and RZZE—NE+=A
1 January 2020 =+—HAk
—T_EF
—H—H 58,595 1,432,011 68,897 1,559,503
Exchange differences MENER 3,024 64,595 3,368 70,987
Charged/(Credited) to profitor 1k (Gt A) 1B
loss (note 10) (Bfz£10) 16,202 (22,296) 10,668 4,574
At 31 December 2020 R-B-ZEF+=A
=+—H 77,821 1,474,310 82,933 1,635,064

Note: Pursuant to changes in certain regulations of the PRC
government, the Group is required to set aside the production
maintenance fee, safety fund, and other expense of similar
nature (collectively the “Mining Funds”). As such amounts are
deductible for tax purpose when they are set aside but are
expensed for accounting purpose only when they are utilised,
a deferred income tax liability is recorded for the temporary

difference in respect of excess fund set aside for tax purposes.

Wat - REBEHEBRFETHRIZZS - KAEEA
BEEBRE Z2BERHEMAEEUEE
ZER(GHEIREES])  BRREEHE
RIEERA TN ESR ST = EREH
BATIX MHABBME  EREZH

Z B Mk
AR -

PPN
S E Al

CAE R EE 2 RIERSHIA
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32. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND
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32.

LIABILITIES (continued)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, no deferred income
tax assets has been recognised in respect of the deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses arising from
certain subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and PRC as it
is uncertain whether future taxable profit is available against
which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can
be utilised. Deferred income tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of the following items:

ELESHEERERGE

NRZE_EFR - NFF+A=+—
B ERees TR S ARKRERBAF A AIE
WA HUR R =2 R AL B R B 1R
W ERREREEMPBEFMK L2 E T
MEBARZ MRS EZARABAHEE
BRERELEEHREE - WE T EE
RIELFTSIHREE -

2020 2019

—B-2HF —E-NF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Deductible temporary differences AR E R SR 178 352
Tax losses MIRE 18 488,256 515,225
488,434 515,577

The Group has tax losses of approximately HK$106,509,000
(2019: HK$94,893,000) which shall expire in three to five
years (2019: two to five years) and tax losses of approximately
HK$381,747,000 (2019: HK$420,332,000) are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arise.

REEA#106,509,00008 T (ZFE— N4 -
94,893,000 L) 2 HIEBEBEBENR =—"ZERF
(ZZE—hF: —EEF)RIE > ZAAE
REFBIERNEEEIBZ AR Z RKRERT
B 2 B IEE1E49381,747,0008 L (&2 —
FLEE ¢ 420,332,000/ 7T) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T _TEL _A=+—HIFE
33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. &4
Number of shares Amount
BHEE &5
2020 2019 2020 2019
—E-BF _—_T-hEF ZZBZIEF _—IT-NF
‘000 shares  '000 shares HK$’000 HK$'000
FE Fh& FET FET
Issued and fully paid: ERTREAR
At 1 January ®n—H—H 5,301,837 5,301,837 15,156,959 15,156,959
Less: Buy-back and cancellation & : [a 3% &% 7% $4
of shares (note 34(c)) B& 15 (H15E34(c) (250,000) = - =
At 31 December R+-_A=+—8H 5,051,837 5,301,837 15,156,959 15,156,959
34. RESERVES 34. fR1E
(a) Statutory reserve (a) ZERE

(b)

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of
the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries are required to appropriate
10% of its profit after tax, prepared in accordance with the
accounting regulation in the PRC, to the statutory reserve
fund until the statutory reserve balance reaches 50% of
the registered capital. Such reserve may be used to reduce
any losses incurred or for capitalisation as paid-up capital.

Other reserves

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is
required to transfer production maintenance fee, safety
fund and other expense of similar nature (“production
and maintenance funds”) at fixed rates based on relevant
bases, such as production volume, to a specific reserve
account. The production and maintenance funds could
be utilised when expenses or capital expenditures on
production maintenance and safety measures are incurred.
The amount of production and maintenance funds utilised
would be transferred from the specific reserve account to
retained earnings.

(b)

RIBFBEEBERZIER  PEMBR
AARRTESTROIREIEREI0%
ZBEBRBNELERHBESR  BEEE
ERBREREZMERZ50%B1E ° %
R AR E R EERETEHE
o

Ht

REBEEETEIER - AREARREE
FHRBEEEREENEKEHE 22
ENMBEUMENEMRAS (EHEES])
HREERRER - #EES NGRS
RZ2HEHREERIREARZEE
- EBANERESSRBNERRG
BREBBRERERAN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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34. RESERVES (continued) 34.

(c) Reserves movement of the Company

FEE BHBLERKEARLE 209

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

@ (&)
() AATFZHERE

Retained
profits Total
R R W
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
At 1 January 2019 RZE—NF—H—H 842,517 842,517
Profit for the year FEHA 972,582 972,582
2018 final dividend approved BHEZ - N\FREARE (450,656) (450,656)
2019 interim dividend declared BEERZ-ZE—NFHERKRE (450,656) (450,656)

At 31 December 2019 and R-ZE—-—NF+=-—A=+—H

1 January 2020 r—ZE-_ZTF—F—H 913,787 913,787
Profit for the year FEH A 1,495,556 1,495,556
Buy-back of shares (Note) ElEE AR 10 (K at) (505,000) (505,000)
2019 final dividend approved B EZ —E—NERBKRE (461,260) (461,260)
2020 interim dividend declared BERkZ —_E-_ZTFHERKE (378,888) (378,888)
At 31 December 2020 RZEZTF+ZA=+—H 1,064,195 1,064,195

Note: Pursuant to the resolutions passed by the shareholders of
the Company on 3 September 2020, the Company has
bought-back 250,000,000 ordinary shares at the offer
price of HK$2.00 per share and those bought-back shares
were then cancelled on 28 September 2020. Thus, the
number of issued shares was reduced by 250,000,000. The
total consideration of HK$500,000,000 and the related
expense of approximately HK$5,000,000 were debited the
retained profits upon the completion of this transaction on
28 September 2020.

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 35.

On 25 May 2012, a share option scheme (the “2012 Scheme")
was adopted by the shareholders of the Company and the
2012 Scheme became effective on 29 May 2012. No share
options have been granted since the adoption of the 2012
Scheme. The maximum number of shares of the Company
("Shares”) available for issue upon exercise of all share options
which may be granted under the 2012 Scheme is 530,183,784,
representing 10.5% of the Shares in issue as at 31 December
2020 and as at the date of this annual report.

HeF: BEAQRIBRER-_ZT-_ZTFAN
BZRABBZREER  ARQF
EERENHEETR2.008 00 HE
250,000,000f8 L@A% © AER=
Z_TENATNBEHZE
EEZRD - Bt - BEITERD
2B 2 250,000,000/% - &K (E
500,000,000t R AR H X4
5,000,000 TER—_Z_ZFNA
“HNBERRAZ G ERE G
Bk -

BRETE

RZE——FRAAZF+HH  NAFKEE
M7 —EERETE (= —=F5T8)) -
TE-—FFHEBER_ZE——FRA=-TAI
ARk - B T — —F:1 2% KQF
WR AR L EAERE - WESITEREZ
T FHEIN R ERE - AT
ARG (B0 )8 E &% /530,183,784
- MERZE_ZEF+-_A=1+—HMNAK
FHREABHDEITRMNA105% °
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The 2012 Scheme were designed to reward and provide
incentives to, and strengthen the Group’s business relationship
with the prescribed classes of participants, including but not
limited to eligible employees and directors of any member of the
Group, who contributed to the development of the Group.

Under the 2012 Scheme, the exercise price of the options is to
be determined by the directors and is at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares on the date of grant. Each of the grantees of the 2012
Scheme is required to pay HK$1 as consideration for the grant
of share options. An option may generally be exercised during
the period commencing on the date of grant and expiring on
the date as determined by the directors, but in any event not
more than 10 years from the date of grant.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates,
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive directors. In addition, any share options granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their associates, in excess
of in aggregate 0.1% of the Shares in issue (based on the date
of grant) and an aggregate value of HK$5,000,000 (based on
the closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant), within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

Details of the principal terms of the 2012 Scheme are disclosed
under the heading “Share Option Scheme” in the Directors’
report.

No options were exercised, granted or cancelled during the
year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. No share option was
outstanding as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

35. B R AEST 8 ()

T FFERFERLBRAEEERZ
22 B0 1R (H HR D IA K% DN o8 AN 6% (B B 10 55 2 i
ZEBBEMR - ZFHETHEMN228ER
RETRREAEEERFELERZAKHE
EAXRERARIZEEREERES -

BT —F5r8 BREZTEERES
EE  TREROREHBENEBIAEA
BERABZBROKTE  (MRERRHA
R AEZEXRAEBIMEARERMAERZ
Bedn U E ¢ KGR R B 82 B An E
E=FzRmE BH_FT—_F5t8l 2%
BRAERBERBERENIBETZRE - B
RE-—RIAREEEEEEEE A S
RLIEATE - BEEABR IR EER
B R 105 -

AARFRESE  ZRTHRABRETEZRENX
TR E s BMBEALEDERE  BREB
SIEITEE 2 EEPE o SN - FEEM[I2
18 A AR A A A A B 3 B A% R sk (R 98 3 3k
WITESRAMESHEA TR L BIREG
BTN AERBIB0.1% (RFZH B 85t
B) R 4E{EFEB5,000,0005 T (R B A& EF
HRBZBRHETENEHERBRERS
FESARETB SR ©

R FFEZEERRZHBINES
SMmEBRAE S -8 RE -

REZ_E-_TEFER-_ZT—AEFE+_A=+
—HIEFER  BETE B RFHEBR
Eo-RZEZEFR-ZFE-NF+A=F
—B - WERRITEZEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

36. HOLDING COMPANY'’S STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

%Aﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi(@

—EFEL A=+ —HUFE

BE—

36. AZE-EFEF+-_A=1+—HE£ER

DA Z BRI R

2020 2019
—EEHF —NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 46 70
Interests in subsidiaries R E A TZEM 37 120,456 120,456
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG B 12,181,440 12,122,413
Total non-current assets ERBEEHE 12,301,942 12,242,939
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries R NGIE L] 1,627,434 2,146,176
Deposits, prepayments and other & - BNRmEkEM
receivables JE Ul SR IE 7,471 13,696
Time deposits with original maturity RIFF AR = A 2
over three months TE BRI 584,990 1,049,501
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEEY 1,970,649 903,985
Total current assets RBEEHAE 4,190,544 4,113,358
Total assets EEHAE 16,492,486 16,356,297
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE{SB B AR FIE 241,554 235,326
Other payables and accruals E At T FRIE R FERHE A 29,778 50,225
Total current liabilities REBEEHRAE 271,332 285,551
Net current assets REBEEFE 3,919,212 3,827,807
Net assets EEFE 16,221,154 16,070,746
EQUITY &
Share capital [N 33 15,156,959 15,156,959
Reserves e 34(c) 1,064,195 913,787
Total equity EREE 16,221,154 16,070,746

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2021 and was

signed on its behalf:

Ding Rucai

Director

EF

RRRZHBRRKER _E_—F=A=
THHEESFSRAETRREE

Wang Dongming
FLH
Director

EZ
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37. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 37. R B A Bl 2 =

FEMBATIN -_E-_ZEE+-_A=+—8H

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 are

as follows: BT
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation and Principal activities and share capital/ Effective interest held
Name kind of legal entity place of operations registered capital by the Group
SRR LB RAT BRTRE/
£ BERER FTEXBREXLE aMERFE FEEMEERER
2020 2019
“BIBE _TNF
Xingwu" PRC, limited liability Mining, production and sales  RMB250,000,000 88% 88%
company?* of coal in the PRC
fm hE - BRAA! RPARERK - 22K  AR¥250,000,0007
HERK
Jinjiazhuang" PRC, limited liability Mining, production and sales  RMB374,000,000 65% 65%
company? of coal in the PRC
ERHE E - AR RPERERK - £ER  AR¥374,000,0007
HERK
Zhaiyadi® PRC, limited liability Mining, production and sales  RMB800,000,000 95% 95%
company? of coal in the PRC
RER P BRAAF! R ERE  £2R  AR¥800,000,0007
HERK
Shanxi Fushan Resources Group PRC, limited liability Development and utilisation ~ RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited™ company” of energy resources and
operation management
LERLEREEERAR" HE - BRAA %R AERERNR AR 10,000,000
BEER
Jinshan” PRC, limited liability Investment holding, RMB600,000,000 67% 67%
company? production and sales of coal
products in the PRC
2 P BRAAF! Rep B R AR - AR ¥600,000,0007C
EEREERER
Liulin Luenshan Coking Company PRC, limited liability Production and sales of coal  RMB330,000,000 44% 44%
Limited ("Luenshan”)" company products in the PRC
MRS LRCERAR(BILD™ B BRAA RPBERELERFER  AKR¥330,000,0007T

Em
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37. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. RIMtB AR 2 % (8)

Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation and Principal activities and share capital/ Effective interest held
Name kind of legal entity place of operations registered capital by the Group
SR LS KA BRITRE/
2B BRER FTEXBRERME aMERFHE FREfGERREL
2020 2019
Z2ZBF  _TNF
Fu Hui Investments Limited Hong Kong, limited Administration and HK$100 (100 ordinary 100% 100%
liability company investment vehicle of the shares)
Group in Hong Kong
RERAERARAT & BRAA REBRATSERHERR 10087 (EBR100R)
REEH
Fu Hui Jewellery Goldsmith Hong Kong, limited Investment vehicle of the HK$2,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited liability company Group in Hong Kong (2,000,000 ordinary
shares)
RERELITARRAR BB ARLA REBRARERHERE  2,000,000%7T
% (%7%2,000,0008)
Thechoice Finance (HK) Limited" Hong Kong, limited Investment holding in Hong ~ HK$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
liability company Kong
BE(BR)BRAR &E - ARAR REARERELR BT (EER1K)
Worldman Industrial (HK) Limited" Hong Kong, limited Investment holding in Hong ~ HK$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
liability company Kong
EREEB)BRAR" &R BRAR REBREREER 1BT(EBRIR)
Gumpert Industries (HK) Limited" Hong Kong, limited Investment holding in Hong ~ HK$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
liability company Kong
RER(EB)ARAR" B8 BRAR REEREREER 1ET(EBRIR)
Fushan Resources Group Hong Kong, limited Investment holding in Hong ~ HK$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
Management Limited liability company Kong
BLEREEERERAR &E  BRAT REARERELR BT (EER1K)
Shougang Resources (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, limited Investment holding in Hong ~ HK$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
Limited" liability company Kong
BENER(ER)BRAR &R BRAR REBREREER 1BT(EBRIR)
Jade Green Investments Holding BVI, limited liability Investment holding in Hong ~ US$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%

Limited

company

Kong

RBRLHE  ARDA REANERERR

1ET(ERRE)
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37. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. RIMtB AR 2 % (8)

Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation and Principal activities and share capital/ Effective interest held
Name kind of legal entity place of operations registered capital by the Group
SR LS KA BRITRE/
2B BRER FTEXBRERME aMERFHE FREfGERREL
2020 2019
Z2ZBF  _TNF
Thechoice Finance Limited" BV, limited liability Investment holding in Hong ~ US$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
company Kong
RERAEE  ARAF REBMAERELR 1ET(EBRR)
Worldman Industrial Limited* BV, limited liability Investment holding in Hong ~ US$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
company Kong
RERAEE  ARAR REBMAFRELR 17T (&A1)
Gumpert Industries Limited" BV, limited liability Investment holding in Hong ~ US$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
company Kong
RBRAEE  ARRA REBREREER 1ET(EBRIR)
Fushan Energy Group Limited BV, limited liability Investment holding in Hong ~ US$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
company Kong
BLEREEBRAA KERLES ARAR REBRERALR 1T (EERR)
Maxease Limited BV, limited liability Investment vehicle in Hong ~ US$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
company Kong
RERAEE  ARAF REBUFRERK 17T (ERARIR)
True Plus Limited BVI, limited liability Investment holding in Hong ~ US$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
company Kong
RERAHS  ARAF REBRERESR 1ET(EBRIKR)
Benefit Rich Limited Samoa, limited liability ~ Investment holding in Hong ~ US$1 (1 ordinary share) 100% 100%
company Kong
#EARAH BET  BRARF REARFREER 1ET(EBRIR)

*

only.

These companies are indirectly held by the Company.
The English translation is unofficial and for identification purpose

i Registered as sino-foreign entity joint ventures under the PRC law.
~ Registered as wholly foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC

law.

ZERRHARRMEEREAR -
RXGERIIETTT - BHER -

REDEZREMATFIEGERT -
RETEZEZEMAINEBEDRE -
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38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following table lists out the information relating to
subsidiaries of the Group which have material non-controlling
interest (“NCI"). The summarised financial information
presented below represents the amounts before any inter-
company elimination.

2020

NCI percentage FEIE IR AR LE A

As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H

Current assets MENEE

Non-current assets EMEEE

Current liabilities mEaE

Non-current liabilities EmEBE

Net assets BEFE

Carrying amount of NCl FEIERERREE

For the year ended BE+=-A=+—H
31 December LEE

Revenue Was

Profit for the year FEH A

Total comprehensive income iﬁuﬁl miAER

Profit allocated to NCI DB T IEEAR R

/jnirlj
Dividend paid to NCI IRAT F IR AR B A AR B

Cash flows from operating activities #£& %72 H &R
Cash flows from investing activities & & %2 HE &R
Cash flows from financing activities B8 & 2552 H &R

Hﬂlﬂl HWIUI HH\III

%éﬂﬁﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁ#%(ﬁ)

BE_F_FF+_A=1—HAUFE

38. FFIERER

TRINTERAEBERRERGFIE R ER
([PEEB ) Z2MBARZER - TXZ2
SIZBMBERBERETMNARMEHENS

B e

Jinjiazhuang
e
HK$°000
FET

35%

501,621
5,132,563
1,525,871

453,342
3,654,971

537,168

1,580,033
358,419
512,442

54,304
48,449

(377,259)
416,531
(34,326)

Xingwu
g
HK$°000
FET

12.25%

940,784
4,703,232
1,457,712

664,259
3,522,046

539,980

1,620,726
216,352
375,667

24,918
173,100

426,686
(232,840)
(470,044)

Zhaiyadi
RER
HK$°000
FET

5%

1,933,379
4,189,073
1,546,706
458,960
4,116,786
136,687

2,722,922
657,532
835,994

32,105
31,687

526,740
(229,886)
(571,146)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

2019

NCI percentage FEIEIRAE AR LE 1A

As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H

Current assets MENEE

Non-current assets EMEEE

Current liabilities mENBE

Non-current liabilities EmEatE

Net assets BEFE

Carrying amount of NCl FEIERERIREE

For the year ended 31 December #HE+-A=+—8H
IEFE

Revenue g

(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(E18), & F)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income & (E518), W54 %5

(Loss)/Profit allocated to NCI DT IEERRE S
(&518) = F

Dividend paid to NClI

Cash flows from operating activities 42 %7 2B
Cash flows from investing activities B EH 2L
Cash flows from financing activities B8 & %2 H &R

B Bt

IR F IRt R AR R

FEMBRRM T @

BE—_E_FF+_A=+1—HIFE

38. JE{Z R ()

—B-NEF
Jinjiazhuang Xingwu Zhaiyadi
SR L fm RERE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T
35% 12.25% 5%
749,139 1,692,664 1,953,046
5,022,632 4,461,594 4,020,979
2,057,251 1,868,035 1,616,477
433,565 645,272 443,014
3,280,955 3,640,951 3,914,534
398,073 602,154 130,337
1,100,049 2,275,761 2,199,263
(40,598) 662,694 654,235
(107,577) 80,740 28,912
(80,162) 80,605 32,492
- 202,528 25,771
213,306 850,935 965,243
(151,655) (219,670) (205,882)
- (450,589) (632,797)

There is a material NCI of 56% (2019: 56%) amounting to
HK$86,718,000 (2019: HK$85,476,000) in Luenshan during
the year. The summarised financial information for Luenshan
is not presented above as Luenshan has not yet commenced
operations and its cash flows and profit or loss items are
insignificant to the Group. Luenshan had non-current assets of
HK$267,041,000 (2019: HK$255,437,000) and net assets of
HK$238,402,000 (2019: HK$234,851,000) as of 31 December

2020.

RER - BL S 5%86,718,00008 T (=
T — N4 : 85,476,000 ) 256% (=&
—NF 56%)ERIEERERE o AR
WM AHERERSRERESFEI YA
EEEZAM)  ARBILZTHEEREE
BEAREXRN RZBE-ZEF+=-A=
+—8  ELZIEREER267,041,000
BT (ZE— 4% : 255,437,000 7T)
SRAE /238,402,000 T (ZE— N E ¢
234,851,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

38.

39.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

There is a material NCI of 33% (2019: 33%) amounting to
HK$153,351,000 (2019: HK$148,694,000) in Jinshan during
the year. The summarised financial information for Jinshan
is not presented above as Jinshan commenced commercial
operations in 2019 and its cash flows and profit or loss items
are insignificant to the Group. Jinshan had non-current assets
of HK$575,248,000 (2019: HK$550,533,000) and net assets of
HK$498,187,000 (2019: HK$476,994,000) as of 31 December
2020.

No dividend was paid by Jinshan and Luenshan to the NCI
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

%A

BE—

38.

Eﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁﬁ% ()

—EEf A= AR
FFIE IR ()

RERN - &UHEE AHE153,351,0008 7T
T —N4F : 148,694,000/5 7T) 2 33% (=
=— jL¢ 33%) 2 ERFEEMRER o BN
LR =T — niﬁﬁfﬂﬁ%%@&ﬁfﬁﬁ
mi&Tﬁ/\Iﬁﬁﬁ$Eliﬁ’5“ﬂ & 1t
imzﬁﬁkﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁf\inﬁlJ i
—7— ¢+ ﬂ + E’iMZ#m
A EA575,248,0008 T (ZE— L F -
550,533,000/ 7T)  FEE /498,187,000
BIL(ZZ— L5 ¢ 476,994,000 7T) °

REE-T-TER-T-A&F+-A=+
—BIEFRR - &L RBL IR AR
S OTIER

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. EARALE
2020 2019
bt %22 —E-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Commitments for the: TN IE 2 I
— Acquisition of property, plant and -BAWE - BERE
equipment 254,210 259,903
~ Exploration and design fees for a potential AJREET 2 FRIBIER 2
mining project BERFITEA 8,602 8,228

262,812 268,131
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the following transactions for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 were carried out with related parties:

@)

(ii)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group sold
clean coking coal amounted to HK$1,453,909,000, of
which nil was regarded as connected transactions (2019:
HK$1,187,334,000, of which HK$349,470,000 were
regarded as connected transactions) under the Listing Rules
to Shougang Group Co., Ltd., being Shougang Holding
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Shougang Holding”)’s ultimate
holding company, and its group companies (collectively
referred to as the “Shougang Group”). Shougang Holding
is a substantial shareholder of Shoucheng Holdings
Limited (“Shoucheng Holdings”), formerly known as
Shougang Concord International Enterprises Company
Limited. Shoucheng Holdings is a substantial shareholder
of the Company. As at 31 December 2020, amount due
from the Shougang Group was HK$649,330,000 (2019:
HK$381,430,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
purchased raw materials amounted to HK$2,488,000
from Shougang Group, of which nil was connected
transactions (2019: HK$4,660,000, of which
HK$1,981,000 were regarded as connected transactions).
Furthermore, the Group had construction contracts
amounted to HK$2,885,000 (2019: nil) and paid geology
investigation fee amounted to HK$2,821,000 (2019: nil)
to Shougang Group. As at 31 December 2020, amount
due to the Shougang Group was HK$7,053,000 (2019:
HK$1,595,000).

?v?éﬂﬂ%iﬁ%%ﬁ#%(%)

BE—

—EFEL A=+ —HUFE

40. BEBEA LR S

?v?/m\ﬁﬁ%#&%% L EH S AREIN
—= —gﬁzﬁ— =

S
—NF+ZA=t—HI1t

FREEBBMATETZZZOT ¢

@)

(ii)

HE-_ZT-_TF+-_A=+—8LF
EA ZK%@W%%H%@E&E@T(%
HiIE R (BB AR AR (TEMZERD 2
BEERAR) REEBAR(ABIH
B ) HEMBER1,453,909,000/8
JL o ERRERE LA AEE A
BRH(ZE—NF :1,187,334,0007%
JC + EH349,470,0008 TR E TR
AR ARERS) - ailliTlRAER
TRRER AR ((EHRER] - sl e RE
BOEERARDZEERRE - 52
BEBEARRIZEERR -N_T_TF
+=ZA=+—0 " BEUREREERED
B /649,330,000 T (ZZ— N5 :
381,430,000 7T) ©

HE-_Z-ZTF+-_A=+—H8LHF
EA - zlS%lﬁéﬁﬂ;‘.%l%ﬂ%ﬂﬂ
2,488,000 HFREMERH
—E—NF : 4,660,00087L 0 £
1,981,000 L ABER H) o I+ &
EEFEEAS42,885,0008 (T —
NWF B RREREETfHEHE
2,821,000 (ZF—hF : |&) -
R-ZZE-EF+-_A=+—0 " ENE
S BFIE 47,053,000 L (ZF—Ah
£ 11,595,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
made rental payment of HK$3,756,000, of which nil was
connected transactions (2019: HK$3,756,000, of which
HK$1,033,000 were connected transactions) to a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Shougang Holding. As at 31 December
2020, there were no lease liabilities with the subsidiary of
Shougang Holding (2019: HK$3,656,000).

(iv) During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group paid
management and consultancy fees of HK$3,000,000 (2019:
HK$3,000,000) to Shougang Holding.

(v)  The compensation payable to key management personnel
during the year have been disclosed in note 14.

All the transactions in (i) to (v) were negotiated with related
parties on normal commercial terms or in accordance with the
agreements governing those transactions.

The transactions in (iv) and (v) were continuing connected
transactions/connected transactions but were exempt from any
disclosure and shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

%Aﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi(@

—EFEf A= HIEFE

40. BN LR 5 ()

(il BE-ZZT-_ZTF+_A=1+—HLFE
NI m%nmam#w ME2EWBA
BN EF 3,756,000/ 7T - Heh
REBERXS(ZF—NF : 3,756,000
WIT 0 H 1,033,000 T ABES
%) MRZE-FTF+=-_A=+—8"
MEMERMBATMERSERGE(Z
T — A4 : 3,656,000/ 7T) ©

(ivv B2 -FT_TF+-_A=+—HIF
ER - AEERERERIFERR
M #3,000,0008TL(ZF—N5F :
3,000,000/ 7T) °

v) RNER BNEEEBASZMEER
MIEE144% R -

EWVPZAAERZHAEEBEGRIAR
BEBR S s B A L HE

(VEWRZRSHERER S HER
5 EZERXHEHRBRIE EWARR T A
BRI -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E—

41. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

Set out below is an overview of the carrying amount and fair

?v?éﬂﬂ%iﬁ%%ﬁ#ﬁ(%)

—EFEL A=+ —HUFE

4. RERE D M BEERAEHRE

TREINAKERBEVHEERARZE

value of financial assets and liabilities held by the Group: HERATFERE :
2020 2019
—EEHF —N&F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Financial assets measured at fair value BAFEFAEMEZEREZ
through other comprehensive income B EE 1,082,464 1,083,903
Financial assets measured at amortised cost: IR SR ANET 8 2 SIS EE -
— Deposits and other receivables - e RE b EWFIE 162,011 154,967
1,244,475 1,238,870
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets measured at amortised cost: 1R E K AT 2 B EE -
- Trade receivables - JEE S ER1E 666,382 490,613
— Bills receivables - EIREE 1,382,762 1,306,706
- Deposits and other receivables - & RE M EWRIE 209,935 208,784
— Other financial asset -HEMHBEE = 232,500
- Pledged bank deposits - BEBRITIER 290,298 190,605
— Time deposit with original maturity over -REFRHABB=EAZ
three months TE HATF 5K 656,500 1,049,501
- Cash and cash equivalents -BeMReEEY 3,405,615 3,712,383
6,611,492 7,191,092
Total Pk 7,855,967 8,429,962
Current liabilities REBEE
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: X # sk Azt 2 BB &
- Trade and bills payables -ENESERBARENEE 592,618 652,566
— Lease liabilities -HEBa®E 5,721 7,119
= Other financial liability -HEmBiigas 186,300 178,200
= Other payables and accruals -HEMEMRENETER 993,023 803,420
- Amounts due to non-controlling interests = Ffﬁ oy PNEIE S g
of subsidiaries A 52,778 98,158
Financial liabilities measured at fair value Tﬁﬂifﬁﬁ‘)\ﬁﬁ?&zaﬁ%
through profit or loss A&
- Derivatives financial instruments -PTEMKTA = 5,117
1,830,440 1,744,580
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: 1% # X ANt 8 2 BB (& -
— Lease liabilities -fHEaE 19,317 20,941
Total 4% 1,849,757 1,765,521
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The financial information contained in this five-year financial
summary does not constitute the Company’s statutory annual
consolidated financial statements for any of the financial years ended
31 December 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016 but is derived
from those published audited consolidated financial statements
and restated upon the adoption of the new or amended standards
and interpretations as appropriate, is set out below. Further
information relating to these statutory financial statements required
to be disclosed in accordance with section 436 of the Companies
Ordinance is as follows:

The Company has delivered the consolidated financial statements
for all four years ended 31 December 2019 to the Registrar of
Companies as required by section 662(3) of, and Part 3 of Schedule
6 to, the Companies Ordinance and will deliver the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 in due
course.

The Company’s auditor has reported on these consolidated financial
statements for all five years. The auditor’s reports were unqualified,;
did not include a reference to any matters to which the auditor drew
attention by way of emphasis without qualifying its reports; and did
not contain a statement under either sections 406(2), 407(2) or (3) of
the Companies Ordinance.
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LFMBRE

AhERHEREMEBEABE_T_FTF - —_F
—NE  ZB-N\F B LtFR-T-AF
T-A=t—HALFENMBEHNL TEERAR
AREFENEIEFESEYBEHRE  BIRA
ZEC TR REREAMITRE - YRR
AR ERIRRBE(MER) K EY - RIE(A
ARG FA36IRBIZ T AEM HRRBEENHE
fERIT

ARBERBCA RGN F662(3) kL HIKR6FE3
BEAREMERERRERBE_T-NAF+_H
Tt ALFEEHMOERNGEAMBRS - I
BREERHERRBE TS _EF+_A=1+—

B IEFE MRS PR

RABNZEMERZAFENRATERERIE
RipeE - ZBMBRETERBER - MERLZ
HEETRZERESERERNBE R TUAEAN S
NEBBEBATEEMEMEE - WIEHIIR
R AHERIY F406(2) ~ 407(2)3(3)E1EH BIF

yl[o

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
BB —ZT-hF ZE-NFE ZE—+tF ZZT—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
Results ¥E
Revenue U= 3,996,951 3,869,308 3,686,176 3,471,922 1,809,885
Profit attributable to KABEA AEM
owners of the Company v ) 1,080,041 1,140,413 1,100,488 1,080,649 111,795
Assets and liabilities EENERE
Total assets BERE 21,433,646 21,472,710 21,251,042 21,694,645 19,104,456
Total liabilities BERE (4,142,576) (4,426,398) (4,475,236) (4,318,962) (3,438,763)
Net assets BEEFE 17,291,070 17,046,312 16,775,806 17,375,683 15,665,693
Non-controlling interests IEPE R (1,453,904) (1,364,732) (1,391,690) (1,440,871) (1,146,669)
Equity attributable to PAYNGIE 2SN )
owners of the Company T 15,837,166 15,681,580 15,384,116 15,934,812 14,519,024




222 SHOUGANG FUSHAN RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020

GLOSSARY

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the
following meanings unless the context indicates otherwise.

AGM 2020

AGM 2021

Articles

ASX

Board

CG Code

Chairman

Companies Ordinance

Company

controlling shareholder

Directors

Executive Committee

Executive Director(s)

Funde Sino Life

the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 21 May 2020

The forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company

The articles of association of the
Company

Stock Code on the Australian
Securities Exchange Limited

the board of Directors of the
Company

the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules

the chairman of the Board

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Shougang Fushan Resources Group
Limited (SEHK: 639)

has the meaning ascribed to it
under the Listing Rules

the directors of the Company

the executive committee of the
Board

the executive director(s) of the
Company

Funde Sino Life Insurance Co., Ltd.,
a substantial shareholder of the
Company

R e O — B

oA 32
ERFRA -
ATRRE °
—ETFRE
AFRE
R —FRE
BFEXE

AR R

ASX

ﬁ
=\
i
b
]
23

HITEE
LTINS

BRXERBREN - TIFRZEER

ARRIEN-_ZE-ZTFAHA
“H—BRITZERBFAR

=
=

ZN/NTREIE S
FRE

BITZBRB

ZAYNCSIpa R EZ Rl

BNBLHRXZAER AT

B HU55R

ZAUNCIF--=5

TR BB R+ PO P LAY

EERERTH

EBEDIE622F R AHES

BEHELEREEBERA

A)(SEHK: 639)

AEAEMRAET 2 8E

ARAMTES
@ K ﬂixh%
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GLOSSARY (continued)

GM 2020 (Sep)

Group

Independent Non-executive

Director(s)

Listing Rules

Nomination Committee

Non-executive Director(s)

Remuneration Committee

SEHK

SFO

Share(s)

Shoucheng Holdings

Shougang Group

a general meeting of the Company
held on 3 September 2020 in
connection with the conditional
cash offer to buy-back up to
250,000,000 Shares for HK$2.00
per Share and whitewash waivers

the Company and its subsidiaries

the independent non-executive
director(s) of the Company

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

the nomination committee of the
Board

the non-executive director(s) of the
Company

the remuneration committee of
the Board

Stock Code on the Stock Exchange

Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)

ordinary share(s) of the Company

Shoucheng Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Shougang
Concord International Enterprises
Company Limited) (SEHK: 697),
a substantial shareholder of the
Company

Shougang Group Co., Ltd., the
current holding company of
Shougang Holding

A= (E)

—F-TEMA)
BEAE

Z 3 |

BIUFRTEF
EmHA
RREZBg

FMITES

SEHK

BH R

NGl ah)

EEE2EE

EEESE
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KRABIR_ZE-_EEFHA
—HRREEBEGRHEREE
WILEEBRAFKHD2.008
JCIBl B fx %3 250,000,000
NS ISP A i
BRZBERS

AR REH B AR

ARRFUIFRITES

B3 prg s LR A

ARBBERITES

ZAUNCIE T ES R

Bt SX R AR A FU5R

BE KRR GG (BEEED
$571%)

AR ZEBBY

HIEERBR A (A1
BERBEBRGCEERAA)
(SEHK: 697) » A& T+

ZRR

EMEEERAR - BE
YRR B 2 R R A



224 SHOUGANG FUSHAN RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020

GLOSSARY (continued)

Shougang Holding Shougang Holding (Hong Kong)
Limited, a substantial shareholder
of Shoucheng Holdings

Stock Exchange The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited
substantial shareholder has the meaning ascribed to it

under the Listing Rules

the year under review for the year ended 31 December
2020

Ao A,

oA 32 (1)

EEib2ai HMIZER(EB)ARA
B AEBEERZETER
®

% 2 BT EEBAERSABRAR

FTERE BB EMRAE T2 RE

CEEE B2 -ZF+-A=

T—HILEFE
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